

Ethnology and Musicology at the Institute of Ethnology, CAS, v. v. i.

110 Years (1905 - 2005)

Edited by Zdeněk Uherek & Jana Pospíšilová PRAHA – BRND 2015









Edited by Zdeněk Uherek & Jana Pospíšilová

PRAHA - BRNO 2015

Authors

Stanislav Brouček, Barbora Gergelová, Milada Jonášová, Jan Kachlík, Václav Kapsa, Pavel Kordík, Matěj Kratochvíl, Jan Pirner, Jana Pospíšilová, Jarmila Procházková, Tomáš Slavický, Daniela Stavělová, Vendula Škrabalová, Lubomír Tyllner, Zdeněk Uherek, Jana Vozková, Andrea Zobačová, Jiří Woitsch

Edited

Zdeněk Uherek & Jana Pospíšilová

Reviewers

Prof. PhDr. Ján Botík, DrSc., Prof. PhDr. et MgA. Miloš Štědroň, CSc., doc. PhDr. Miroslav Válka, Ph.D.

The book has been created with support for the longitudinal development of the research institution RVO: 68378076.

Especially we are grateful for support from resources of the Czech Academy of Sciences.

ISBN 978-80-87112-98-4 (Etnologický ústav AV ČR. Praha)

Contents

A Decade at the Institute of Ethnology of the Czech Academy of Sciences, and its Challenges7		
Zdeněk Uherek		
Czech Ethnomusicology: Heritage, Possibilities and Perspectives		
Ethnic Studies: The Age of Migration Continues		
Department of Historical Ethnology: Space and Time in the Traditional Culture, Traditional Culture in Time and Space 53 JIŘÍ WOITSCH		
Research Themes and Activities of the Brno Branch of the Institute of Ethnology CAS between 2005 and 2015		
The Department of Music History. A Decade Retrospective 2005–2014		
17 th and 18 th Century Music		
Research on Mozart		
The New Dvořák Edition		

Janáček Research Jarmila Procházková	. 96
Further Research of the 19th and 20th Century Music Jarmila Procházková – Pavel Kordík	. 98
Libraries and Documentary Collections of the Institute of Ethnology CAS Barbora Gergelová, Vendula Škrabalová, Jana Vozková, Andrea Zobačová	103
References	125
Journals published by the Institute of Ethnology	165

A Decade at the Institute of Ethnology of the Czech Academy of Sciences, and its Challenges

Zdeněk Uherek

We understand the publication which we are making available for our readers to be a tally of the past decade. For the Institute of Ethnology of the CAS, we consider it to be fruitful and successful. The Institute of Ethnology appeared at that time to be a stabilized workplace, whose structure of academic and infrastructure sections was established in the first half of the 1990s. The topics we dealt with at the time resulted in setting up a total of four research sections: the Department of Historical Ethnology, the Department of Ethnic Studies and the Department of Ethnomusicology, which were situated in Prague, as well as the Brno workplace as an independent organizational unit, which thematically promotes literary and musical folklore studies, the ethnography of Moravian villages, the ethnology of the city, and also the study of compatriots and Balkan studies. In 2003, the Department of Musical History became a part of the Institute of Ethnology, which until then had been the independent Institute of Musicology of the CAS. Presently, it is the largest organizational unit of the institute with its headquarters in a separate building in Prague 6. Since that time the institute has focused on two academic disciplines.

Other than the research activities, part of the institute is also the rich collection funds, and three academic libraries for the institute staff as well as for the wider public. Exhibition and concert activities take place here as well. All of the Czech and a number of foreign higher education institutes cooperate with the institute and more or less all of the institutes of the Czech Academy of Sciences which are focused on social science and humanities. The institute issues three academic journals: the journal *Český lid / Etnologický časopis* [Český lid / Ethnological Journal], *Hudební věda* [Musicology] and the journal *Historická demografie* [Historical Demography], which is a unique number of scientific periodicals considering the size of the Institute of Ethnology.

For the past decade, a total of 3,750 bibliographic records have amassed in the ASEP academic bibliography from the Institute of Ethnology, which has approximately 40 employees in its scientific departments. They include a number of results that have substantial value. In cooperation with the Institute of European Ethnology of Masaryk University in Brno, it was possible at the beginning of this period to complete an extensive publication Lidová kultura, Národopisná encyklopedie Čech, Moravy a Slezska [Folk Culture. The Ethnographic Encyclopaedia of Bohemia, Moravia and Silesia], which had been lacking for several generations of ethnologists and folklorists (Brouček - Jeřábek eds. 2007) and which opened the path to a synthesis Lidová kultura [Folk Culture] published in the Velké dějiny zemí Koruny české [The Large History of the Lands of the Bohemian Crown] publication series eight years later (Tyllner ed. 2014). At the end of this ten year period an extensive work Průvodce po pramenech lidových písní, hudby a tanců v Čechách [A Guide to the Sources of Folk Songs, Music and Dances in Bohemia] (Tyllner - Traxler - Thořová 2015) was completed and a whole range of other works accompanied by the individual tasks of the Institute of Ethnology were created. At that time, the institute published several ethno-cartographic works (Etnografický atlas Čech, Moravy a Slezska [Ethnographic Atlas of Bohemia, Moravia and Silesia]) (Ebelová et al. 2008; Holubová - Bahenský - Woitsch 2009) and ethnocartographic research was one of the profiling tasks of the institute. In the last decade, the institute has also served as an innovative and reliable partner of the public administration for communication with Czechs abroad and treating the themes of foreign Czechs from the point of view of contemporary social processes (Brouček - Grulich 2014) as well as a historical perspective (Uherek 2011; Pavlásek 2015). The institute also presents itself as a fundamental workplace on questions of minorities and migration issues in the Czech Republic (Uherek - Bělohradská - Pojarová 2010).

A significant domain of the Institute of Ethnology remains that it can be perceived as a workplace which is one of the few in the Czech Republic to issue collections of ethnomusicological and generally folkloristic material. Of the titles published in the last decade, the dominant ones are the *Písně Jana Jeníka z Bratřic* [The Songs by Jan Jeník of Bratřice] by Jiří Traxler (2010), a two-volume critical edition of folk songs from Prague collected by František Homolka (Thořová – Traxler – Vejvoda 2011, 2013), a two-volume critical edition of folk songs from Podhorácko by Marta Toncrová and Silva Smutná (Toncrová – Smutná 2011, 2013), songs from Kopanice by Marta Toncrová and Lucie Uhlíková (Toncrová – Uhlíková 2010), *Plzeňsko v lidové písni* [The Pilsen Region in Folk Song] by Zdeněk Vejvoda (Vejvoda 2011) and others. The institute also contributed to the study of oral history and literary folkloristics (Pospíšilová 2014), where themes which thus far had not been investigated much were opened, for instance those of children's folklore (Pospíšilová – Uhlíková 2011), or in the area of urban memorial narratives of the German and Jewish populations (Nosková – Čermáková 2013), which is complemented by the now already traditional topic of urban entertainment and free time activities (Altman – Filip 2012; Altman 2015) or the theme of the family and social life of the rural classes (Navrátilová 2012; Tyllner 2012). In the last decade, we have also recorded the creation of important works on the issue of folk religiosity (Holubová – Suchomelová 2014), dance culture (Dunin – Stavělová – Gremlicová – Vejvoda, Z. 2012) and folk fine arts (Kafka 2007).

In accordance with the recommendation of the successful evaluation of the institute, in the last ten years the workplace has also Europeanised more distinctively and a number of works have thematically surpassed the Czech space significantly. An example is European Christmas in traditional folk culture by Eva Večerková and Věra Frolcová (Večerková – Frolcová 2010). The institute has also anthropologized in recent years and also found further new themes, such as suicidology (Brož – Münster 2015) or engaged anthropology (Červinková 2014) as well as research into public space in the city (Uherek – Beranská 2014). With the opening of the wider European and global space, works also began to be created here dealing with more general methodological questions, whether in the area of folkloristics (Tyllner 2010; Uhlíková – Toncrová 2011) or in the area of Central European anthropology and transformation processes (Červinková – Buchowski – Uherek 2015).

Since 2003, a component of the Institute of Ethnology has been the musicological department (Department of Music History), whose place in the structure of the institute has stabilized in the past decade and the results of whose activities correspond well with the other parts of the institute. We include in the significant results of the last ten years particularly the collective work coordinated by Jarmila Procházková, Vzaty do fonografu [As Recorded by the Phonograph] (Procházková et al. 2012), which is based on the song recordings recorded by Leoš Janáček and his co-workers. The treasurable sound recordings are deposited at the Brno workplace of the Institute of Ethnology of CAS, and were digitalized, analysed and publicized with broad international cooperation. An interdisciplinary character is also borne by the monumental catalogue Fratrum misericordiae artis musicae collectiones in Bohemia et Moravia reservatae. Catalogus artis musicae in Bohemia et Moravia cultae. Artis musicae antiquioris catalogorum series (Freemanová 2013), or the cultural-historical anthology edited by Jitka Bajgarová, Mosty a propasti [Bridges and Gorges], which maps the musical life of interwar Czechoslovakia (Bajgarová 2014). An outstanding example of inter-institutional cooperation and model of the possible overlaps in musical history and folkloristics is the work Friedrich Bridelius, Jesličky, staré nové

písničky [Friedrich Bridelius, Crib. Old New Songs], in which a research fellow of the institute Tomáš Slavický participated (Kosek – Slavický – Škarpová 2012). Tomáš Slavický has already cooperated in ethnological productions several times. Another example is his analysis of broadside prints (Holubová et al. 2008).

The Department of Musical History also has a significant international reception thanks to the results of the study of the Prague musical life at the time of W. A. Mozart and thanks to the research which concerns the work of this musical genius (a significant number of texts on this theme have been published particularly by Milada Jonášová). Another notable scientific act of the Department of Musical History was the elaboration of the sheet music edition of Antonín Dvořák's first opera, "Alfred", from 1870, in the form of accompanying materials (Gabrielová, J. – Kratochvílová, M. – Matějčková, H. 2014) and the publication of the piano vocal score of this opera (Gabrielová, J. – Kratochvílová, M. – Kvěch, O. 2014). A recent significant result of the department is also a monograph about the activities of Count Morzin's musicians (Kapsa 2010), a monograph on Vítězslav Novák (Kordík 2007) and other works (the academic interests and outcomes of research fellows of the musicological department are summarized in a separate chapter of this publication).

Although the Institute of Ethnology conducts non-university research, it also devotes itself to the training of postgraduate students. The workplace has joint accreditation in the study programme of ethnology with the Faculty of Arts and Philosophy of Charles University and the Faculty of Arts of the University of West Bohemia. Besides this, approximately a third of the employees teach at higher education institutes and works are created within the institutional production that are directly intended as textbooks or are conceived similarly to textbooks.

However, much has changed in the last ten years not only at the Institute of Ethnology but also in the area of the theory and methodology of ethnology, anthropology and musicology in general. We should mention at least some important shifts:

1. Although the anthropological world particularly is still centred on American and in Europe British anthropology, this trend continues to weaken. "Anthropology at home" is not a distinct field at this time, but it is becoming a common issue. Field study of distant worlds is only one of the many thematic possibilities and the study of one's own native milieu is accepted with ever greater trust. The number of anthropological traditions is increasing and it is certainly interesting to pose the question of how ethnologists will react to this diversity of approaches.

- 2. The main method of ethnology, which is ethnography, is still easier to apply "at home" than in distant worlds, but it is by far no longer the domain of only ethnologists or anthropologists. It is ever more also the method of sociologists and scholars from other branches of humanities and social sciences. The methods of the social sciences and humanities are becoming more universal and the qualitative side has a solid position in them. It is therefore useful to pose the question of how this circumstance will influence interdisciplinary cooperation.
- 3. The large universalistic and impalpable concepts like culture, ethnicity and social class continue to be persistently abandoned and scholars devote themselves to more graspable study of social events, which can be explored through ethnography. A deep, detailed knowledge, which still remains a strong domain of anthropology and ethnology, offers itself for interdisciplinary cooperation with the natural sciences, medical sciences and other disciplines, which can help to answer the questions which the humanities cannot successfully resolve. It is therefore feasible to ask whether ethnologists will react to this challenge.
- 4. Ethnology remains in many ways today mainly an academic discipline aimed at basic research, but ever greater emphasis is placed on its applicability. If academicians draw upon public finances, the question is logically posed of how they return the allocated monetary resources to the public. In addition to the term application, emphasis is also placed on the concept of engagement of anthropology and ethnology in public affairs and in the concept of popularisation of the discipline. It is no longer only the state that orders applied results but also international corporations, international organizations and individual NGOs. This begs the question if the Institute of Ethnology will cooperate well with them.
- 5. Besides the analytical works with data, the forms of their preservation, publication and presentation are also changing. The electronic media and publication online could significantly reduce the costs of the publication of the results of academic work and introduce them to the wider public. The editorial activity is accelerated by suitable software. At the same time, the saleability of paper books is complicated and sometimes also increases the losses of publishers. How does the institute come to terms with technical innovations in the area of data sources?

6. Although qualitative research methods are ever more commonly acceptable in basic and in applied research, at the same time pressure on the measurability of their impact is increasing. The worldwide theme of accountability, which concerns work with both "hard" and "soft" data, changes the strategy of the creation and treatment of academic results. The important question of how the community of scholars comes to terms with this reality is certainly on the agenda. The cultural relativism of ethnology and anthropology, emphasis on ethics and very often an almost protective relationship to the investigated groups, often distanced the field from the interests of the majority utilitarian streams in society and hence also the narrowly neoliberally perceived social utility. Although anthropology proved its usefulness many times as an applied science and took an important position as engaged anthropology, it rather lost ground in the competition with other scientific disciplines. This appeared particularly in Great Britain, where it lost its A level at secondary schools. How will the field react to this situation? Is it a global or only a local issue?

In the Czech milieu, a number of these trends appear with a delay. After 1990, we recorded a great boom of anthropological departmens and their expansion has slowed only recently. We can still now encounter, although rarely, the possibility to overvalue capacities of ethnology and anthropology. In any case, it is useful to ask the question how the newly created academic departments enrich one another, how they cooperate and what position the Institute of Ethnology takes among them.

A number of these questions are discussed only partially in this publication. Its aim is not to seek final answers, but rather to indicate how the sub-disciplines of the field of ethnology, anthropology and musicology react to the trends in academic knowledge and how the sub-disciplines have transformed in the Institute of Ethnology of the Czech Academy of Sciences in the last decade under the conditions of a stagnating budget, increasing costs of research activity and increasing pressure on scientific productivity with a measurable number of texts and the acquired points from the information register of research results.

Czech Ethnomusicology: Heritage, Possibilities and Perspectives

Lubomír Tyllner, Daniela Stavělová, Matěj Kratochvíl

The characterization of ethnomusicology as a field is far from easy and has been the subject of permanent debate since the discipline was established. These discussions, visible in a wide international context, continually revolve around the specific directions that ethnomusicology takes in national contexts and around the unique conditions that each country offers - be it its connection to other fields that preceded the discipline or interconnection to other related fields and, not least, the institutional background and the possibilities that it provides. What matters is not only the epistemological background but often also the ideological context and everything related to it. Thus, there are inevitable differences between, for instance, Irish, German or Anglo-American ethnomusicology. It is, therefore, advisable to conduct a profound analysis of the current status of Czech ethnomusicology, considering the initial impulses that the discipline inherited from other fields, what potential of our own we are able to utilize, what conditions we have and what our vision is. The truth is that the most difficult thing for man to abandon is the heritage of thinking, which cannot be transformed overnight, not even over a year – its transformation requires great effort, will and personal loss. The present text anticipates these issues and deals with the period of transition, the surmounting of a special stage, and the discipline's gradual discovery of its own paths. Our point of departure is a reflection over the term ethnomusicology and, at the same time, a reflection on the discipline's status in the Czech academic landscape - what is the ethnomusicology (and ethnochoreology) that originated in this environment, how we understand this term, what associations it has for us, and how these expectations are fulfilled.

Ethnomusicology between archives and fieldwork, village and the internet

In the past two decades, the discussions over the definition and selfdefinition of ethnomusicology have been particularly intense, as testified to by the names of publications and conferences with the components of the term ethnomusicology placed in brackets or supplemented with question marks (Stobart 2008). There are arguments over whether ethnomusicology is a discipline *per se* or, rather, an arena for the meeting of several fields; whether the crucial thing for its definition is the research subject or the research methods. The reason why ethnomusicology is engaged in constant searching of its conscience is its deep-rooted interdisciplinarity, an asset as well as a source of ambiguities. The term ethnomusicology was first used after the Second World War, by Jaap Kunst in the title of his book (Kunst 1950), launching a new era in the continual process of redefining the field. Its scope began to reach beyond music itself to its role in society, as formulated, notably, by Alan P. Merriam (1964) in his three spheres or levels of interest that ethnomusicology has: 1) music as it is played, 2) music-related behaviour, 3) conceptualization and ideas related to music. Since the beginning, ethnomusicology has sought to delimit itself against historical musicology and its emphasis on Western high culture, music recorded in notation, and the personality of the author. By the 1980s, this opposition had been weakened by a trend called new musicology, represented by the likes of Lawrence Kramer and Susan McClary, with a greater emphasis on exploring the context in which music originates and issues which had been neglected until then; this enabled at least part of historical musicology to come closer to ethnomusicological thinking.

Since approximately the same time, ethnomusicology has been going through the process of redefining its subject of interest, integrating into itself, inter alia, contemporary pop music and Western music culture in general, including classical music. One of the axes of the discussion over the definition of the field is the question of which of the components of the name matters more, whether ethno-, meaning that the field is more related to ethnology and anthropology, or *musicology*, with that discipline being the closest relative. Alternatively, this can be seen as an argument over whether scholars should research music *in* culture or music *as* culture. There is much sense behind what might seem like playing with words. The question is whether we should focus on music as explored within culture, or whether music serves as a means of understanding culture. In other words, is music what we look at or what we look through? The present summary of the discipline's history is no end in itself: the development of ethnomusicology is not a process of the old being replaced with the new and earlier approaches being pushed into oblivion. Rather, it is a snowball process, with earlier topics remaining attractive for some researchers and thus being developed further alongside new topics. Therefore, approaches like comparative analyses of tuning systems or systematization of tune types co-exist with research into the role of music in society. Answers to the above questions as to the essence of ethnomusicology can differ depending on the institution that the respondent is affiliated with, on whether he/she is a musical scholar or anthropologist, and what history his/her institution has. Although in the Czech Republic, ethnomusicology (or related disciplines) is sometimes taught by departments of ethnology and anthropology, it has so far been much more associated with departments of music.

The research mission of the Department of Ethnomusicology of the Institute of Ethnology had been determined, to a large extent, by the heritage from previous generations; not only what they did but also what they did not do and what was now seen as gaps to be filled. The fact is that in the initial stage following the Department's establishment in the 1990s, the principal motivation was the idea that everything that had been neglected had to be done. That included major publishing efforts - mentioned later in this chapter - but also topics and methods. Whereas the focus on folk songs in the Czech Lands and neighbouring regions represents continuity with the previous period, new projects have been devoted to folk songs in the German-speaking regions of the Czech Republic (Tyllner 1995, 2009; Spurný 2000), newly-established forms of dance-musical performances (Stavělová 2008) and topics outside the scope of traditional music, e.g. ethnomusicological research into contemporary classical music (Kratochvíl 2014). The fact that the Department has followed up on the collection project Folk Songs in Austria means that much emphasis has been laid on the collection and subsequent research of folk songs, as reflected in the Department's publications, with a large number of collections containing both newly recorded material as well as editions of songs which were recorded in the past but remained untouched in the archives (Thořová 1995, 1997, 2002, 2005, 2009; Traxler 1999, 2010; Thořová – Traxler - Vejvoda 2011, 2013; Tyllner 2012; Thořová - Vejvoda 2013; Vejvoda 2011, 2015).

Apart from research "inspired by what remains to be done", new topics are being explored which are brought from totally different directions, such as through confrontation with abroad, or the Department's own knowledge of the developing discipline. The interest in songs is complemented by questions related to the other two areas of Merriam's definition of ethnomusicology, that is how people think about music and what behaviour is associated with music. The Department's continuation of the heritage of folk music studies is reflected by its clear focus on traditional music of the Czech Republic and Central Europe. This is not a negative aspect, since research into non-European music cultures has been in the hands of other institutions, including, in recent years, the Institute of Musicology of the Faculty of Arts, Charles University or the same university's Faculty of Humanities. Consequently, topics of the field will be regularly covered from different directions and co-operation among institutions will be necessary; recent examples of new co-operation efforts include jointly-organized series of lectures. There is a symbolic reason behind the name the Department was given after its re-establishment in 1991: the boundary between folk musicology and ethnomusicology has become so permeable that it has become quite insignificant. Folklore studies in its traditional sense has absorbed the methods and perspectives of ethnomusicology, which, for its part, has widened its horizons to include, in effect, any type of music. In recent years, ethnomusicological research at the Institute of Ethnology has seen slow yet substantial transformation, becoming an ever firmer part of world ethnomusicology, which itself is a constantly changing field re-specifying its own definition.

Folkloristic orientation

Interestingly, the only thing related to folklore studies at the Institute for Ethnography and Folklore Studies of the Czechoslovak Academy of Sciences in the late 1980s was one component of the institute's name. The position of the ethnomusicologist Jaroslav Markl (1931–1985) remained unoccupied after his untimely death; Hannah Laudová (1921-2005) and Dagmar Klímová (1926-2012) were sent to an early retirement, which effectively meant the disappearance of ethnochoreology and verbal folklore studies. Even before that, Jaromír Jech (1918–1992), an expert on verbal folklore and the Institute's director, had been dismissed for political reasons, as had been the folklore scholar Věra Thořová (*1936). Vladimír Karbusický (1925–2002), a musicologist and cultural anthropologist, formerly a member of the Institute, lived and worked in exile. It is important to note that folklore scholars were very often in opposition to the Communist regime and whole scientific branches were annihilated in retaliation. Therefore, the end of Communism in the autumn of 1989 was also the year zero for ethnomusicology which, in Prague, had become practically invisible or fallen into ruins.¹ The changes that came after

¹ The field was given very little breathing space in the Brno branch too, with the marginalization of the influential researcher Oldřich Sirovátka (1925–1992) and the relocation of the office into the Institute for Czech and World Literature of the Czechoslovak Academy of Sciences, which was integrated in 1988 into the Academy's newly established Institute of Slavic Studies. Ethnomusicology and folklore studies were only officially pursued at Charles University's Faculty of Arts (Karel Dvořák) and the Faculty of Philosophy and Arts of the Jan Evangelista Purkyně University (today Masaryk University) in Brno (Dušan Holý and Bohuslav Beneš). New trends in ethnomusicological research were set by the Institute of Musicology of the Slovak Academy of Sciences, with Oskár Elschek the principal research personality.

1989 resulted in the establishment of the Department of Ethnomusicology, with ethnochoreology soon becoming an integral part of it. This was made possible by the Institute's then director, Stanislav Brouček; the department - joined by Věra Thořová, who had been rehabilitated – began work in 1991. The department was led by Lubomír Tyllner and following the transformation of the Academy of Sciences, the core team of researchers has been composed of Daniela Stavělová, Jiří Traxler, Matěj Kratochvíl and Zdeněk Vejvoda. The principal question was: what should be the team's scientific orientation when funds remained limited even after the political changes, no grant agencies existed and there was a lack of equipment, especially sound and visual recording devices? At that moment, what seemed the most reliable way was to lean on the authority of past values (Max Weber)² and continue - to some extent where the previous generation of researchers had stopped. Continuity in research normally enhances the credibility of new research findings, enables researchers to benefit from past experience and avoid initial groping in the dark and dead-end choices, which is what normally awaits newly established research teams

The direction given to the Department of Ethnomusicology was partly accidental. During a revision of the collections, a manuscript³ was found which was the most significant discovery of a source of 19th century traditional music.⁴ The manuscript, authored by Tomáš Antonín Kunz and entitled *Böhmische Nationalgesänge und Tänze*, contains 436 songs, making it the largest portion of the government-initiated collection project of 1819; unlike the Kolovraty Manuscript and the Rittersberk Collection, this manuscript lists the localities where the songs were notated. Of immense value is the diverse context data found in the manuscript. The edition of the manuscript (Tyllner 1995) contains the facsimile, transcripts of the texts (including German texts and their translations from German dialects to literary German) and an accompanying study with indexes. Moreover, this was the first project where tune incipits were recorded with numerical codes, enabling a more thorough comparison of song melodies and a faster search

² Cf. Miloslav Petrusek – Společnosti pozdní doby [Societies of the late era]. Praha: Sociologické nakladatelství, 2006, p. 320.

³ The revision was initiated by Stanislav Šisler, an archivist; the manuscript was first discovered by Antonín Vlček, a member of the Institute at the time.

⁴ For reasons unknown to us, Jaroslav Markl, an expert on the earliest notations of folk songs in Bohemia, either failed to notice the manuscript which, alternatively, may have been unavailable at the time. Cf. Markl 1987.

for variants.⁵ Activities following the research on the government-initiated collection project include minor projects devoted to the manuscript written by Jan Jakub Heš of Zbraslav and Jan Hanousek of the Sedlčany region (Vlček 1992); later, an analysis of the manuscript of a German collection from Frýdlant was conducted (Tyllner 1998). Furthermore, the government-initiated collection was explored for dance tunes, with findings presented in a separate monograph (Stavělová 1996). Although the tune notations did not contain descriptions of the dances, a comparison with later records (containing dance descriptions) enabled us to arrive at a potentially faithful picture of the dance accompaniment to most of the 168 dance tunes recorded.⁶ Research into the earliest sources of folk music was concluded with a two-volume edition of songs drawn from the private manuscript notations made by Jan Jeník of Bratřice in the early 19th century (Traxler 1999, 2010). Jeník of Bratřice did not record tunes; therefore – in a similar fashion to the dance tunes research - only comparisons with sources dating to the same time as the manuscript or later years, together with notations, enabled the publication of separate monographs of the songs, containing their likely musical form. Thus was, in the first years of the Department's existence, created a research orientation called *historical ethnomusicology*; a major recent effort in that line was research of a manuscript containing over 800 dance tunes recorded by Jiří Hartl, a teacher and bandmaster of Stará Paka (Vejvoda 2008).

Transcripts of audio recordings and digitization

Since the tonometry measurements conducted by Alexander John Ellis (1814–1890) and, later, thanks to Carl Stumpf (1948–1936), ethnomusicology had taken the path of psychophysiology and acoustics. One of the events contributing to this was the discovery of the phonograph, which provided ethnomusicology with a new, technical dimension with an emphasis on musical analysis utilizing live recording onto phonograph cylinders. The person

⁵ The system is explained on page 147 of the edition's second volume. The Czech-German manuscript met with particularly strong response in Germany and Austria. Its publication was made possible by the *Ministry of Culture of the Czech Republic*, *Bayerisches Staatsministerium für Arbeit und Sozialordnung*, and *Sudetendeutsches Musikinstitut in Regensburg*. The edition was co-prepared by Eliška Čáňová and Ralf Heimrath. The two-volume publication was presented to the public in 1996 during a series of presentations in Prague, Regensburg and Munich.

⁶ The given number of items recorded includes repeated versions found in sources that drew upon the shared source of the government-initiated collection.

who first worked with the phonograph in the Czech Lands was Otakar Zich (1879-1934), who - in 1909 - made a series of sound recordings featuring a Bohemian bagpiper, František Kopšík (1822-1915), and another recording in the Chodsko region presenting an unspecified village trio (bagpipe, violin, clarinet). In the late 1990s, the favourable investment policy of the Institute of Ethnology and the support from the project entitled Nositelé tradic [The bearers of tradition] enabled a sound studio to be constructed in cooperation with the company Lumira, allowing high-quality transfer of recordings from early audio media. A project thus successfully completed was - with huge support from the Phonogrammarchiv of the Austrian Academy of Sciences in Vienna – the transfer of relatively fine audio recordings of folk instrumental music, followed by their publication as a two-volume edition and a CD entitled Dudy a dudácká muzika 1909 [Bagpipes and Bagpipe Music 1909] (Tyllner: 2001). Successful digitization of historic recordings involved a number of technical challenges, including, most importantly, the following: 1. carefully transferring the recording from the wax cylinder without reducing any of the sound information, 2. establishing the rate of revolution of the cylinder, 3. modifying the audio recording, 4. transcribing the bagpipe music, 5. analysing the style, 6. placing the material into the culture-historical and social contexts.

When preparing the publication *Příběhy české vědy* [Stories of Czech Science] (Koubská – Pacner – Speváková 2002: 183–190), which appeared to mark the 10th anniversary of the Czech Academy of Sciences, the authors, seasoned in writing about science, decided to include in their book – covering the Academy's 22 excellent projects – the *Department of Ethnomusicology's digitization project*, which contained a remarkable technical dimension. The name of the article, *Přímý přenos z první poloviny 19. století* [Live from the First Half of the 19th Century], provides a reliable insight into the cultural andhistorical importance of the digitization of phonograph audio documents. The audio recordings, made by Otakar Zich in 1909, featured a performer aged almost ninety. Given the fact that folk singers and instrumentalists would build their repertoire in their youth and adolescence, we are confronted with a unique audio image of traditional music culture dating well back into the first half of the 19th century.

A project meeting with a favourable response from both the media and academia was the digitization of a recording set called *Lidová hudba v Česko-slovensku 1929–1937. Nahrávky fonografické komise České akademie věd a umění* [Folk Music in Czechoslovakia 1929–1937. Recordings of the Phonography Commission of the Czech Academy of Sciences and Arts] (Kratochvíl 2009). In order to retain a high-quality sound when working with shellac discs, a recording device had to be purchased from a specialized manufacturer in

the USA; furthermore, the researchers had to eliminate the modifications and deformations of sound characteristics that occur when reproducing old recordings in modern if excellent gramophones ("bathroom effect"). This deficiency was eliminated in cooperation with the Vienna-based *Phonogrammarchiv*, using an Elberg correcting preamplifier with eleven variable settings of sound characteristics. The actual transfer and digitization of the recording, the filtering and elimination of sound scratches, normally found on old media, was conducted at the Institute of Ethnology, with technical cooperation from the *Lumira* company; this was followed by an accompanying publication.⁷

The Bearers of Tradition Project

An audio and film recording served as the basis for four publications that resulted from the project entitled Nositelé tradic: Pastýřské vytrubování na Podbrdsku [The Bearers of Tradition: Shepherds' Trumpet Tunes in the Podbrdsko Region] (Svejkovský 2007), Masopustní koleda na Doudlebsku [Carnival Carol in the Doudleby Region] (Kratochvíl - Tyllner 2007), Anna Kománková – zpěvačka z Javorníka na Horňácku [Anna Kománková – a Singer from Javorník in the Horňácko Region] (Tureček - Tyllner 2010), Erich Peukert – poslední německý citerista v Jizerských horách [Erich Peukert – the Last German Zitherist in the Jizera Mountains] (Tyllner 2009). The first CD and publication are devoted to the production procedures and culture of an agriculture-oriented village, presenting a historical reconstruction of an extinct institution, that of the village shepherd, and a related tradition of the playing and production of the shepherd's trumpet. The second CD and publication (different from the hundreds now so effortlessly recorded and edited in sterile studios) presents a live audio recording of a carnival carol in the Doudleby region.8

⁷ The five CDs comprise the following regions: I. Bohemia, Upper and Lower Lausitz, Carpathian Ruthenia; II. the Haná and Wallachia regions; III. Southern Moravia; IV. Silesia; V. Slovakia. The text explains the until now little-known background of the recording project initiated by the Phonography Commission of the Czech Academy of Sciences and Arts, its first part made by the French company Pathé.

⁸ The challenging nature of the recording is given by the fact that everything is in motion, in various types of environments and with a huge number of performers under the influence of alcohol. Only a few scenes were made in relatively static conditions. The recording was produced by Matěj Kratochvíl in cooperation with a sound technician, Jan Valter.

The method of microhistorical research, characterized as "fondness for small spaces, social groups and small transparent units" (Dülmen 2002: 44), and the methods of genealogy and context research where "the primary goal of folk song collectors is no longer the content of songs – which was the case in the 19^{th} century – rather, the research interest has been expanded to include the performers themselves, as bearers and creators of this cultural tradition" and, therefore, "to include the way in which a person is integrated into his or her society" (Peg 1986: 59–61), form the core principles of the two latest publications related to the Nositelé tradic project, dedicated to two personalities of different ethnicity and background: the singer Anna Kománková and zitherist Erich Peukert. Both these documents (the audio CD as well as the video document with accompanying publications) contain, apart from songs and instrumental play, deeply personal accounts of personalities with complicated life stories. The former of the two, with a heavy gender undertone, is determined by the social status of a woman in an agriculture-oriented village in the Moravian region of Horňácko; the latter is the story of a German from the Sudetenland, whose life was dominated by the zither, then an extremely popular instrument.⁹ All the recordings and texts place an emphasis on the circumstances, conditions, environment and political context in which folk songs, folk music and their performers have lived.

Catalogization, databases, analysis and critical editions

The series of critical editions created at the Department of Ethnomusicology of the Institute of Ethnology, Czech Academy of Sciences over the 25 years of its existence is being provided with comparative references o related song versions contained in published or manuscript collections. This is, among other things, evidence of the songs being sanctioned by the relevant community (which is one of the primary features of *folkness*); moreover, data is collected about the existence and changing forms of songs as they are received and shared by the respective folk community. In order to generate such references, various types of catalogues are used, e.g. the catalogue of normalized (text) incipits or the dance catalogue. A permanent topic, regularly discussed at

⁹ A similar account, musical and verbal, is found on the following CDs and their booklets: Irish pipes – Uilleann pipes. Patrick Martin. Lubomír Tyllner, Matěj Kratochvíl, Lukáš Radostný. Institute of Ethnology, Czech Academy of Sciences, Prague 2002; Kateryna Kolcova – Vyznání. Písně séfardských a aškenázských Židů [Kateryna Kolcova – Confession. Songs of Sephardic and Ashkenazi Jews]. Lubomír Tyllner, Institute of Ethnology, Czech Academy of Sciences, Prague.

various scientific events and Europe's research institutes, has been the tunes catalogue of songs and instrumental music. Its rules, where song tunes are converted to numerical codes, were previously formulated, among others, by Lubomír Tyllner (1989); later, using computer databases, the Institute of Ethnology expanded this principle to a whole system of analysing the tunes of Czech folk songs and instrumental music. The technical aspect of the database and the quality of the song catalogue was further developed by Zdeněk Vejvoda, the first researcher to employ computer analysis to generate an ideal (or, rather, dominant) musical form of the dance type called *do kolečka*, a round dance (Vejvoda 2004). Vejvoda's latest project employing computer analysis was a study entitled *Hudební analýza* [Musical Analysis] in the edition *Lidové písně z Prahy ve sbírce Františka Homolky II* [Prague Folk Songs in František Homolka's Collection II] (Thořová – Traxler – Vejvoda 2013: 80–112).¹⁰

The exact analysis, conducted in the ACCESS database programme where the elements of song structure are converted to numerical data, allows quantify the following structures of songs in particular to be established and quantified: melody (interval), rhythm, form, tone and meter. The system features over fifty aspects, concentrated into the analysis card of each song recorded. The sample of 3,000 songs investigated under the current grant project¹¹ has been designed to cover the last two centuries and all geographic regions of Bohemia. However, items dating back to the early 19th century represent a singing tradition more than a hundred years older; therefore, the research (at least at this stage of the analysis) covers folk music of at least three centuries. The computer-generated data will enable a much more precise definition (without the burden of Romantic ideals) of the similarities and differences, universal and unique features, in short, the most important characteristics of Czech folk music and its individual types. The historicalcomparative method, together with the computer analysis and computerprocessed data, will enable the researchers, for the first time ever, to establish the style progress, style layers, regional styles, musical dialects, idioms, typological characteristics and unique features of the different style layers and different regions. The analysis of the rudimentary expressions of the Czech nation's musicality is expected to help characterize the musical identity of a nation that, for centuries, has made a significant impact on Europe's culture.

¹⁰ Another several volumes of the Homolka manuscript, deposited in the Institute's fund of songs, are planned for publication to complete the series.

¹¹ *Česká lidová hudba. Hudebně-typologická charakteristika* [Czech Folk Music. Musical typology]. The Grant Agency of the Czech Republic, grant reg. No. 15-24418S.

For a long time, analytical studies have been a regular part of edition projects conducted by the members of the Department of Ethnomusicology. The ample experience in working with sources of folk songs, music and dances was utilized by Lubomír Tyllner, Jiří Traxler and Věra Thořová when publishing their commented inventory of sources of traditional music, *Průvodce po pramenech lidových písní, hudby a tanců v Čechách* [The Guide to Bohemian Sources of Folk Songs, Music and Dances] (2015).

Over the years, the Department of Ethnomusicology has participated in large international and national synthetic projects. Cooperation with the Institute's Department of Scientific Information and the Archive of German Folk Songs in Freiburg im Breisgau - together with support from the Volkswagen Foundation - resulted in an international project involving the restoration, ordering and catalogization of songs from German speaking regions (1995–1998).¹² Furthermore, the Department of Ethnomusicology initiated the collective work entitled Lidová kultura. Národopisná encyklopedie Čech, Moravy a Slezska [Folk Culture. The Ethnographic Encyclopaedia of Bohemia, Moravia and Silesia].¹³ The editing and final stage of the publication process was conducted by the technical editing team: Jiří Traxler - head, Matěj Kratochvíl, Zdeněk Vejvoda, joined by a member of the Institute's Department of Historical Ethnology, Jaroslav Otčenášek. Members of the Departments of Historical Ethnology and Ethnomusicology (František Bahenský, Markéta Holubová, Luboš Kafka, Jaroslav Otčenášek, Lydia Petráňová, Daniela Stavělová, Lubomír Tyllner /ed./, Jiří Woitsch), joined by Alexandra Navrátilová of the Brno branch and Eduard Maur, utilized their ample experience and knowledge of ethnography and folklore when completing a synthetic work entitled Velké dějiny zemí Koruny české – Lidová kultura [The Large History of the Lands of the Bohemian Crown - Folk Culture], published in a prestigious edition series of the publishing house Paseka (2014).

¹² International conferences on Czech-German relations in traditional culture, held in preparation of and during the project, took place in Prague on 26–28 May 1993 and 13–15 June 1995.

¹³ The proposal was made by Lubomír Tyllner at the meeting of the constitutional council of the Institute for Ethnography and Folklore Studies, Czech Academy of Sciences, held in March 1993. The work was prepared by the Institute for Ethnography and Folklore Studies (chief editor Stanislav Brouček, science secretary Lubomír Tyllner) and the Institute of European Ethnology of the Faculty of Arts, Masaryk University in Brno (chief editor Richard Jeřábek).

Ethnochoreology between folklore studies and sociocultural or historical anthropology

What is specific for Czech ethnomusicology in the recent two decades, when it has been integrated into the Institute of Ethnology, Academy of Sciences, is its co-existence with ethnochoreology. This is hardly surprising given how closely related both disciplines are; indeed, dance research is normally done in close connection to music. As far as its position in Czech academia is concerned, ethnochoreology did not become a fully-fledged discipline with long-term research perspective until the 1990s when it began to be pursued, together with ethnomusicology, at the newly established Institute of Ethnology.¹⁴ It was earlier than that, however, and despite numerous restrictions, that Hannah Laudová managed to establish and maintain regular working contacts in the international research community - in the IFMC, later ICTM,¹⁵ where a Study Group on Ethnochoreology was established in 1962. Not incidentally, the Group's foundation meeting was held in Gottwaldov, Czechoslovakia (now Zlín): most of the founding members came from the former Eastern bloc - Hungary, Poland, the German Democratic Republic, Czechoslovakia, Romania and Bulgaria. Significantly, colleagues in the West made every effort to maintain cooperation, despite the ideological schism between the East and West. The person playing a major role in these efforts was John Blacking, an ethnomusicologist of Queen's University in Belfast who, in the early 1970s, began to prompt Western researchers to join their colleagues in working meetings held behind the Iron Curtain. Beginning in the early 1980s, the Study Group on Ethnochoreology convened symposia every two years, expanding its membership significantly to include researchers from the USA and Asia. Czechoslovak researchers continued their membership in the Group (H. Laudová, Z. Jelínková, E. Kröschlová), making a substantial contribution to the results of the Group's individual components, particularly in structural analysis of dance.¹⁶

¹⁴ In previous years, Hannah Laudová had been actively working in this discipline even though she held a different position at the Department; the continuity was broken in the 1970s with Laudová's retirement.

¹⁵ International Folk Music Council, later International Council for Traditional Music.

¹⁶ H. Laudová and E. Kröschlová were involved in creating the syllabus of a proposal featuring the system of analysing dance forms, published in the Yearbook for Traditional Music (1974); another significant contribution to the development of the internationally acclaimed method of the structural analysis was the analysis of selected Czech dances, conducted by Kröschlová (Kaeppler – Dunin 2007).

While the early 1990s saw a rapid integration of Czech ethnochoreology into international structures, the discipline encountered several obstacles in its development on the domestic scene. However, the opportunity for the discipline to develop in line with the international research context has opened a new chapter of its transformation where the field's heritage is being reassessed, and old topics are being reconsidered and employed in international discourse in line with the latest methodology and theoretical foundations.¹⁷ Internationally, this process is aptly described by two studies: one was copublished by the Romanian ethnochoreologist A. Giurchescu and the Danish ethnomusicologist L. Torp, an expert on dance culture (1991); the other was published by the American anthropologist Adrienne L. Kaeppler (1991). The studies highlight the difference between the European and the American approach to dance research, based on the different influence of political, sociocultural and epistemological factors. Whereas there has been a strong link, since the 19th century, of European research in folk dance to the post-romantic folkloristic exploration of domestic culture, the American approach to human motion resulted from the anthropological study of otherness. European folk dance research has embraced the tendencies to conserve disappearing traditional folk culture, in unchanged form whenever possible, and seeks to record dance forms and the structure of dance types. Its primary methods include collection, recording, analysis and classification of the preserved material, with a view to conducting comparative studies. By contrast, American dance anthropology has, since its very beginning, explored what it is that dance is able to tell us about society as such; to this end, structured human motion is understood as a process rather than a definable form. And while European folklore scholars have gradually expanded their field research methods to include the study of context in which dance is performed, American dance anthropologists have come to realize that human motion needs to be recorded in some way. Thus, since the early 1970s, European research has enriched its procedures of dance form analysis with new questions related to the post-structuralist dimension of dance study: dance is now understood as a socially constructed system of movements, and a new object

¹⁷ Several international meetings, significant for the growth of Czech ethnochoreology, were held at domestic venues in 1996 and 2010, namely the 19th and 26th symposia of the ICTM Study Group on Ethnochoreology in Třešť (Buckland – Gore 1998; Dunin – Stavělová – Gremlicová 2012). In 2004–2012, the Department of Ethnomusicology held five meetings of the ICTM Sub-Study Group (19th century Couple Dances) in Prague.

of semiotic study. Similarly, American dance anthropologists have developed this approach into a specific form of semasiology; this is a method interested in the semantics of the language of the human body, giving preference to meaning over structure. The point is to understand dance as a culturallysituated and significant practice. What is important here is the intentionality of the movement, which can only be viewed from the perspective of the performer, who manipulates and constructs the relevant system. In other words, the European folkloristic approach to dance research and the American anthropological one have begun to overlap, with differences mostly remaining in the foundation questions; put simplistically, American dance anthropology is not interested in dance per se, but rather in a system of movements which is socially constructed with a view to understanding society. European researchers, on the other hand, view a dance product from an anthropological perspective - in its variability and dependence on the socio-cultural environment. It is hardly possible, nevertheless, to note the differences in both approaches and, particularly, in their findings. The discipline's paradigm, developed over many years and still covered by the umbrella term *ethnochoreology*, has gained clear outlines (though subject to constant development) as an international field in the widest sense of the term

Nevertheless, this paradigm is not reflected in the same way in all national forms of the discipline. As far as Czech ethnochoreology is concerned, it is to be found half way through the process of convergence of the European folkloristic approach and the American anthropological one. Epistemologically, since the early 1990s, it has been a discipline with a degree of flexibility and defocusing, in transition from researching clearly defined forms and structures to exploring the process of their formation and transformation. The most important task was to deal with historic dance records (Stavělová 1996; Stavělová - Traxler - Vejvoda 2004) and pursue such interpretation of historical sources that would enable contextualization of the music and dance performance (Stavělová 2012, 2014a, 2014b). Researchers are interested in the dance environment, defined here as proxemis, a space constructed by sociocultural, political, ideological and other factors. This is very close to the concept of seescape, which also helped define the term soundscape, introduced into ethnomusicology by Kay Kaufman Shelemay of Harvard University. What is important here is the permeability of the boundaries of this environment which are transcended when identities are lost and re-discovered or new ones are invented. Study focused on an environment defined in this way is conducted both from a historical perspective (Stavělová 2006; Stavělová -Traxler - Vejvoda 2008), and within anthropological dance research, based on ethnographic data collection (Stavělová 2008).18

The factor important for the field's growth in the domestic conditions is further interconnectedness of ethnomusicology and ethnochoreology in research projects. Similarly to the cooperation of both disciplines in researching the dance environment, they are now becoming close partners in studying revivalism in the widest sense of the term, be it revitalization and reinvention of traditional folk festivities in contemporary society or studying the 20th century folklore movement, with both disciplines sharing an interest in exploring how music and dance is manipulated within ideological and other contexts. The hybridization and merging of music and dance performance. i.e. processes occurring in line with social intentions, can be viewed – by both disciplines - from the perspective of commodification of cultural heritage or topics of urban ethnomusicology. The disciplines' cooperation in exploring current issues has turned out to be very effective in that it provides a plurality in ethnographic research methods; much can be gained from the specific methodological possibilities of both disciplines, which can be combined where appropriate. Furthermore, the disciplines share similar theoretical foundations and an identical perspective of many topics. Until now, the cooperation has been restricted to co-participation in shared topics whereas in the future both disciplines could combine their perspectives when jointly creating their object of research - this should be permanently considered in line with ongoing ethnographic research. Further growth and cooperation of both disciplines is conditional upon how research questions will be asked, what will become the object of enquiry, and how both these disciplines will utilize their specific research possibilities.

¹⁸ The seminar held in cooperation with the Department of Dance, Academy of Performing Arts in Prague – with students involved in the field research – resulted in three monothematic issues of Národopisné revue (2003, 2010, 2013) on anthropological dance research. The last of the three was produced under the ICTM Sub-Study Group for Fieldwork Theory and Method project, organized by Daniela Stavělová. The project explored the traditional custom typical of Vlčnov, called The Ride of the Kings, in the light of new facts resulting from the custom being added to the UNESCO Representative List of Masterpieces of the Oral and Intangible Heritage of Humanity.



V. Thořová, J. Traxler, Z. Vejvoda in the building of CAS during the presentation of their book Folk Songs from Prague. Photo L. Tyllner, 2011.



Field research of the music elements occuring in the Shrovetide koleda in Doudlebsko in the Southern Bohemia. Photo L. Tyllner 2005.



Research project Traditional festivity as an intangible cultural heritage. The Ride of the Kings in Vlčnov. Photo D. Stavělová 2014.



Research project Traditional Shrovetide in the public sphere of the city. Procession in Břevnov in Prague. Photo D. Stavělová 2015.



L. Tyllner with J. Svejkovský during a recording session of shepherd trumpet playing from the foot of the Brdy Hills. Photo L. Tyllner 2006.

Ethnic Studies: The Age of Migration Continues

Zdeněk Uherek, Stanislav Brouček

The Institute of Ethnology Research into Migration and Life of Immigrant Groups in the Czech Republic

Zdeněk Uherek

Periodization of Czech migration policies after 1989

Between 1989 and the present, Czech society has gone through several periods in terms of migration and migration policy. There was a short period until 1991 which we could call "the euphoria of open borders". Migrants in that period were often understood as a symbol of openness to the world and in the same way as Czech society discovered the surrounding countries with interest at that time, it also positively perceived the new arrivals. The question of settling relations between citizens of the Czech Republic and the arriving foreigners seemed a secondary issue at the time. This is quite clear especially in asylum policy, for which the data are easily accessible. In 1990, the Czechoslovak Republic adopted the Act on Refugees before the ratification of the Geneva Convention of 1951 and the New York Protocol of 1967 (ratified in 1992) (Act No. 498/1990 Coll.) (Haišman – Trombík 1998) and in June 1990 registered the first applicant for asylum. In the same year, there was a rapid granting of asylum to an extent that the asylum policy in the Czech Republic has never returned to since.¹⁹

The second period is a period of "fear of immigration", which replaced the initial enthusiasm of the opening of the national borders. Although migration particularly from the area of the former Soviet Union is frequently

¹⁹ Still in 1990, 30 asylums were granted; in 1991 there were granted 776 asylums (data source: Český statistický úřad /Czech Statistical Office/).

discussed at that time, the public as well as governmental and parliamentary discussion did not manifest itself in an effort to formulate migration policy and effectively regulate the influx of migrants. Pavel Barša speaks of the period 1990–1996 from this perspective as a "liberal period" as opposed to a "restrictive period" (1997–1999), when he records the effort to regulate the number of foreigners in the Czech Republic (Barša 2005).

I personally note a clear change in the position on the part of the state towards immigration later, at the turn of the 21st century, when the growth of migration stops for the first time in connection with the economic crunch and visa obligations are introduced in 2000 for the Russian Federation, Ukraine, Belorussia, and other states of the former Soviet Union. The legislative bodies and government of the Czech Republic reacted through the visa policy and new legal norms (Act No. 326/1999 Coll. on the residence of aliens and Act No. 325/1999 Coll. on asylum) both to the fears of the Czech public of migration from the former Soviet Union and, as Eva Vachulová writes, to the necessity to harmonize the visa policy of the Czech Republic with the visa policy of the EU (Vachulová 2001: 18). The shift in migration policy was implementable in that form also thanks to the economic crisis and the reduction in the demand for a cheap labour force from the countries of the former Soviet Union.²⁰ On the other hand, however, it may be said that Pavel Barša is right that the first anti-immigration measures appeared already from 1997 to 1999 but particularly in relation to Czech asylum emigration and other types of Roma migration.

The next period, 2001–2007, which is characterized by the repeated growth in migration, is periodized by Pavel Barša into smaller time segments before and after EU accession, and it is discussed as a consolidation and neoliberal period (Barša 2005, Tuček et. al. 2013). This period ending with the beginning of the crisis (2008) is characterized mainly by the effort to formulate a state integration policy, apply "migration engineering" with incentive programmes for qualified migrants, to prefer migrants from countries selected in advance, etc. It is also a period when migration was institutionalized and importations of the workforce were regulated, through which the state attempted to negotiate and deal for instance with Vietnamese middlemen of the workforce for industrial companies (Freidingerová 2014).

²⁰ As correctly indicated by Pavel Čižinský and Tereza Kušniráková, Czech migration policy reflects the activity of the opposing interests of some industrial circles represented by the Ministry of Industry and Trade, which is suited by a liberal migration policy, and the security interests, whose assertion is in the competence of the Ministry of the Interior of the Czech Republic (Kušniráková – Čižinský 2011: 503).

At that time, an important milestone was accession to the European Union in 2004 but regardless of this significant step we record a continual rise of the number of foreigners in the Czech Republic already from 2001 (permanently positive migration balance). The highest migration gains were indicated in 2007 (84, 000 people) and 2008 (71, 000 people), of which, however, an ever more significant part, particularly in 2008, did not come based on the demand for workforce but the activity of the migration networks. The period of migration conjunctures, when from the original 78,000 foreigners on the territory of the Czech Republic with long-term and permanent residence in 1993 their number gradually grew to 438,000,²¹ ended in 2008. In that year, the Czech Republic had the fourth highest migration balance in all of the EU-27 (Drbohlav 2011). In 2008, the almost constant rise in the number of foreigners on the territory of the Czech Republic ends with the crisis, which means a stagnation in the number of foreigners and also decreasing concern for the issue of migration generally until 2015, when the interest significantly revived.

The changes in migration policy and modifications of migratory flows are reflected not only in the attitudes of the public towards migrants and migratory movements in general, but also in the activities developed in this area by academia and thus also the Department of Ethnic Studies of the Institute of Ethnology of CAS.

Research into migration at the Institute of Ethnology of CAS

It can generally be stated that for the entire period of the research into migration since 1989 a process of gradual convergence of the research methodology of the individual branches of academia has been visible and simultaneously the team of the Institute of Ethnology has sought in this research the typical ethnological approaches.

For the team of Ethnic Studies of the Institute of Ethnology of the CAS, the period after 1989 was that of seeking new methods. The research team had hardly ever had partner institutions in the Czech Republic in the area of migration. Until 1989, mainly internal migration had been followed within the studies of the demographic development in Czechoslovakia; international migration was studied here rather on the general level (Drbohlav 2011). The academicians of the Institute of Ethnology, on the other hand, had a good empirical experiential base with the studies of migration which had taken

²¹ Data source: Český statistický úřad (Czech Statistical Office).

place after World War II, including the study of the integration of foreign Czechs and Slovaks, returnees from 1945–1948. A component of this research was the study of the transformation of identity (ethnicity) in immigrant groups coming to the Czech Republic and Czechs abroad. This theme with immigrant groups was already conceptualized from the 1960s to the 1980s by Iva Heroldová and then Stanislav Brouček and their research teams (Heroldová 1971, 1985, 1987, 1989, Brouček 1988, 1991). Interest in the issue of the qualitative study predetermined that the first research projects after 1989 were focused on transformation of ethnicities.

The first collective field research, other than individual research projects for instance in Banat, Romania and in France, was determined by the fact that negotiations between Czechs in Ukraine affected by the Chernobyl nuclear disaster and the Czech government and subsequently their resettlement in the Czech Republic began to take place in 1990. This significant migration wave at the beginning of the 1990s aroused great media attention and the study of its adjustment to the new conditions was supported on the part of the Office of the Government of the Czech Republic and the Ministry of the Interior of the Czech Republic (Uherek 2004; Uherek – Valášková 2006). The research soon aroused foreign interest as well, initially of Japanese scholars in particular.

Although the team of the Department of Ethnic Studies had good prerequisites for the research of immigration waves, it was necessary to introduce a number of innovations in the area of methodology. The existing experience with historically orientated qualitative research focused on the elements of traditional culture was only partially usable for the needs of the academic community as a whole and for the interest of the public. Public administration in particular requested quantifiable results. Instruments were therefore developed for the study of integration strategies so that results collected by a larger number of people were comparable. Although the answers were entered into previously prepared forms, they were also recorded, the reactions of the resettled people were written down and the researchers did not leave the collection of data to agencies but conducted all of the interaction with those resettled face to face.

Classical ethnographic work was thus combined with quantitative data collection. The amount of field data produced, particularly the research among immigrants coming from the areas of Ukraine, is of such high quality that it can be successfully used to this day. The advantage of the collections from the beginning of the 1990s was the incorporation of a large number of localities and the comparability of the data on the social adjustment of those resettled in various residences, in urban and rural milieus and the possibility to interpret even the quantified data in depth. The disadvantage was the low speed of the

data collection. The professionally relevant outputs are dated to a few years after the resettlement and reach all the way back to the period when migration is dealt with by other research teams (Brouček – Uherek – Valášková 1995; Valášková – Uherek – Brouček 1997; Uherek – Valášková – Brouček 1997).

The period of "fear of migration" we spoke about in previous sub-chapter, rising already in 1992, is typical for the high demand of the public sphere and decision making bodies for the data on migration waves and behaviour of migration groups. The department implements research projects not only in the Czech Republic but also in the Balkans and is beginning to study Roma migrations (Guy - Uherek - Weinerová 2004), the migration of Ukrainians and Vietnamese and focuses also on research in the countries of the origin of the immigrants. It continues also to study the Czech resettled groups from Ukraine and subsequently from Kazakhstan not only in the Czech Republic, but also in the Ukrainian and Kazakh milieus (Uherek - Valášková - Kužel - Dymeš 2003). The number of entities who study migration is rising at the same time. Institutions financed from public finances include mainly the Institute of Sociology of the Czech Academy of Sciences, the Department of Social Geography of the Faculty of Science of Charles University and the Research Institute of Labour and Social Affairs. Besides these institutions it is possible to name from among the other significant institutions, for instance, Gabal Analysis and Consulting, the International Organization for Migration, the Multicultural Center Prague and others. The above institutions mediate problems which immigrants encounter and acquaint the public with the positive and negative effects of migration.

Particularly in the third period dated to the beginning of the 21st century, which is characterized by restriction and simultaneously migration engineering, the state formulates an integration policy and forms mechanisms for providing incentives for the arrival of a mainly qualified workforce in the Czech Republic. At that time, a commission for the integration of aliens is established, a whole range of foreigner groups are mapped. Representatives of the team sit on a number of panels of boards where migration issues are dealt with and collect data, on which there is great interest in the Czech Republic and abroad. Thanks to a series of Prague Occasional Papers in Ethnology, published by the Institute of Ethnology, some texts are also available in English.²²

The extent of the interest in the collection of data on aliens at the beginning of the 21st century is also presented by the collective work of research institutes of the CAS, which on more than 600 pages documents the various methods

²² See also Uherek 2009.
and data of the social-science and humanities institutes on the issue of foreigners (Uherek et al. 2003). The extensive collection of heterogeneous material demonstrates not only the wealth of the implementable approaches but also the difficulty of summarizing and considering the issue of migration to the Czech Republic as a whole. The topic of successful and unsuccessful integration strategies, which dominated the issue at that time, appears also in other works on immigration to the Czech Republic that were written in parallel or subsequently. In this context, it is necessary to draw attention particularly to two outcomes of the production of the Institute of Ethnology, namely the monographs *Kultura, společnost tradice II* [Culture, Society, Tradition II] (Uherek et al. 2006) and *Cizinecké komunity z antropologické perspektivy* [Foreign Communities from an Anthropological Perspective] (Uherek et al. 2008).

It is clear from the works that the team of Ethnic Studies of the Institute of Ethnology at that time continued to maintain a comparative perspective and to combine quantitative and qualitative viewpoints with an emphasis on long-term interactions of researchers with migrant groups. The publication *Culture, Society, Tradition II* should be considered a generalization of long-term experience. It concludes one stage of the research of compatriot guided migrations from abroad, makes an assessment of the situation of the newly settled border areas and subsequently a comparison of the integration strategies of single migration waves. The second publication, *The Foreign Communities from an Anthropological Perspective* from 2008, focuses more on current problems. It attempts to harmonize the migration works of the team with knowledge from abroad, to react to global migration theories and the results of other teams active in the area of migration in the Czech Republic.

At the same time a leitmotif appears here, which is typical for the academic community of the second part of this third period. It is a warning against the idea of the self-redemption of migration policy and indication of its limits, an alert to the danger of migration incentives, a refutation of the idea that migration can resolve the ageing of the population. Other works also characterizing this period are *Migration, diversity and their management* (Uherek et al. 2011) and *Czechs in Bosnia and Herzegovina* (Uherek 2011). These works demonstrate another dimension of the migration research of the Department of Ethnic Studies and the range of the themes that the team resolves, including the migration of the Romanies to Canada, research into the Vietnamese ethnic group, research into the efficiency of the policy of the integration of asylum seekers and others.

Theoretical framework and contemporary research

From the perspective of the development of theoretical thinking connected with the issue of migration it is possible to consider two research projects connected with the Institute of Ethnology as significant in the past decade. They fall into the period preceding the economic crisis. The first of them is research into the efficiency of the state integration programme for asylum seekers and the second deals with an investigation into the resettled groups that travelled from the area of the former Soviet Union in the 1990s and at the beginning of the 21st century. In both cases, it was follow-up research. The resettled groups from the former Soviet Union were studied continually for the whole of the 1990s and subsequently for ten years. In the case of the asylum seekers, there were two research projects. The first enquiry took place from 2004 to 2005 (Uherek et. al. 2005) and the second from 2011 to 2012 (Uherek – Beranská – Honusková – Jiráková – Šolcová 2012). The result of the subsequent investigation and long-term contact with the migration groups was taking into consideration the nonlinearity of the integration process and differentiated forms of adaptation to the new conditions of single persons and families. The intensity of the communication with the majority society changes during various periods of the life cycle of the individual. Other than the processes of integration, it is also possible to observe the processes of disintegration, even in groups which we believed were quite integrated into society. With some groups, the integration processes stopped or are only situational.²³

Subsequent research projects confirmed the importance of the local microclimates. They also demonstrated that the concept of integration captures only a part of the reality of immigrants. It is possible to work with the theme of adaptation to a new life situation and milieu much more plastically. In addition, the individual is not always the optimal basic social unit on which

²³ Examples: Employment, for instance, plays an important role. The actor, a driver, an immigrant, loses his job with an entrepreneur from a majority society company; for several years he works occasionally, he lives in social uncertainty. He subsequently receives an offer from a compatriot, whom he trusts. Although he lives in the Czech Republic, the process of integration into the majority society stops, and the process begins of reintegration into structures similar to which the immigrant lived in the source country.

Social position can also play an important role: The actor, already with great functional literacy for Czech society, went into retirement. He stopped encountering members of the majority society. He remained in his family circle and contact with the outside world was mainly mediated for him by television with Arab TV programmes. In a short time, he lost the ability to communicate in Czech. All of the necessary contacts with the majority are now ensured through his children.

to measure the processes. Work with asylum seekers also showed how differently individual foreigner groups perceive the new milieu and thus how problematic it is to place the same demands on them. The participation of the team of Ethnic Studies in the project of the 6th FP of the EU *Sustainable Development in the Diverse World* (Uherek 2010) also contributed to the refinement of the methodological apparatus in this area.

For the period of the last decade, positive cooperation with numerous entities is typical, namely the Research Institute of Labour and Social Affairs, with whom we have implemented several projects focused on migration. We have thematically come to the knowledge that contemporary migration is now less a matter of labour migration but is ever more distinctly connected with family and kinship ties. This fact has led us to the development of joint methods for research into families as a whole and linking of the research strategies in research projects into individuals with research projects into families. Another positive point is that the research into families makes it easier to identify the hidden reasons for migration (a large amount of migration that from the outside seems to be migration, for instance, for the purpose of doing business, in fact has the basic hidden motive of the health issues of one of the family members, education or future employment of the children, etc.).

Besides the general indicators of communication with the majority society, we also note the utilization of specific skills of people from abroad, for example the application of their methods of self-treatment or specific reactions to marginal conditions. At IMISCO conference we presented, for instance, how Czechs in Ukraine have adapted their treatment methods to the conditions of radioactive fallout.

For the period of the last decade, increasingly ever more evident coalescence of new migration with the minority structures in the Czech Republic is also typical; migration and minorities are increasingly more closely tied together. This is most distinctly represented by the acceptance of representatives of the Vietnamese community in the Council of the Government for National Minorities in 2013. In research projects in this area, we have also recorded very good ongoing cooperation with the Faculty of Science of Charles University and the Faculty of Law of Charles University, where there have been joint publications and cooperation in grant projects. Cooperation with the UNESCO MOST programme and the Commission of Urban Anthropology of the IUAES is also significant, as the foreigner communities are frequently active within urban structures. Also, their perception by the majority and possibility to be involved in various social events corresponds not only with the activities of the majority, but also for instance of compatriots and tourists, as has been demonstrated in the research in the Prague milieu organized by the NGO Open Society and the Institute of Ethnology (Uherek - Beranská et al. 2014).

Conclusion

If we compare the works of the team of Ethnic Studies of the Institute of Ethnology with other significant teams in the Czech Republic, we record a strong focus mainly on the participants themselves, and less so on state policies or the majority population. We further record a tendency of ethnographers towards long-term observation of the actors, the linking of the studies of their behaviour in the country of their origins and the target countries and observation of their life trajectories. The application of these strategies results in understanding the immigrant not primarily as a passive subject determined by legislation or economics, but as an active individual applying his/her own personal strategy dependent on his/her age, health state, interests and other circumstances. Increasingly, we perceive the migration movement as multilayered, not only unilateral, circulatory or integrational but also situational. In field work, we perceive integration only rarely as the aim of an individual but as a means, opening the path to other values. This means can be rejected as non-functioning if it does not help in any way. The small children of Czech parents do not learn Czech in order to become Czech, but to be able to interact with their surroundings and say something about the many beautiful and interesting things that are around them. The same applies to foreigners.



Map of Czech and Slovak emigration waves. Compiled by S. Brouček.



Roma musicians sing religious songs in church. Žehra, Slovakia. Photo Z. Uherek 2015.



Compatriots. Left and right compatriots from Romania, in the middle compatriot from the USA in searching for her ancestors in Gernik. Gernik, Banat, Romania. Photo Z. Uherek 2006.



Data collection in Macedonia. Zdeněk Uherek (in the middle) and Pavel Popelka, the then director of the Jan Ámos Komenský Museum in Uherský Brod (on the right-hand side), with inhabitants of the vilage of Mrežičko, Macedonia. Photo M. Válka 2013.

On the Results of Research on the Vietnamese Ethnic Group in the Czech Republic

Stanislav Brouček

Migration from Vietnam to the territory of today's Czech Republic (or the former Czechoslovakia) before 1989 was always organized *as managed migration* based on international Czechoslovak – Vietnamese contracts. Migration from Vietnam underwent three basic phases: the *first phase*: the initial period (1974–1979) was a period of the introduction of the basic mechanisms of managed resettlement into practice, setting the parameters of the controls and verification of the results, *the second phase*: rapid "fulfilment" of the set intentions of migration (1979–1985) is characterised by a gigantic increase in Vietnamese nationals in the Czech Republic, *the third phase*: a gradual decline (1985–1989) manifested in *poor quality* selection of those newcomers from Vietnam and insufficient preparation for them. The essence of these managed migrations was *to send away the inconvenient population surplus from Vietnam*.

In the 1990s, the remnants of the participants of these managed migrations started to do business in Czechoslovakia and after 1993 in the Czech Republic legally, semi-legally and also illegally. This leads to the transformation of managed migration into standard economic immigration.

The Vietnamese ethnic group currently active on the territory of the Czech Republic thus emerged historically from several migration groups. We can label them on three levels regarding the period of their arrival: as the *old residents*, who came within the international managed migrations before 1989, we can further name the *newly arrived immigrants*, who entered the CR from the 1990s as individual resettled persons (either on a business visa, based on the article on reuniting families or illegally, including those who brought capital for doing business from Vietnam). The third migration group comprises the *latest migrations*, which are the agency labourers from 2008–2009, hired as unqualified labourers for factory operations.

We can divide the Vietnamese in the Czech Republic according to the professional orientation and social position of these groups: *vendors* – at outdoor markets or in shops, *operators* of various services: translators,

mediators of activities of all types (in Vietnamese *dichvu̇*), *importers* of goods, *owners and organizers* of outdoor markets, casinos, restaurants, bistros etc., *producers* (and growers) of foodstuffs, vegetables, various goods, legally and illegally produced, illegal and semi-legal *mediators of migrations* from Vietnam to the Czech Republic, *wealthy investors* in the Czech Republic and in Vietnam, and *employees* in factories.

The backbone of the livelihood activities of the Vietnamese in the Czech Republic comprises mercantile activity. The result of these mercantile activities has been significant capital for the end of 20th century, which has caused *stratification of the Vietnamese community* in the Czech Republic. That means that a system of institutionalized social inequalities has been created, which has divided the Vietnamese society in the Czech Republic into three basic classes: 1. *the elite*, who have acquired relatively great wealth followed by a natural need to have power, 2. *the middle class*, who are the ordinary traders, 3. *the underclass* who are those who were trapped outside the network of kinship and friendship assistance of the already anchored immigrants in the Czech Republic. They were recruited mainly from the agency labourers who lost their jobs in factories in the recession period.

At present, when the Central European Vietnamese diaspora is forming (extending into the Czech Republic, Poland, Slovakia, Hungary with crossborder overlaps into Austria and Germany), the importance of the source country (i.e. Vietnam) is increasingly obvious to this diaspora. Mutual communication between Vietnam and the Vietnamese diaspora in Central Europe can be seen in three areas. Firstly, in the area of *motives* (or economic and social causes), which are leading the state of Vietnam to actively *support* its own population that migrated into Central Europe and thus helped out the country in solving the problem of relative overpopulation. Secondly, in the area of the utilization of the abilities of the people of Vietnamese origin in Central Europe to help about the economic strengthening of the country (Vietnam); this is mainly a matter of remittances (the transfer of money back to Vietnam). Thirdly, in the cultural area, in which there are close ties between the Vietnamese society at home in Vietnam and the one in the Czech Republic, or in Central Europe. This manifests itself in many respects in the way of life, ranging from traditional customs to the establishment of Buddhist centres or cells, namely with the help of Buddhist monks arriving from Vietnam and the Vietnamese Embassy in the CR. The issue of Buddhism is one of the new aspects that is entering into this integration and will seemingly enter ever more distinctly.



Vietnamese after a football match. Horní Blatná, Czech Republic. Photo S. Brouček 1999.



Buddhist celebration of their temple foundation. Svatý Kříž, Czech Republic. Photo S. Brouček 2010.



Vietnamese minority – New Year celebration. České Budějovice, Czech Republic. Photo S. Brouček 2000.

Research into Czechs Abroad in the Light of the Relationship of the State to Compatriots

Stanislav Brouček

The study of Czech emigration and the study of the life of communities claiming to be of the Czech ethnic group abroad has always been among the basic research tasks of the Institute of Ethnology since its very beginning within the Academy of Sciences, i.e. beginning in 1953. After 1990, the essential change occurred in research of this theme. It consisted of the fact that Czech academia was given the opportunity to resolve some of the *practical sides* of the phenomenon of foreign Czechs, mainly in connection with the re-emigration of Czech offspring from abroad back to Czechoslovakia and later to the Czech Republic. The employees of the Department of Ethnic Studies of the Institute of Ethnology therefore shared *inter alia* also in the projects of the resettlement of Czech compatriots from the Chernobyl District affected by the nuclear catastrophe or later from Kazakhstan.

The second significant change in research of compatriots occurred after the establishment of the Senate of the Parliament of the Czech Republic and the Permanent Commission for Compatriots Living Abroad (namely in the second half of the 1990s). The cooperation of the Institute of Ethnology of the CAS with Czech legislature and with the executive in this second case resulted in an effort to achieve a revival in the interest in foreign Czechs. The Institute provided the Senate with a professional base and shared in the organization of numerous events. In recent years, this has been in the form of conferences, of which homonymous proceedings have been issued edited by Stanislav Brouček and Tomáš Grulich: in 2009 *Krajané a Česká republika, hledání možností k nové otevřené spolupráci* [Compatriots and the Czech Republic, seeking possibilities of new open cooperation], in 2010 Československé vztahy a krajané [Czech and Slovak Relations and Compatriots], and in 2011 *Migrace a česká společnost* [Migration and Czech Society].

At the end of September and the beginning of October 2013, another conference took place entitled *Nová emigrace z České republiky po roce 1989: Náhled na problematiku v kontextu vývoje světových migrací, vznik moderních diaspor a transnacionálních společností* [New Emigration from the Czech Republic after 1989: An overview of the issue in the context of the development of global migrations, the emergence of modern diasporas and transnational societies] (Brouček – Grulich 2014).

The aim of this series of conferences and discussions was to move forward the exchange of opinions between *politicians*, *public administration*, *voluntary organizations*, *foreign Czechs and the professional public including our specialpurpose research projects* to the level of real resolutions of specific problems, which the state bodies of the Czech Republic are nowadays faced to. From this conferences, attended by representatives of the Czech responsible ministries (Interior, Foreign Affairs, Industry and Trade, Labour and Social Affairs, Education, Youth and Sports), the Office of the Government of the Czech Republic, the International Organization for Migration and the foreign Czechs, a proposal was put forward to establish an *inter-ministerial body for migration and compatriots at the Office of the Government of the Czech Republic*, because up to that time there was only an authorized representative for compatriots of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the Czech Republic and the above mentioned Commission for Compatriots in the Senate.

The reaction to the results of the study of the institute with regard to the question of migration was the commissioning of a project entitled *Analysis of Migration of Czech Citizens after 1989* from the Technology Agency of the Czech Republic. The analysis was focused on: 1. The migration behaviour of Czech citizens after 1989, 2. The importance of teaching the Czech language abroad as a unifying element of the Czech community, 3. The comparison of the state of the emigration policy of the Czech Republic with the policy of comparably large countries (Slovakia, the Netherlands, Denmark and Sweden).

The project became a synoptic recapitulation of the domestic (Czech or Czechoslovak) stances towards emigration and foreign Czechs. It started from the emigration policies of interwar Czechoslovakia, showed the political simplification in the subsequent period (1948–1989) and evaluated the domestic activities in favour of the domestic and compatriot worlds after November 1989. For the historical periods being compared, we can set the main (central) theme for each one:

- 1. in the interwar period 1918–1938, it is the theme of (economic) emigration,
- 2. the period of 1948–1989, when Czechoslovakia was part of the Muscovite empire and when emigration was a synonym in the situation then for national treason and when around the world Czechoslovak exile centres were created endeavouring to emancipate Czechoslovakia from this empire, it is the theme of *exile*,
- 3. the period representing the current state after 1990, when the exile either returned to free Czechoslovakia or offered close professional or economic cooperation and so foreign Czechoslovaks or then Czechs prepared for

functioning abroad with lively economic, political and social ties, it is the theme of the existence of the modern Czech *diaspora*. In this regard, Czech society and the CR is at the very beginning in comparison with other countries.

From the geographical and historical perspectives, it is possible to distinguish among foreign Czechs:

- I. The descendants of migrants for religious reasons including their secondary (subsequent) migrations (for instance in Zelów, Poland) or the mass managed resettlement with the strategic aims to settle the border areas of the former Austrian Empire (Banat in today's Romania and Serbia). These also include the descendants of the resettled Bohemians who colonized the fertile land and brought a higher level of technology in agriculture (Volhynia in today's Ukraine) or served the general development of the new state with the arrival of intelligentsia for education, agriculture and industry (Bulgaria). These migrations took place from the 16th to the 19th centuries.
- II. The descendants of migrants for social reasons. These emigrated mainly to the USA and Vienna (and their departures were labelled as two open arteries of the Czech nation as it was called by the important economist and leading figure of the Old Czech Party Albín Bráf), but also to Western Europe and other countries of the world. These migrations took place in the second half of the 19th century and in the first half of the 20th century.
- III. Migration, which was a political and also social reaction to the totalitarian system in former Czechoslovakia after the milestone upheavals of 1948 and 1968, Czechoslovak exile centres endeavouring for a return to democracy in their original homeland were active abroad.
- IV. Modern migration leaving for life, professional and language experiences beyond the borders of Czechoslovakia after 1990 mainly to the USA, but also the countries of Western Europe and from the second half of the 1990s to Australia and New Zealand.
- V. Czechs in Slovakia. These undoubtedly belong to the modern Czech diaspora. Although it did not start as emigration, as did the previous cases, today, after the split of Czechoslovakia in 1993, it finds itself beyond the borders of the Czech Republic.

Given the relatively large number of topics that the files of current knowledge on current foreign Czechs provide from the area of the whole world, the material collected so far is becoming a "source" mostly of the oral history of Czech exile and emigration in the second half of the 20th century. Its interpretation initially took the route of a biography of individual persons

and an analysis of the situation of the compatriot communities in different locations and countries of the world. The result is an authentic testimony of people of their own experience and how these experiences evaluate their life decisions, made under varying intensities of political and social pressure.

An equally serious point of view on the identity of foreign Czechs in relation to the sources of a subjective nature is the interpretation of the three levels of the transformations of individual attitudes after migration:

- (1) The first level is the acquisition of new personality qualities, which can be connected with a transformation of the norms of behaviour, the acquisition of various skills, education, the mastery of one or more languages and so on.
- (2) The second level is a shift or transformation of the role of a person in a communal environment. A different situation arises, of course, for a Czech who went to Brazil and another for those who settled in Vienna. Yet each of them undergoes a shift that can either be explicitly formulated or can be interpreted from a variety of expressions and attitudes.
- (3) The third distinct level is the changing or developing relationship to the central power, including respect to the laws and the state of civic society in which he/she has settled.



Māori culture in an engaging performance. Auckland War Memorial Museum, New Zealand. Photo S. Brouček 2006.



Anna Janku, the leader of the expatriates in muslim countries. Cairo, Egypt. Photo S. Brouček 2007.

Department of Historical Ethnology: Space and Time in the Traditional Culture, Traditional Culture in Time and Space

Jiří Woitsch

The Department of Historical Ethnology (hereinafter DHE) was founded at the end of 1992 and the beginning of 1993 when internal division was consolidated after radical reforms and a reduction of the institute (Tyllner -Suchomelová 2005: 85–87). From the wider perspective, however, not exclusively and not as the only working place of the institute within the Czech Republic,²⁴ it inherited more than a one-hundred year tradition of classical, culturalhistorical and comparatively oriented European ethnology (Horák 1933; Lozoviuk 2008; Altman 2013), although a Department focused in this way had not existed in the former Institute for Ethnography and Folklore Studies before 1989. DHE has been and is particularly focused on research into material culture and everydayness (vernacular architecture, agriculture, handcrafted production, food), art, annual customs, traditional belief, religiosity, and also on the study of folklore. Since the beginning, the DHE has been permanently combining the rich and internationally respected tradition of ethnographic study of traditional folk culture more intensively with the attitudes of European historical ethnology (Brednich 1994; Kaschuba 2003) and related disciplines - mainly historical anthropology and micro-history (Medick 1984; Dressel 1996; van Dülmen 2002). Predominantly, the historical orientation of the Department results in combining the common ethnological methods of data collecting and evaluating (field research, work with respondents, work with artefacts in field and museums) with rigorous work with written (archival) and iconographic sources that are entirely essential for recognition of pre-industrial culture (synoptically Dušek et al. 2014).

²⁴ In particular in the field of agrarian ethnography, the study of folk art and vernacular architecture, etc. probably the closest institution to focus of OHE is the Institute of European Ethnology at Masaryk University in Brno. However, vaste number of its excellent results is more focused only on the territory of Moravia (Válka 2006).

The DHE also acknowledges the legacy link of preeminent researchers who conducted similar research from the end of the 19th century to the recent past - for instance, Čeněk Zíbrt, Karel Chotek, Vilém Pražák, Jaroslav Kramařík, Václav Frolec and last but not least, also Josef Vařeka, founder of the Department in the 1990s and its first head. Simultaneously, the DHE has been trying to offer a modern research design (and also a course) to experts and the general public and to compare its results with similarly focused working places in the Czech Republic or abroad where it is possible, at least in the Central European context, to reach scientific excellence and to successfully react to a continuously growing social order. Namely, as the latest events have shown, in the "academic field of social sciences and humanities" and also amongst the cultural public at the global, European and national level, after a particular period of fascination by constructivist, linguistical, anthropological and other such theories and approaches, some fundamental changes may be observed. In Western Europe such trends have appeared since the second half of the 1990s (Gerlolm 1995). These changes simply meant a partial return to the long-term traditions of European sciences, methodically modernized but sensu stricto, rather conservative disciplines (history, sociology, geography). It was possible to notice a certain revival of empiricism and neo-positivism, the use of quantifying methods, clear rehabilitation of seemingly depleted concepts and terms (for example culture, see Chartier 2002), etc. In the case of ethnology, as the development of the SIEF (Hafstein - Margry 2015) clearly shows, we have something to do with the inclination towards the traditional topics and methods of ethnological and folkloristic research including ethnocartography, no matter how much it has been covered by modern topics and approaches, such as digital humanities, environmental studies and sustainable development, protection of material and non-material cultural heritage, and generating knowledge databases. These were (particularly in Central Europe fascinated by American social anthropology in the 1990s) previously considered to be unpromising (Munk - Jensen 2014: 44; Čapo 2015; Köstlin et al. 2002).

The DHE has been trying to build on these trends in the last 10 years. As was indicated, the situation is facilitated by the fact that the Department has never given up on European ethnology. Concurrently, we are well aware of a number of extremely problematic aspects of the former development of ethnology and its deformations in Central Europe. After all, that is the reason why the history of this discipline became a subtopic on which the DHE concentrates, back in 2000. In the last few years, most studies have been conducted by Jiří Woitsch, František Bahenský and Lydia Petráňová (Bahenský 2005, 2006; Bahenský – Woitsch 2003; Woitsch 2012c, 2013a, 2013b; Petráňová 2000; Novotný et al. 2008). Systematic attention paid to the history of ethnology in Czechoslovakia culminated in 2014 in the preparation of a

successful defence of a grant project called *Between state plan and research freedom*. *Ethnography and folklore studies in Czechia in the context of development of culture and society in 1945–1989* (Czech Science Foundation), which involves researchers from the DHE and the Brno branch of the Institute as well as specialists from the Institute of Contemporary History and the Masaryk Institute and CAS Archive and which has already shown its first results (Petráň – Petráňová 2015).

Within the context of claiming allegiance to traditions of Central European ethnography, it is necessary to consider how to use, modify and refuse its theoretical and methodological or generally epistemological approaches. Logically, this cannot mean following absolutely antiquated paradigms, and a mere accumulation of more and more "facts" about traditional folk culture does not seem to be a suitable way, although DHE has always preferred unambiguously empirically supported research. Simultaneously, we do not give up on more profound theoretical and methodological consolidation of research, as the DHE is based on two simple but substantial bases: firstly, the traditional folk culture of the Czech lands is perceived as a vivid and functional complex of artefacts, cultural norms, social relationships, habits, manners and behaviour, which was already at the end of 19th century found in many aspects in the phase of gradual levelling and expiration and it became de facto a museum artefact. At the beginning of the 21st century, it is possible to research only its subtle residua, thus for recognition of folk culture (as opposed to mass culture and the every-day life in present), methods of historical research are crucial. Secondly, the subject of our study may be reflectively specified by two basic characteristics - temporality and spatiality.

For the purposes of this contribution, the first characteristic can be handled relatively easily. The time category is simply and trivially present in the DHE epistemological armamentarium. This is both in terms of chronology, experienced by erstwhile historical participants (partially cognizable representatives of traditional folk culture through written, material and other sources), and in terms of descriptive and explicable tools, meaning the time category used for specifying changing periods or epochs (socio-cultural configurations), which can be described and simultaneously observed as to their changes (time concept in historical sciences summarised by Horský 2014). In other words, cultural-historical approaches are followed, which perceive folk culture as a time changing phenomenon whose individual components develop with different dynamics. Temporality and historicity of culture is recognized, but not understood as a constant static structure, and we bear in mind that capturing it in a certain period carries clear signs of the preceding development. As long as it concerns spatiality of traditional folk culture, claiming that it was being developed in a specific space is important, although trivial. Only emphasizing the spatial relations, hierarchies etc. and their detailed description and analyses may provide the right solid base to the historically approached study of folk culture. Indeed, apart from general interest in geographic, natural, communicative and other links and effects, there is one more qualitatively higher theoretical-methodological approach, and that is the ethnocartographic method.

Ethnocartography in Europe, Bohemia and DHE

Considerations and factual initiatives to elaborate an ethnographic atlas of the Czech lands have been made throughout the history of Czech and Czechoslovakian ethnology since the very scientific beginning of this field in the 1890s (Brouček 1979) and these have also followed the progress of the DHE recently, although in a wider context of interest in time-spatial relations in the culture. Ethnocartography, recently having experienced remarkable "revival" thanks to the progress of geographic information systems and new interpretative approaches, such as the auto-ethnocartography (Chapin -Threlkeld 2001; Munk - Jensen 2014) has always represented a progressive approach thanks to a comparative and holistic conception, indeed, an international approach and since the 1950s also an approach radically attacking ethnical self-centeredness. Czech ethnocartography (unlike the development in Slovakia) has been confronted with a number of unfavourable circumstances, and therefore the study of spatial relations in the traditional culture in our countries slowed down in the 2nd half of the 20th century, which the research programme of the current DHE has had to deal with (Vařeka 1991, Vařeka 1996, Vařeka 2007, Woitsch 2012a, Woitsch 2012b).

The beginnings of ethnocartographical research in Europe are linked to so called "language geography" which started evolving particularly in Germany from the end of the 19th century and only a little later, a consistent analyses of spatial relations of cultural or social phenomenon became the focus of attention by economists and some cultural anthropologists. An entirely separated chapter is represented by geographic study. The first systematic ethnocartographical research occurred in Germany at the end of 1920s, but the German ethnographical atlas (ADV 1937–1945), also capturing the folk culture of the Germans living in Czechoslovakia, was conceived on the problematic "ethnical principle" which was only overcome by the revised edition of it (ADV. Neue Folge 1958–1985).

The Swedish ethnographical atlas was being prepared in the other key zone of European ethnocartography – Scandinavia – under the supervision of Sigurn

Erixon from 1937 and with its first part (Atlas över Svensk Folkkultur 1957) Scandinavian Ethnology entered territorial and not ethnical principles of atlas work. In 1965, Ständige Internationale Atlaskommission (SIA) was established, which was supposed to prepare an ethnographic atlas of Europe, but the only tangible result was a map of annual traditional fires in Europe (Zender 1980; Rooijakkers – Meurkens 2000). In the 1990s, a partial crisis of ethnocartographic research led to megalomaniacal projects being abandoned and the attenuate SIA as the International European Ethnocartographic Working Group, later also known as the International Ethnocartography Network, was taken under the wings of SIEF, from 2013 named as the Place lore and Space lore working group (with a broader focus). Since 2015, J. Woitsch has been the Chairman of this working group with several dozens of members from all around the world. The basic goals and methods of ethnocartographic research remained the same also after 2000 within Europe and they have been extended to the use of the most modern technologies (databases, GIS). A revision and completion of older ethnographic atlases (Germany, Switzerland, Ireland, Scandinavian states, Balkan) is being undertaken and continues with editions of atlases based on formerly done research (Poland, Romania).

Basically, in the Czech lands, a systematic work on a complex ethnographic atlas has never even started for many reasons (organisational, personal, but also ideological). Only the personal involvement of exceptional personalities (Drahomíra Stránská, Václav Frolec, Jaroslav Kramařík, Vladimír Scheufler, and Josef Vařeka) enabled a compilation of subtopics, particularly from material culture, and partly also preparation of a conception of an ethnographic atlas as a whole (Kovačevičová – Frolec – Vařeka 1978). The mentioned initiatives were radically and forcibly suspended in the normalization period. The internal print *The Ethnographic Atlas* came out as a reminder of former efforts, consisting of key treatises written by J. Kramařík (1978) and J. Vařeka (1978). The latter researcher, practically undercover, continued then in rethinking the Czech ethnographic atlas. Contrary to this, in Slovakia, an ethnographic atlas became de facto the main activity of the whole Ethnographic Institute of the Slovak Academy of Sciences. Excellently conducted and coordinated research, in a suitable field and with support from central bodies, was completed in 1990 (EAS 1990).

After fundamental political and social changes in 1989, ethnocartographic work began to evolve also in the Czech lands and in the 1990s, atlas work was concentrated under the methodological leadership of J. Vařeka in the newly established DHE. It is possible to say that only in that period, almost after one hundred years of planning and working on the ethnographic atlas, Czech ethnocartography gained clearer institutional frames. For the DHE it meant that the Department could profile itself towards the spatial characteristics of the study of traditional folk culture.

The ethnographic atlas of Bohemia, Moravia and Silesia is divided into individual thematic parts. After 1990, it was possible to edit volumes focused on the cottage industry in the 2nd half of the 19th century (Scheuffer 1991), handmade production and trade in 1752–1756 (Martínek 2000), ethnographic regionalization of Bohemia, Moravia and Silesia in the early Modern Times (Jeřábek et al. 2004), the Jewish settlement in Bohemia in the 2nd half of the 18th century (Ebelová et al. 2007) and cult spheres of pilgrimage Madonnas (Holubová 2009) and moreover, to elaborate many other topics including a ready-to-print volume about traditional architecture, settlements and dwelling. An essential conceptual decision was conscious resignation on the elaboration of a complex atlas in the traditional way, which may be understood as anachronism. The target set by J. Vařeka was and is not to create an atlas similar to the Slovakian or the German one because a chance to realize such a project was irrecoverably lost about 50 years ago, since nowadays it is impossible to observe folk culture in situ. Accordingly, the series title of projects and their outcomes, The Ethnographic Atlas, presents only reminiscence on "old school" ethnographic atlases in the 20th century.

The dynamic development of European and Czech ethnocartography until the 1990s is noticeably only partly exceeded by interest in spatial characteristics of the society and culture in academic (mainly historic) and social science. After the rise of interest in space within history, sociology and other disciplines in the 1930s (Iggers 2002; Kosseleck 2000), there was a decline of studies oriented this way after the Second World War, and therefore it was "a spatial turn" that introduced changes at the end of the 20th century (Soja 1989). From today's point of view, it meant a scientific revolution as significant as the sometimes unjustifiably underestimated "linguistic turn". From the 1980s, interest in variously conceptualized space has been increasing and "spatialization" conclusively represents one of the most modern research trends throughout all disciplines of humanities and social sciences - whether it refers to its conceptualisation or diversely conceived research into social, cultural or constructed and experienced space or place (see Günzel 2010). Apparently, in recent ethnology and anthropology the most influential similarly oriented research trend is represented by diversely theoretically substantiated study of the countryside as a specific intersection of the physical (natural) environment, power structure, subjective ideas, history and memory (collectively Cosgrove - Daniels 1988; Hirsch - O'Hanlon 1995; Ingold 2000; Bender 2002; Schama 2007; Mácha 2010). The DHE is trying to integrate ethnocartographic research into these modern contexts and to conceptualize them so that "the old good" results of ethnocartographical study might be suggestively linked to interpretative approaches coming mainly from micro-history and historical anthropology.

The research activity of the DHE in 2005–2015

The theoretical and methodological and the thematic framework of the DHE is relatively definite although it is constantly changing and not dogmatic. The major focus of activity is interest in temporality (development) and spatiality of traditional culture which materializes in ethnocartographic approaches. Scientific projects and their outcomes (from 2005 to 2015, referring to more than 400 items - monographs, articles, collections, documentaries, conference lectures and posters etc.) which, apart from extraordinarily comprehensive tuition, expert or popularising activities, represent the main bulk of DHE activities, can be divided into two main groups. Firstly, approaches arising within unique individual research projects of individual team members, although some of them were elaborated in cooperation with other institutions. Secondly, collective outcomes prepared within an DHE conjoint research programme in which several team members and co-operators from other departments of the Institute of Ethnology or external workers participate. The result of long-term collective and interdisciplinary cooperation of the DHE with other teams of the Institute of Ethnology represents a monumental editorial and author participation of department workers on the *Ethnographic* Encyclopaedia of Bohemia, Moravia and Silesia (Lidová kultura 2007), for which the DHE elaborated several hundreds of headwords, and also a publication, Tyllner et al. 2014, where department workers in many chapters also presented the results of ethnocartographic study of traditional folk culture. A different example of interdisciplinary cooperation is the participation of J. Woitsch on a text about changes of cultural landscapes published in one of the foremost world geographic journals (Skaloš et al. 2015).

In general, from 2005 to 2015 the Department collective work was carried out in the field of ethnocartographic study of ethnical, or rather religious composition of the population in Bohemia in the Early Modern and Modern Times, traditional religiosity and pilgrimage tradition, and folk architecture supported by the Institute of Ethnology as well as by grant projects – two GA CAS projects: *The Ethnographic Atlas of Bohemia, Moravia and Silesia 7* (2004–2006), *The Ethnographic Atlas of Bohemia, Moravia and Silesia 8* (2007–2009) and a project of the Czech Science Foundation *Ethnographic Atlas of Bohemia, Moravia and Silesia: Vernacular architecture, settlements and dwellings* (2011–2015). This has resulted in the elaboration of many studies in local and foreign magazines and in editing several separate volumes of the ethnographic atlas mentioned above. While researching traditional habits and annual customs, pilgrimage traditions, folk art, folk religiosity and broadsides, a great deal of progress with a significant response has been reached and folkloristic research has also been in progress.

Study of material culture

Although research into folk material culture has an extraordinary tradition within European ethnology, current approaches to agrarian culture, folk production, architecture, settlements and dwelling are heavily influenced by theories and methods of historical anthropology, environmental history, post-processional archaeology, cultural geography and so on. An expert in the field, J. Vařeka, represented the main researcher in the Department within folk material culture research until 2008. He is the author of several dozens of headwords and co-editor of Ethnographic Encyclopaedia of Bohemia, Moravia and Silesia (Lidová kultura 2007) and moreover, at the end of his professional career, he methodically regulated ethnocartographic research and published some important studies and monographs about vernacular architecture (Vařeka 2005; Vařeka – Frolec 2007). After his death the leading role was assumed by J. Woitsch who, in cooperation with F. Bahenský and Martin Dohnal, specializes in continuing ethnocartographic research and its theoretical reflection in the direction of recent German research (Gansohr-Meinel 1993; Simon 2003, Simon 2005), particularly in defining ethnographic regions and analysing the heuristic base (for example Woitsch - Woitschová 2005; Woitsch 2008, 2012a, 2012b). Apart from ethnographic regions, J. Woitsch focuses on transdisciplinary research of folk production and methods of the exploitation of natural resources and on making the cultural landscape and its changes in time (Woitsch 2007, 2011, 2010a, 2010b, 2009), and all that also within special grant tasks (GA CAS - the project Forest and Trees in Folk Culture of the Czech Lands in the Early Modern Period – Material Culture, 2007–2009). While researching folk crafts and technologies, unprecedented international success was reached through publishing a text by J. Woitsch and Z. Cílová (University of Chemical Technology) in a prestigious magazine with an extraordinarily high impact factor (Cílová - Woitsch 2012). Also in the second of the mentioned fields (forest utilisation and making of the cultural landscape) the DHE reached international success during the monitored period and J. Woitsch was asked to represent the Czech Republic in the most important global scientific organisation dealing with the history of forests (IUFRO).

In 2005–2015 ethnocartographical research into vernacular architecture and particularly settlements evolution was significantly strengthened by outcomes which were realized by M. Dohnal within the DHE and which represent par excellence an interdisciplinary link of ethnological research with archaeology and settlement geography (Dohnal 2006, 2009, 2012, 2013; Dohnal – Škabrada 2015).

M. Dohnal uses mentioned disciplines while combining both the heuristic (study of old maps and written sources, non-destructive archaeological research

and ethnographic records of the impact of agriculture and social relations in the form of settlements and fields) and analytical and interpretive approaches (archeological and geographic modeling of landuse, statistical methods). Moreover particularly taking into account the latest findings of the British settlement history and archaeology (Dohnal 2011).

In the monitored period, F. Bahenský's specialisation oscillated between intensive heuristic work on ethnocartographic elaboration of vernacular achitecture and synthesis of its historical development within the work *The Comprehensive History of the Czech Crown Countries* (Tyller et al. 2014). Simultaneously, since he is the only expert for these issues in the Czech Republic he was provided space by the DHE, to develop themes connected with ethno-emancipatory efforts, national and regional politics, etc. in the territory of the former USSR which repeatedly reached the phase of monographic elaboration (Bahenský 2010a, 2010b; Bahenský et al. 2010) and were supported by grants (the project of the Czech Science Foundation *National politics in the USSR in 1922–1953*, 2008–2010).

Traditional oral folklore

Within the framework of oral-folkloristic research represented in the field of the DHE mainly by the solitary personality of J. Otčenášek, but also by L. Petráňová's contributions (2009), the Department activity was focused on widely understood ethnonarratology with respect to demographic and migration aspects of issues, particularly, on Czech folk fairytales and humorous stories and further on recent folklore phenomena. At a theoretical level, fairytale research was presented in a monograph by J. Otčenášek (2012a), while this publication also contains a Czech modification of the classic Uther catalogue of fairytales sujets. Moreover, J. Otčenášek added knowledge components about fairytales to a new publication of older work, made by D. Klímová, a classic in her field (Klímová – Otčenášek 2012). Both publications contain also maps resembling the localities of oral folk research and linking folk research with the central ethnocartographic focus of the DHE (see also Tangherlini 2010). When exploring folklore, J. Otčenášek focused on historical issues (Otčenášek 2011b, 2012c) and issues of new media (Otčenášek 2007). His activity was also noticeable while preparing The Ethnographic Encyclopaedia of Bohemia, Moravia and Silesia (Lidová kultura 2007) or historically conceived articles about Czech-German relations (Otčenášek 2005, 2006, 2011a) and numerous translations (for example Otčenášek - Kindlerová 2006).

Based on long-term international cooperation and with an emphasis on comparative study of oral folklore in Central and Eastern Europe, J. Otčenášek initiated a new edition of expert lexicons whose aim was to characterize the recent state of oral folklore research in selected countries of this region. The first volume was made in cooperation with the associate institute of the Bulgarian Academy of Science in Sofia (Otčenášek – Baeva 2013). The science-popularizing project *ETNOFOLK* also had a supremely international conception coordinated by J. Otčenášek and was focused on documentation and popularization of folk culture in Central Eastern Europe (Otčenášek 2012b, 2013; <www.etnofolk.eu>).

The study of spiritual culture and customs, traditional religiosity and pilgrimage tradition

Research of folk religiosity and pilgrimage tradition is dominated within the DHE by Markéta Holubová, who during comparative research of pilgrimage peregrination mainly in 17th and 18th century up until 21st century, emphasises in response to foreign research (Assmann 1979; Julia 2000) application of the ethnocartographic method and apart from many studies (for example Gaži et. al. 2010; Holubová 2012a, 2011a) she also prepared a separate volume of the ethnographic atlas (Holubová 2009a), an interdisciplinary scientific conference resulting in a representative publication (Holubová - Suchomelová 2014), a prestigious almanac (Doležal et al. 2006) and a monograph (Holubová 2015). Moreover, this author systematically and interdisciplinary researches the effects of the Jesuits Order in Bohemia and its influence on traditional forms of religiosity and pilgrimage culture in the Baroque period. In particular, this research is based on a profound prosopographic analysis of evidential sources of the Jesuits Order concerning pilgrimage residencies (e.g. Holubová 2013, 2014, 2009b; Holubová - Fechtnerová 2006). Since 2009 there has been an external cooperation with the Historical Institute of CAS where M. Holubová participates in creating a bio-bibliographic database of monks in the Czech Countries in the Early Modern Period (http://reholnici.hiu.cas.cz/katalog).

Not an insignificant part of folk spiritual culture and religiosity stretching to folklore, literature and "high culture" were broadsides. M. Holubová also deals with their cataloguing and interpretation from modern positions (for example through gender studies – see the project GA CAS in 2006–2008 *The Society and a Woman in Broadsides from the Gender Point of View*) and recently within the complex academic *Strategy 21*. Also here the DHE reached publishing success, both in cataloguing and in interpretation, where the broadsides were integrated into broader socio-cultural and geographical contexts (for example Holubová 2012b, 2011b; Holubová et al. 2008; Kopalová – Holubová 2008).

As far as spiritual culture, family and annual customs and also broader and more modern (micro-historically) everydayness is concerned, the most significant personality is L. Petráňová, who managed the DHE until 2010. Her research in the described period pointed especially to systematic elaboration of significant aspects of folk spiritual culture. With this research, the author de facto exhausted the possibilities of the research into and the interpretation of such aspects in the ethnological and historical perspective. Again, these were projects within a common programme of the DHE and also specialised grants (the project of Czech Science Foundation 2007-2009 The Wedding as a Traditional Organisation of Family Relationships). Research concerned not only wedding habits in Bohemia and in the world (Petráňová 2012; Petráňová 2010; Petráňová 2009, Petráňová 2007), but also all spheres of annual customs, culture or traditional food and nutrition, which were elaborated as items of The Ethnographic Encyclopaedia of Bohemia, Moravia and Silesia (Lidová kultura 2007) by L. Petráňová and also in The Comprehensive History of the *Czech Crown Land* (Tyllner et al. 2014). The author further observed traditional guild and house symbolics (Petráňová 2008). Entirely unique is her systematic elaboration of micro-history of folk culture in a selected region (Petráň and Petráňová 2011) which might be compared with the most quality works (for example Medick 1997; Schlumbohm 1997) ever presented within the whole of Europe. In the DHE L. Petráňová is also intensively involved in international research into folk material culture, mainly food and nutrition (Oddy -Petráňová 2005).

A partial but very hopeful counterpart to L. Petráňová's approach seems to be research results by Alexandra Šikulová, who approached folk culture research primarily from the position of recent historical demography (Šikulová 2013), which means epistemology sensitive for time-spatial changes of former populations.

Folk visual art culture

Spiritual culture in general, religiosity and pilgrimage culture are tightly linked with the folk visual art sphere and annual customs, studied within the DHE by Luboš Kafka and L. Petráňová. Both researchers focused on using audiovisuals and L. Kafka prepared (topic, a script, direction), partly within the grant project called *The Living Human Treasures – Bearers of Tradition II* – several series of uncompromisingly scientific but simultaneously art ethnographic film documentaries dedicated especially to traditional folk crafts, recent relicts of folk visual art and traditional technology and annual customs issues (Kafka – Petráň 2008, 2010a, 2010b). Preparation of several successful exhibitions is more one of the popularizing activities, but one which is essential for understanding L. Kafka's theme.

The most systematic attention was paid by L. Kafka to folk under-painting on glass, where he is one of the most reputable European experts (Kafka 2005, 2007) and also to folk sculptures or religious paintings on furniture. Consistently, he developed a study of pilgrimage art as one of the key performances of human religiosity, art and also as a typical result of mobility and spatial relations in traditional culture, which he completed by publishing several excellent monographs and other works (Kafka 2011; Kafka – Petráň 2009; Kafka et al. 2009). His crucial outputs summarizing the issues of folk visual art can be found in the relevant chapters of a monograph by Tyllner et al. (2014).



Wardrobe with four religious teachers (St. Gregorius, St. Ambrosius, St. Augustin, St. Hieronymus), Cheb region, dated 1812. Private property. Photo D. Illner.



Screen (so called "koutro") for partition of puerpera's bed from the rest of the living room. South Bohemia, 1st half of the 19th century. Museum in Milevsko. Photo D. Illner.



Our Lady Auxiliary. Oil painting on canvas, author: František Hána (1804–1877), Blatnice pod Svatým Antonínkem, South Moravia, Hodonín discrict, mid 19th century. Private property. Photo L. Kafka.



Field research on traditional charcoal production in piles. Pasul Rotunda, Maramures county, Romania. Photo J. Woitsch 2008.



"Forman" carriage with load pulled by four. Entry in the memorial book from 1612. Prague Municipal Archives, manuscript no. 7962.



Timbered farmhouse from the end of the 18th century called "Kopicův statek". An epitome of vernacular architecture of the Upper Jizera region. Kacanovy, Semily discrict, Czech Republic. Photo J. Woitsch 2006.



A map from the Ethnographic atlas of Bohemia, Moravia and Silesia (Vol. 6) depicting the catchment area of the Virgin Mary of Svatá Hora pilgrimage site in the Baroque period. Compiled by M. Holubová 2008.

Research Themes and Activities of the Brno Branch of the Institute of Ethnology, CAS between 2005 and 2015

Jana Pospíšilová et al.²⁵

The Brno branch's thematic focus is varied but it has the features of a coherent unit with regard to the fact that the Brno branch is a reduced counterpart / pendant of the Prague Institute, including the library and the documentary collection. However, some themes are peculiar solely to the Brno Institute. As to the territory concerned, the branch concentrates on Moravia and Silesia, or better said on Central and South-Eastern Europe with an overlap to the Balkans. The contemporary research focus of the branch is determined by developments in ethnology as a discipline, its profile and possibilities provided by the institutional and grant flow of funds.

The Brno branch scientific work focuses on ethnological, ethno-musicological and historiographic themes and research into the history of ethnology. It searches the everyday life and culture of local, social and ethnic groups in the contemporary urban and rural settings. We research the identity-forming processes on examples of minority groups defined by their region, nationality, language and confession, both in Moravian regions and in Brno in the cases of the Roma community and the German minority, as well as the Czechspeaking inhabitants in South-Eastern Europe (especially in the area of Banat).

The permanent employees' work includes archiving documents from field research and preparation of materials for source and popular-scientific editions of folklore and biographic sources.

Continuing the previous experience from the last years, the Brno team of researchers is used to working together on different projects. Working in a team and in pairs is an integral part of what we do. Since the times of Karel Vetterl (1898–1979), the head of the branch and an important personality of

²⁵ Other colleagues – Karel Altman, Věra Frolcová, Jana Nosková, Michal Pavlásek, Marta Toncrová, Lucie Uhlíková – are co-authors of the chapter.

Czech ethno-musicology, i.e. since the mid-20th century, the institution has sustained the continuing sense of togetherness showing that together we can do more than everyone individually (Sirovátka 1978).

Ethnomusicological Research

Since the formation of the institution (1905), ethnomusicological research has focused on collecting folklore material, then classifying (cataloguing) and processing and publishing it whereby the latter activity copied the societal need, i.e. higher or lower interest in folklore, to a certain extent. We have published nearly 7 000 songs to date. Priority was given to regional and – to a smaller extent – local editions. The results of the study of particular song genres (harvest songs, yodelling songs, folk spiritual songs and carols) – except love songs and ballads – and long-term systematic research into particular bearers of song traditions were presented in the form of studies. In the field of musical folkloristics, the branch continued to study the place of singing in society and the transformations in the song repertoire structure, to research music taste (also e.g. by means of a sound questionnaire) and the production of new songs and to observe the task and place of music folklore in the life of an individual and a particular community (small groups).

In principle, all the above objectives have been contained in the activity of ethnomusicologists at the Brno academic institution in the course of the last ten years. The results aimed at availability of collected material (Bimková -Císaríková 2008; Toncrová - Uhlíková 2010; Císaríková - Marada 2011; Uhlíková - Pavlicová 2011a; Toncrová - Smutná 2011, 2013, 2015), corresponding research (e.g. structure of melody and text - Frolcová 2012b, variability - Toncrová 2013, song text and dialect – Toncrová – Uhlíková 2011, folk song as a source for the study of cultural stereotypes – Toncrová 2006b; Uhlíková 2006b, 2009b) and recording techniques, and development in edition activity (transformations in recording methods, critique of older written sources - Janáček 2009, and re-recording of old sound records - Procházková et al. 2012 etc.) are supplemented by research work in the field. This focuses on transformations in ability to sing, repertoire and music taste of respondents from different age groups, research into traditional bearers and individuals and collectives from the area of the folklore movement, study of instrumental groupings performing folklore music, and other themes, as it did in the past as well (Toncrová 2009a, 2009b, 2010; Uhlíková 2006a, 2009b; Pavlicová – Uhlíková 2011b, 2013).

At present, the field research carried out by ethnomusicologists focuses on the study of ethno-cultural traditions. The Czech ethnological literature mainly began to use this term more only in the last decade. We also published works whose titles contain this phrase: *Etnokulturní tradice v současné společnosti* [Ethno-Cultural Traditions in Contemporary Society] (Brno 2007) and *Vývojo-vé proměny etnokulturní tradice* [Developmental Transformations in Ethno-Cultural Tradition] (Brno 2008). Today's ethnology does not primarily research expressions of traditional folk culture, but generally the everyday life of individuals, which also covers many expressions of mass culture; the folklore expressions are studied as a peculiarity of certain communities as well as a kind of social communication.

In the field, we can find continual, interrupted or fully new traditions – their function, however, is identical or very similar and their bearer (of course, taking into account the transformation of society and social context) remains the same.

Regarding the study of transformation in ethno-cultural traditions, we are interested in information about the researched socio-cultural phenomena or the expressions of culture of individuals, local communities and groups of interest which are aimed – to a larger or smaller extent – at maintaining the ethno-cultural traditions and their public presentation (adult or children's folklore ensembles, men and women's choirs, brass, cimbalom and other music bands, local clubs of voluntary fire-fighters, children's and young people's church choirs etc.)

The current research into ethno-cultural traditions, carried out by the Brno academic institution, covers study of men's folklore choirs and transformations in brass music in the ethnographic areas of Slovácko and Walachia, research into song repertoires of the youngest generation (Toncrová 2006a), observation concerning the place of musical folklore in reviving and developing new ethno-cultural traditions (Uhlíková – Pavlicová 2014; Uhlíková 2015), research into the relations between profane and spiritual singing and clarification of spiritual song transmission from printed sources to oral traditions of the Czech lands and their folklorization. This theme was formulated as a draught for interdisciplinary studies (Frolcová 2013a) while Slavonic comparative studies of Western-Slavic folklore are offered in Brno as well (Frolcová 2013b).

Preparation of the editions gave us time to pause and reflect on modern ways of publishing song sources. We indicated this difficulty in one of the Institute's publications – the collective monograph *Hudební a taneční folklor* v ediční praxi [Musical and Dance Folklore in Editorial Practice] (Uhlíková et al. 2011) in which contributions written by colleagues from abroad were also published.²⁶

²⁶ The publication submits a basic overview of editorial events in the realm of musical and dance folkloristics (written, sound, pictorial, film and digital ones). However, its major mission is to formulate and explain the difficulties connected with editions of folk songs and dances. It summarizes the difficulties resolved in the past, gathers basic information, often scattered, and reflects the current development in the given field.
Placing digitized sources on the Internet has recently become a boom. Institutions like ours are under quite logical pressure from the public that requires the collected material to be published in its digitized form. We have made accessible an online overview of hand-written song collections from the archive of the Brno branch – this overview is divided according to locations (every entry contains a sign, number of songs, date of collecting and collector's name).²⁷

The tasks that should be implemented soon in the field of ethnomusicological work in Brno include first of all the digitalization of all written and sound records with music folklore. The safeguarding of the hitherto collected material could be considered an essential problem. The implementation of this task is beyond the financial means of the institution, yet it is among the most important objectives and is at the forefront of the Institute's attention and time.

Historical Ethnology

The Brno branch also directs its attention to historical ethnology in the Czech and European context. Historical ethnology deals with the present as an element of evolution, using comparative and retrospective research methods. The focus is on cultural tradition and identity as reflected by social and spiritual cultures entering the process of a multi-cultural development. Special attention is paid to social contacts, the relations between profane and religious cultural elements, reflection on the Christian religion, and contribution of folk culture traditions to the rituals of family, Easter and Christmas cycles. This results in case studies and monographs which present regional, national and European dimensions of folk culture and their social and communication features (Večerková – Frolcová 2010; Navrátilová 2012).

Historical ethnology also comprises study of censorship in editorial practice of the 19th century (Uhlíková 2012, 2015) and ethnic stereotypes (Altman 2010a), context studies of songs related to the cult of the Virgin Mary and the Cyrillo–Methodian tradition (Frolcová 2014a; Frolcová 2014), study of relicts of paganism in folk culture traditions (Navrátilová 2005), selected issues of gender studies (Navrátilová 2007) and some chapters published in local monographs on Moravian villages and small towns (Altman 2010b).

²⁷ Electronic files with collections of hand-written folk songs categorised as to the location of recording. Retrieved from http://147.231.205.28/>.

Urban Ethnology

Ethnological urban research began in Brno in the 1950s and its first stage was crowned by the publication *Město pod Špilberkem* [A Town below Spilberk] (Sirovátka et al. 1993) that included the basic fields of traditional ethnological study as well as some interesting outreach typical for town environments. In its first stages, urban research focused mainly on the research into the elements of rural culture and phenomena of traditional culture within the town environment, as well as research into closed social groups. Recent works written by Brno ethnologists have followed new trends in the development of urban ethnology whereby the town is not understood as a marked-off spatial unit ("locus") but as a "focus" of research. "Urbanity", a new element in the research, is - as a category - formed by perception and experience in town spaces and it finds different expressions in perception, evaluation, behaviour and social organization, and is thus closely related to the town as a physical structure, but not limited to it (Hengartner - Kokot - Wildner 2000: 8-9). In the last ten years, the historical perspective has been dominating the Brno ethnologists' research into town (interest in town culture in the 19th and 20th century prevails). The research is focused on inter-ethnic relations, different aspects of every-day life and social culture as well as on generations of children (more in the chapter about research into children's culture).

Karel Altman has long devoted himself to the cultural-historical approach to the peculiar theme of public houses. He develops his research in monographs (Altman 2008, 2012, 2015) and scientific essays aimed at public houses as places of communication and narration, medieval roots of regular customer tradition, relations of public houses to tourism, and the Czech national movement in Moravia etc. (Altman 2009, 2012b).

Collective memory and cities constitute a specific theme of urban studies developed in the Brno branch. This field does not only include analyses of urban organization, but the analyses are included in the experience of city's inhabitants whereby especially qualitative research methods are applied. The collective monograph *Paměť města* [The Memory of the Town] (Nosková – Ferencová 2009) was the most important outcome in this field which, however, also includes other outcomes concerning the city of Brno and describing its multi-ethnicity and multi-culturality as well creation of local and national identities, be it in the field of public celebrations (Nosková – Kubíčková 2008a, 2008b), "places of memory" and urban symbols (Nosková 2010a, 2010b, 2013), culture of every-day life of the German minority in the 1920s–1940s (Nosková – Čermáková 2013) or the specific theme of Brno downtown (Nosková 2009). Research into the town of Brno in the period of socialism, a part of which was undertaken in cooperation with the Centre for Oral History of the Institute of Contemporary History CAS, has processed only a small part of the issue-research focused on the every-day life of Brno dissidents (Nosková 2006b) and public engagement of Brno inhabitants in a corresponding historical period (Nosková 2009c). Other themes concerning the socialistic town are processed in partial studies (Nosková 2006b, 2009a, 2009b, 2009c).

Transformations of the town in the period of post-socialistic development became a research theme of the international inter-disciplinary project *Social and Spatial Consequences of Demographic Change in East Central European Cities. Potentials and Limits of a Transfer of Knowledge from Western Europe and Eastern Germany (2006–2009).* In this project, Brno scientists paid attention to transformations in the Brno "inner city", neighbour relations between the different types of houses (Mair – Pospíšilová 2011), and an example of the Roma living in a rental house (Brožovičová – Pospíšilová 2015) that points out the connection between gentrification of the inner city, social mobility and life strategy of its inhabitants.

Research into Children and Youth, their Culture and Folklore

This theme has been in the Brno branch since the 1950s (Hrabalová 1959); research carried out within ten years resulted in a common project (Pospíšilová ed. 2003). The theme is still alive (Pospíšilová 2012) and research into children's folklore and culture continues with regard to an inter-disciplinary approach (Pospíšilová – Uhlíková 2011, 2014).

This year, the monograph *Děti v Brně* [Children in Brno] (Pospíšilová – Altman eds. 2015) will be published as a result of collective cooperation. The publication is focused on Czech and German children in the period from the late-19th century until the mid-20th century. The chapters of the monograph follow the position and role of children in family settings, their upbringing and entertainment. Attention is paid to the history and importance of Czech schools in Brno as well as to the Czech-German relations in the development of the education system. One chapter, supported by autobiographical materials, is devoted to the children of German inhabitants in Brno in the period between the world wars.

Studies grounded in field research, memory literature and archival documents (Altman 2014a) deal with Czech *tramping* movement as a specific phenomenon of young people in the Czech Republic (Czechoslovakia) from the perspective of ethnology.

History of Ethnology

The research into the history of ethnology in Moravia, especially from the beginning of the interest in folk culture until 1918, is a follow-up to the above research. A selective bibliography concerning this theme (Altman 2005) and two university textbooks, whose time range exceeded the above horizon (Altman 2013, 2014), were published. Studies devoted to pioneers and leading personalities in Moravian and Bohemian ethnography (Altman 2006, 2008) and to the history of folkloristics (Pospíšilová – Toncrová 2008; Šrámková 2008) were other resulting publications.

Encyclopaedia entries published in the book *Lidová kultura*. *Národopisná* encyklopedie Čech, Moravy a Slezska [Folk Culture. The Ethnographic Encyclopaedia of Bohemia, Moravia and Silesia] (2007²⁸) relate to the history of the discipline as well.

Special attention was paid to the history of ethnology in the period of socialism. For example, research into the borderland in the 1950s and 1970s – 1980s was assessed (Nosková 2011a, 2011b) and an example of socialistic competition at an academic institution was prepared as a case study (Nosková – Pospíšilová 2008). Video-interviews with personalities in ethnology (Kosíková – Pospíšilová – Pavlásek) document the ups and downs in the development of the discipline in that period and in the period of post-socialistic transformation. Interviews with Karel Pavlištík, Alena Jeřábková, Věra Kovářů, Josef Jančář, Olga Hrabalová and Miloš Melzer were processed and authorized.

The Czechs Abroad

The research into minorities defined as to their nationality, language and confession, especially the Czech-speaking inhabitants in South-Eastern Europe symbolizes the return to the theme "the Czechs abroad" to which the Brno branch research fellows paid attention in the 1990s, and partially also with representatives of the Prague Department of Ethnic Studies (Brouček 1996; Uherek 2011). In this case, actors' representations of the social world, i.e. the emic perspective, are taken into consideration (Pospíšilová 2010). The idea is to re-evaluate critically the hitherto dominating position of methodological nationalism in the research into the theme of expatriates and migration in the Balkans (Pavlásek 2012, 2013). The research is conducted with stress put

²⁸ This encyclopaedia also includes entries by other authors from the Brno branch. These cover mainly a wide spectrum of traditional intangible folk culture.

on the diachronous and the comparative perspective of ethnological research as well as on the contemporary coexistence of ethnic and confessional groups, i.e. the synchronous perspective, whereby the latter one is supported by participant observations. For this reason, the research procedures are influenced and inspired by the technique and theory of social anthropology – emphasis on understanding approach, structural analyses, etc. (Pavlásek 2015). Alongside all the research, audio-visual data are collected to allow a representative treatment of biographical and narrative sources relating to the everyday life and culture of the Czech minority in Serbia, Romania and Croatia in the collections of the Brno branch. These collections also can serve the general public.

Editing and Audio-Visual Works

There are some questions connected with publishing the archive materials. They concern the fact that this is a costly and time-consuming activity and also who would use the corresponding materials and in which way. As it turns out during the preparation of every printed edition, the older written records cannot be made available to the public without a critique of the source, and editorial notes and studies explaining or rather emphasizing to the lay user the different features of folk song, such as disharmony between the song language and the local dialect, very varied language expressions and vocabulary of the singers (words coming from Slovak, Czech, Polish, German or Hungarian in the text, different pronunciation and forms of the same word within one strophe or song), differences in metrics and rhythm of the melody if performed vocally or if performed with an instrumental accompaniment, and individual relation of a bearer to adding repetitions, melody motion and rhythms of particular strophes.

Besides editions of folk songs, the Brno ethnologists have also prepared editions in the few last years which make other important sources from the Brno branch collections available to the professional and the lay public. These editions include folk prose (personal experience narratives) that has been recently published only rarely in the Czech Republic, and written or spoken autobiographical sources. An edition of narrated stories and traditional genres from Southern Walachia (Pospíšilová 2014) makes up the first group; the other group contains an edition of the life story of Anežka Šulová, a collector from North-Western Moravia (Melzer 2014) and an edition comprising interviews conducted with Brno inhabitants of German origin. The last one is aimed at every-day life in Brno between wars and during the Second World War (Nosková – Čermáková 2013). Biographical sources in the collections of the Institute of Ethnology have different forms: interviews acquired by the biographical method or oral history method, written life memories and biographies (see more about these two methods and sources in Nosková 2006, 2007, 2009e). Collecting and publishing in editions of the above sources will be one of the basic tasks of the Brno branch. These sources are irreplaceable for research into every-day life, for research into experience and interpretations which individuals attach to their own behaviour and that of others within a social structure – thus they show quite a lot of things about culture, which is the basic interest of ethnology.

Publications by the Institute archivist (Zobačová 2005, 2005a, 2008) about Oldřich Sirovátka's research work (1925–1992), about his regional research and his share in the modern development of Slovakian folkloristics are an example of the work with personal collections stored in the institution.

Other song sources are prepared for publication: the third volume of an edition of songs from the ethnographic area of Podhorácko (Tišnovsko), an edition of profane and spiritual songs from Vnorovy (the ethnographic area of Strážnické Dolňácko) and Javorník and gipsy songs recorded by Josef Černík in the ethnographic area of Slovácko just before the First World War. After the edition of the oldest sound recordings of Moravian profane and spiritual singing²⁹, another re-recording of older sound recordings from Moravia is planned.

The collection and creation of audio-visual data in the field is connected with shooting **ethnological films**. J. Kosíková and M. Pavlásek took part in several film shows and international film festivals of ethnological documentaries (Belgrade, Göttingen, Academia Film Olomouc) where they introduced edited documentaries about every-day life in contemporary Serbia (Kosíková 2007, 2009), about the lives of Czechs and Germans in Serbian Vojvodina (Pavlásek 2012) and about the "Czech" village of Vojvodovo in Bulgaria (Pavlásek 2013). Other documents deal with the memories and life stories of one exceptional performer and his surviving contemporaries who live to see a hundred years (Kosíková 2010, 2013).

²⁹ Edition Vzaty do fonografu. Slovenské a moravské písně v nahrávkách Hynka Bíma, Leoše Janáčka a Františky Kyselkové z let 1909–1912. Published in English: As Recorded by the Phonograph. Slovak and Moravian Songs Recorded by Hynek Bím, Leoš Janáček and Františka Kyselková in 1909–1912. Brno: Etnologický ústav AV ČR, v. v. i., Praha – pracoviště Brno 2012.

Cooperation with the Institute of European Ethnology at Masaryk University

Within the European project – *The Education for Competitiveness Operational Programme* – implemented by four ethnological institutions under the leadership of the Institute of European Ethnology of Masaryk University, between 2012 and 2014 the research fellows of the Brno branch led some thematically defined field research which the students of ethnology carried out in Moravian regions. This project resulted in five methodological handbooks (Altman 2014; Nosková 2014; Pospíšilová – Uhlíková 2014; Toncrová – Uhlíková 2014; Toncrová, Š. 2014). In cooperation with the university department, several workshops were organized. One of them resulted in proceedings with papers focused on qualitative methods in ethnological research (Pavlásek – Nosková 2013).

During the last decade, lectures by several research fellows from the Brno branch have become both obligatory and elective themes strongly anchored in the study of ethnology at Masaryk University.



Singer Vladimír Jirčík, Doubravník, Western Moravia. Field research Marta Toncrová. Photo J. Pospíšilová 2012.



"Mozeka Kohótek" music band from Boskovice at the event "Tree planting by the blinds at the Blanik Knights' Cave", Rudka u Kunštátu, Western Moravia. Photo J. Pospíšilová 2013.



Shrovetide door-to-door procession inscribed on the UNESCO Representative List of the Intangible Cultural Heritage of Humanity. Studnice (Hlinecko Region), Bohemian-Moravian Border, research J. Nosková. Photo K. Císaríková 2002.



Village feast. "Tetky" Women's Choir is waiting for the arrival of the village youth. Uherský Ostroh, South-Eastern Moravia. 2012. Photo J. Pospíšilová 2013.



Devils from Southern Wallachia – a masked procession around the village of Nedašov, Eastern Moravia, on St. Nikolas Day. Photo J. Pospíšilová 2014.



Girls' play. Vsetín, Wallachia. Photo J. Pospíšilová 2014.



Homework. Research into Roma living in the town centre. Cejl No. 75, Brno. Photo J. Pospíšilová 2009.



Josefa Klepáčková, a member of the Czech community in the village of Veliko Središte in Serbian Banat, Vojvodina, Serbia. Photo M. Pavlásek 2013.



"Balkan Route" – refugees walking to Europe, Greek-Macedonian border, Eidomeni-Gevgelija. Photo M. Pavlásek, August 2015.



Employees of the Brno Branch of the Institute of Ethnology, CAS: Michal Pavlásek, Marta Toncrová, Karel Altman, Lucie Uhlíková, Jana Nosková, Věra Frolcová, Šárka Toncrová (top row from the left-hand side), Andrea Zobačová, Jana Pospíšilová, Vendula Škrabalová, Alexandra Navrátilová (bottom row from the left-hand side). Institute of Ethnology, CAS 2015.

Department of Music History

A decade retrospective 2005–2014

Jarmila Procházková

The Department of Music History (DMH) continues the existence and activities of the former Institute of Musicology ("Ústav pro hudební vědu"). This originally independent institute, founded in 1962, undertook a complete transformation at the end of the 20th century.³⁰ In the 1990s, most of its members left, and after complete changes in personnel, the institution became a part of the Institute of Ethnology, CAS, in 2003 as the Department of Music History (originally called "Oddělení hudební historie", from 2007 "Kabinet hudební historie").

In the new environment and new personnel structure, the head of the DMH, Jarmila Gabrielová, set realistic ambitions and goals. It was obvious that engagement in the wider scope of musicological disciplines and subdisciplines was unsustainable, and therefore, music history, as the fundamental and most comprehensive discipline, was chosen for the department's new title. However, from the very beginning, a huge emphasis on questions and tasks beyond the imaginary borders of music history research led to larger-scale interdisciplinary projects. The fusion of the Department with the Institute of Ethnology created suitable conditions for cooperative projects with ethnomusicological departments in Prague and Brno.

During the same period, the DMH began systematic work on music critical editions and publication, especially preparing music of the 17th and 18th centuries and the New Dvořák Edition, which was initiated by the Editio Bärenreiter Kassel with support of Czech and international experienced editors by the end of the 1990s.

³⁰ In the hardest normalisation times (1972–1990), the musicology department was part of the *Institute of Art History of the CAS*.

The above mentioned personnel changes caused a fundamental generation change, and major opportunities opened for young musicology graduates from Prague, Brno and Olomouc universities in the first decade of the 21st century. Throughout the past years, these musicologists have distinguished themselves through their specialisations. Some of them are already widelyrespected specialists whose work contributes to the discipline's international profile. Their individual work schedules unfold from a policy of institutional tolerance, which was not always the case, especially before 1989, when all individual activities were mostly supressed for the sake of unified long-term "state tasks". The academic musicological institute in 1960's and 1970's was considered an authoritative and leading institution of the discipline, and was responsible for fulfilling concrete expectations and plans (Poledňák – Kuna 1994).

Current reflections concerning the borders between individuality and teamwork, accompanied by consciousness of long-term and short-term goals, are certainly not just a feature of musicologists. From the 1990's onward, the grant system in the Czech Republic provided independence for more successful scholars; however, at the same time, it harmed the fluency of systematic and long-term planned projects in smaller academic groups. Hand in hand with this process, a competitive atmosphere gradually developed among different academic institutions, leading to a sometimes deficient flow of information and parallel submissions of the same work.

In the DMH, the balance between prestructured and unfolding research is considered one solution to this situation: The Dvořák team continues in thorough research of sources such as the creation of the New Dvořák Edition, which is the collective goal of the whole team; and members of the 17th and 18th centuries team are focused on their individual specialised topics. In accordance with the Academy's long term policy, the Department's focus is oriented on Czech themes, which contain not only music culture in the Czech lands, including its multinational aspects, but also the reception and expansion of music beyond the borders of the Czech lands. Conferences hold great importance for fostering international connections between academics, and many activities of this kind are organised or cooperated by workers of the DMH. They always sought to follow academic discourse on an international level, and seeks to continue in this tendency.

Musicology is a field with a fine line between theory and practice. The majority of academic musicologists also maintain a very close relationship with performing music, which is especially important for work on preparing music editions, and they are also well informed about the current music scene. They also use their knowledge, objectivity, and cultural overview for the work of popularisation, especially in cooperation with Czech Radio broadcasts.

Since 2009, many activities for the general public such as lectures, chamber concerts and exhibitions take place in the library of the DMH. The library is located in the basement of the main building of DMH at Puškinovo náměstí 9, where it also underwent a thorough reconstruction, financially supported by CAS. The head of the library, responsible for the library and study room service, including the activities for general public, is Jana Vozková. Series of lectures and academic social events are frequently organised. The DMH is also residence of the Czech Musicological Society (Česká společnost pro hudební vědu).

To a certain degree, the current position of musicology among other disciplines in context of the Academy as well as within the whole system of academic sphere shows the general relationship of society to its values, usually connected with "art music". Even this field provides many tasks for musicologists. Long-term understaffing in the discipline reflects in uncatalogued, unresearched and unexplored collections of sources and personal inheritances, which at first might create an impression of vain hope and unmanageability. However, part of these rather practical and strategical tasks is also to increase alignment with and exploration of modern technique potential, which opens new possibilities for academic evidence, research and evaluation of many music sources.

17th and 18th Century Music

Václav Kapsa – Tomáš Slavický

Specialised research on music and musical life in the 17th and 18th centuries developed from the very beginning of the foundation of the Institute of Musicology of the Czechoslovakian Academy of Sciences in the 1960's. Individual work as well as teamwork always focused on systematic research of historical sources, and was conceived with regard to reciprocal coordination with other institutions (universities, museums and libraries). In the last decade, the scope was augmented from "Czech" music in the ethnic sense towards its broader meaning of music which originated and was performed in the Czech lands, and which is involved in large-scale communication networks. The emphasis is laid on integration of international and interdisciplinary projects.

The current research team attempts to make provisions for the necessary width of the research field and human resources; therefore, it tends towards a natural division of labour, which enables covering the fullest spectrum of themes, thanks to its members' reciprocally-coordinated specialisation. In recent years, the most important results were gained by Mozart research and research of Italian opera (Milada Jonášová – see below), music ensembles within aristocratic households (Václav Kapsa), music culture and repertoire of religious orders (Michaela Freemanová, and since 2014, Jakub Michl) and by interdisciplinary hymnology (Tomáš Slavický). In the long-term point of view, one of the unifying team priorities is documentation of musical life and composition in 18th century Prague. Members of the team aim to respond to challenges in interdisciplinary and international cooperation, especially concerning participation at conferences and publishing projects. At the same time, they are involved in pedagogical and popularisation activities, where they present the results of their research to the general public.

New perspectives for work on traditional topics open with development of information technology and formerly–unprecedented opportunities in international research. The theme of aristocratic Kapellen in the Czech Lands has been researched particularly by Tomislav Volek, whose essential studies about this subject from the 1990's on have been based on much earlier archive research (Volek 1997). Especially thanks to the ongoing international cataloguing of music sources (RISM database), Václav Kapsa was able to follow

up Volek's archive research results with research on related music sources surviving in archive collections abroad (Kapsa 2010, 2012). Putting the heretofore-unnoticed music sources into context, for the 18th century music history in the Czech lands, opened a new chapter which until then had not been written (e.g. Kapsa 2009, 2014b).

Another typical feature of 17th and 18th century music research during the last decade is a focus on the period's musical culture and compositional production in the Czech lands. The banality of this statement is illusive, because the research of many scholars in last decades was oriented towards the phenomenon "Czech music" rather than "music in the Czech lands". While research issues formerly concerned fist of all the output of the "Czech musical emigration"³¹, in the last decade music created within the Czech lands was accounted for, regardless of the native language of the composers. Josef Brentner (1689–1742), a native of Dobřany and working in Prague, whose music was widespread all over the world as early as the time of its creation (in addition to central Europe, it was also known in Jesuit missions in South America) became one subject of detailed research. His work has provides excellent material for posing questions about compositional production, creative strategies and methods of distribution, circulation and reception of the repertoire at that time (Kapsa 2014a). However, the issue of Czech composers active abroad was not abandoned. In particular, Michaela Freemanová contributed with her studies about Czech sources on the life and work of Jan Ladislav Dusík and Jan Dismas Zelenka (Freemanová 2012, 2014). Naturally, the tasks as heuristic work on local collections of music, repertoire and music sources do not detract from the focus (Freemanová 2006, 2010a, b, 2012b, 2013a, b, Slavický 2014a).

The research developed most significantly in field of hymnology, which evolved in the musicological institute from time of its foundation. In that time, the works of Jaroslav Bužga, Marie Skalická and especially the internationallyrespected publication activity of Jan Kouba particularly contributed to its development. After a pause, this direction of research was renewed, especially thanks to new challenges brought by the generic need for interdisciplinary cooperation. An important impulse was caused by the coalescence of the musicological institute with the Institute of Ethnology (2003) and renewed contacts with ethnomusicological research. The interest of historians of literature and linguists in the revitalisation of interdisciplinary research of

³¹ Studies by Zdeňka Pilková and Jana Vojtěšková represented formerly this direction in research followed now especially by Michaela Freemanová.

baroque song culture played an important role. The first cooperativelyorganised interdisciplinary event was a conference dedicated to Fridrich Bridelius (Kutná Hora 2008), followed by publication project *Fridrich Bridelius: Jesličky, staré nové písničky.*³² The result is its first critical edition, which is a reader, philological and music edition, introducing the source in three dimensions (language, literary and musical), and aside of the critical commentary it involves a commented recording of the whole repertoire (Kosek et al. 2012).

Each of the members also focuses on necessary popularisation and pedagogical activities. The most significant results of this kind originate from long term cooperation with the music studio Radio 3-Vltava, especially with the production of spiritual music programmes (e. g. several seasons of series *Liturgical year*, or series *Spiritual Music*) and with the record company Supraphon (CD series *Music from Eighteenth-Century Prague*). Pedagogical activities involve guidance and opposition of diploma works, as well as external lectures at the musicological institutes (Charles University in Prague, Masaryk university in Brno), but also academical institutes of other fields (e. g. Institute of Czech Literature and Institute of Czech Language, Catholic Theological Faculty, or Paedagogical Faculty of Charles University).

³² The concept of the project is introduced and commented in Škarpová – Slavický 2008.

Research on Mozart

Milada Jonášová

The author's main focus is research on W. A. Mozart and on 18th century Italian opera. In her article "Mozart research is far from finished…", published in the Academic Bulletin (Jonášová 2006a), she treated the current state of publication of The New Mozart critical edition, which also contains sketches, fragments, a watermark catalogue of autographs etc. She represented the Institute of Ethnology ASCR when she organised the international conference "Bohemical Aspects of Mozart's Life and Work". Proceedings (416 pages) from this conference were published by her and Tomislav Volek in 2011, and also contain her article about an important new document, namely Josepha Duschek's will and inheritance documents (Jonášová 2011b).

In her other research, she focuses on early Prague manuscript copies of Mozart's works, which are currently held by different Czech, Austrian, German and Italian historical collections as well as archives in Switzerland, Denmark, Norway, England, USA and other countries. Research of this kind, belonging to the so called "Rezeptionsforschung", is extremely time-demanding due to detailed comparison of extensive music scores (one opera contains around 1200 pages) and research in archives. Her work has proved that particularily manuscript copies from the workshop of Anton Grams, a double-bass player in Prague's Italian opera, who was personally involved in Mozart's premiere opera performances in Prague, had an especially important role in early reception of Mozart's work. This research was supported by the Czech Science Foundation from 2009-2011 (The Period Copies of Mozart's Works of Bohemian Provenance in Czech, German and Austrian Aarchives) and 2012-2016 (The Significance of Prague's Copyist Workshops as a Center for the Dissemination of Mozart's Operas in Europe), also supported by Deutscher Akademischer Austauschdienst in 2011.

A number of studies arising from this research have been published in international Mozart proceedings. In her article *Mozarts La finta giardiniera 1796 in Prag und ein unbekanntes Fragment zur italienischen Version der Oper* (Jonášová 2006b), Jonášová can prove that on 10th March 1796 in the Prague theatre "U Hybernů", Mozart's opera *La finta giardiniera* was performed as a German singspiel under the name *Die Gärtnerin aus Liebe* as the eighth of Mozart's operas performed in Prague. In the Strahov monastery music collection, M. Jonášová found fragment of a score which contains the original version of this opera with numbers today lacking in Mozart's autograph. Another Prague manuscript score was discovered by her in the count Haugwitz archive at his mansion in Náměšť nad Oslavou. This version of the opera, with augmented orchestral accompaniment of several arias, was performed in the Theater an der Wien by René Jacobs in 2010 and the recording was published by Harmonia Mundi with Jonášová's commentary.

Two studies are dedicated to Mozart's opera Idomeneo: *Ilias Arie »Zeffiretti lusinghieri«. Eine Prager Einfügung im Idomeneo-Autograph* and *Das Orakel aus Mozarts »Idomeneo« in der Münchner Uraufführungspartitur und die frühen Prager Quellen.* It was proved by her research a) that Josepha Duschek had a significant rôle in publishing the first piano score of the opera and in the carving its plates for print in Leipzig in 1796, b) that one of Prague's musicians and friends of Mozart, Jan Křtitel Kuchař, with his knowledge of the composer's versions of the "Oracle", created a last one, which was later inserted into the Munich opera performance score, and happened to become part of the modern critical edition of this opera. In fact, it is written by a Prague musician (Jonášová 2010, 2011a).

Jonášová found the greatest international attention with her discovery of a document that could proof a performance of the Symphony G minor KV 550 in Vienna with the composer present. (For two centuries, scholars remained uncertain as to whether the symphony was played during Mozart's lifetime at all.) The evidence is given in a letter, discovered in Leipzig in the correspondence of the Prague musician Johann Wenzel with the local publisher Ambrosius Kühnel. When discussing the edition of his own piano score of the symphony in July 1802, Wenzel added, how he was told by Mozart that this symphony was performed at Baron van Swieten, but so miserably, that the composer left the room during the performance (Jonášová 2011c). A study on this topic was also published in the Newsletter of the Mozart Society of America (Jonášová 2012a).

Jonášová presented her new findings on an early Italian and Czech version of Mozart's German singspiel *Die Zauberflöte* at a Salzburg congress in October 2014.

The final result of her research project should be a monograph dedicated to Prague as an important centre from which Mozart's work disseminated by way of period manuscript copies.

The New Dvořák Edition

Jan Kachlík

The Department of Music History dedicates systematic and long-term focus to fundamental research on the work of Antonín Dvořák. The results of this research are important for preparing the New Dvořák Edition, involving the entirety of the composer's work, including his own versions, arrangements, fragments and unfinished compositions. The New Dvořák Edition (NDE) is conceived as a scholarly, historically-critical edition; at the same time it is intended to serve for music practice.

This extensive research and editorial project is already the second Dvořák project with large-scale collective results in the modern history of the CAS musicological department. The first project was not focused on Dvořák's composition, but sources referring to his life and work, i.e. correspondence and other written sources. It was initiated in 1980, based on the need to collect written sources, which were spread across the world, and to publish them. The edition, published from 1987 to 2004, contains ten volumes and it is valued as an extraordinary achievement, a fundamental collection of sources with a worthy number of previously-unpublished letters and other documents (Kuna 1987–2004).

The impulse for initiating the recent project focused on publishing Dvořák's compositions came not from the researchers, but from the publisher. The complete edition of Dvořák's work published in Prague from 1955 remained unfinished after work on the edition was interrupted in the 1980's. After a long privatisation process at the end of 1990's, Editio Bärenreiter Kassel overtook former Czech Editio Supraphon (former *Státní hudební vydavatelství*) including its archive and ongoing edition projects; therefore Bärenreiter also needed to face the question of publishing of Dvořák's works. After the international colloquium in Prague, May 1999³³, it was clear that the unfinished "old" complete edition did not suit the requirements of modern critical editions and thus that it made no sense to continue in the series. Consequently, it was necessary to consider a new complete edition, which would measure up to

³³ The issue of *Hudební věda* (vol. 37, 2000, no. 1–2: especially pp. 2–14) is dedicated to this theme.

the standards of contemporary music philology and serve as a model of quality to the top editorial projects such as the new complete editions of the works of Johannes Brahms, Robert Schumann and other European composers.

In the following years, these ideas began to take concrete shape and soon after that, the new series of Dvořák's compositions started to be prepared. As early as at the beginning of the first of the volumes it became clear rushing the necessary research was not possible, let alone focusing just on certain steps, or eliminating all the preparation and acceding directly to publication without the necessary support of new research. Together with preparing the editions of selected works and volumes, the NDE project increasingly focused on themes of fundamental research. Although the "work in progress" method was challenging, it brought certain advantages. Thanks to questions rising from ongoing editorial work matured systematic research of disparate issues (see Kachlík 2011a).

Recently, an extensive number of specialised studies have been dedicated to issues with which Dvořák research had never before dealt (see Gabrielová – Kachlík 2007, Kachlík 2009, and others). In terms of importance and dimensions, research focused on Dvořák's first and early prints dominated. In addition to published research results, NDE team started to build a documentary centre of Dvořák sources and internal databases. International colleagues also cooperated on a number of issues. An example of such beneficial cooperation is the organisation of the international symposium on issues of editing Dvořák's works in June 2008 at Akademie der Wissenschaften und der Literatur in Mainz (Schmitt 2008).

Knowledge gained from fundamental research was successfully applied in preparation of the edition. Before 2011, editorial manuscripts for more than ten titles were created within the scope of 1000 music scores and more than 500 text pages. Most of these were sent to print; however, due to disaccord with the publisher, they remained in the correction or editor's manuscript stages. Consequently, the Institute of Ethnology denounced the problematic general contract on publishing the NDE with Bärenreiter Praha in 2014.

In 2012, the NDE team accepted a proposal from the Czech Radio to realize the cooperative project of performing Dvořák's first opera, *Alfred*, for the Year of Czech Music in 2014, and took on the task of preparing the performance materials, including an edition of the original German text of the opera. It was a difficult task, but one which led to further discoveries. The concert performance during the international music festival "Dvořák's Prague" on 17th September 2014 became a cultural event of extraordinary significance, as the world premiere with the original German text. ³⁴ A live audio recording was taken from the concert and published on CD (Arco Diva). In the same year in cooperation with the Czech Radio two music editions were published, which provided access to the work for research and for the general public (Dvořák 2014 a, b).

The NDE team is well aware of demands which are currently made on modern critical editions in the best research institutes. Works by the most important composers are nowdays usually already accessible in the second complete edition, which provides a more authentic picture of composer's work in comparison to the "old" edition. Usually, more than a few decades have passed between the end of the old and the start of the new editions; sometimes as much as a century. The entirety of time between is usually filled with new research which is later crucial for the new edition. In the absence of this interval, Dvořák's case is somewhat different. Despite this somewhat difficult situation, the NDE team builds a good foundation for long term research and edition project. The support provided by Institute of Ethnology for this project is crucial. However, it will be equally important in the current time frame to gain more essential partners in order to realise this ambitious project.

³⁴ The only performance of the opera *Alfred* before 2014 happened in Olomouc in 1938, which was sung in the Czech translation. See Kratochvílová 2014.

Research on Janáček

Jarmila Procházková

In the DMH, long-term attention is given to the legacy of Leoš Janáček. In the last decade, Procházková has paid her attention to this composer. The 1990's heralded a new situation in Janáček research, thanks to discovery a then-unknown collection of his autographs and records of folk songs and dances. Within research of Janáček's autographs, this discovery raised the challenge of re-evaluating Janáček's compositions inspired by folklore, which in this case are directly coherent with newly-discovered antigraphs (Procházková 2011c).

During source research, previously known information was connected with newfound knowledge, and the fundamental focus became the parallel evaluation of the sources based on ethnomusicological parameters.

The result was the expanded critical edition of Janáček's piano arrangements of *National Dances in Moravia* (Janáček 2005), in which many pieces were published for the first time, including compositions never before reflected in the catalogue of composer's work.

In the case of the four-part *Suite op. 3* (Janáček 2011), the two movements, which used to be considered compositions of unclear origin and aim, were identified as directly relating to tunes of particular folk dances.

Together with music editions, a need for a new publication of Janáček's folkloric studies, articles and essays arose (Janáček 2009, eds. J. Procházková, M. Toncrová, J. Vysloužil), which linked up to an ongoing edition of composer's literary and theoretical work. This created a basis to define the complex connection and relations between the ethnomusicological approach and the composer's composition and literary work. For the first time, the critical reedition of the texts revealed the complete identification of the folklore records quoted in Janáček's studies.

The edition of folklore records was begun in 2006 with the publication of the first volume, which involved factual commentaries on the circumstances of their collection and documentation (Procházková 2006). Between the 26th to 27th September 2007, an international workshop, "The issues of editing music and dance folklore", exploring recent methodological trends in this area, was organised. According to the edition schedule, the second volume focuses on records from Northern Moravia and Silesia, and the third volume records

from Southern Moravia, Slovakia and miscellaneous. Soon afterwards it was revealed that the segment of sound records created by Janáček and his colleagues needed a specific sister-project involving presentation of the surviving phonographic cylinders, whose contents had previously remained unknown. For this purpose, an interdisciplinary method of cooperation with technical fields was chosen. The absence of an adequate specialised institution in the Czech Republic necessitated international expansion of the project, involving colleagues from the Phonogrammarchiv in Vienna. The international character was augmented by active participation of colleagues from the Slovak Academy of Sciences, who undertook evaluation of prevailing Slovak song material (Procházková et al. 2012).

After completing the collection and identification of the sounds, it was possible to evaluate the entire collection of Janáček's records and identify relations between written, visual and audible records. In the edition, a whole range of items has been submitted, involving both Janáček's complete, comprehensible records and descriptions, which had already started their own process of tradition and spontaneous returns to the "second existence of folklore", and also minimalistic or one-word remarks on the border of intelligibility. The essence of recorded phenomena has a variable character and its underdetermination is emphasized by the lack of synchronous comparative material. The data's expected interpretation is therefore provided, along with warnings concerning the comments' varying degrees of probability (Procházková 2011a, Kormaník 2013).

Further Research of the 19th and 20th Century Music

Jarmila Procházková – Pavel Kordík

Even though the main focus of the 19th and 20th century team was dedicated to Antonín Dvořák, at the same time, the fellows of the DMH never omit research on other figures and events of this period.

Jarmila Gabrielová, being one head of the DMH and a Deputy Director of the Institute of Ethnology, was also the head of the Dvořák team until 2013 and remains its most experienced member. In addition, her interests are dedicated to important figures of the 19th and 20th centuries, especially V. J. Tomášek, J. B. Foerster, J. Suk, B. Martinů, and others. J. Gabrielová participates on the critical edition of Bedřich Smetana's works (Gabrielová 2007b, c, 2009c) and the Complete Critical Edition of the Works of Bohuslav Martinů, as a member of the International Editorial Board and an external collaborator of the Bohuslav Martinů Foundation (Gabrielová 2009a). During her long-term pedagogical activity and leadership of the Institute of Musicology, Charles University in Prague between 2002 and 2012, her interests were dedicated to subsume large-scale themes from music history and figures of European music between 18th and 20th century, and continue to question the music aesthetics, music theory (music analysis), and methodology of the field.

Markéta Kratochvílová is employed in the Dvořák team, but she also pays the same intensive attention to the life and work of Otakar Ostrčil, as proved by her creation of the thematic catalogue of the composer's works (Kratochvílová – Kroupa 2014). As part of the project *Otakar Ostrčil – Life and Work*, Kratochvílová also works towards other goals, for example a critical edition of Ostrčil's songs on texts of German poets from the very end of the ensuing period (2014–2015).

Jitka Bajgarová asks academic questions in the wide thematic scope of the 19th and 20th century. Her proceedings *Military Music in the Culture and History* of the Czech Lands (Bajgarová 2007) gained positive responses especially due to its interdisciplinary overlap and the DMH contributed to the research on this unjustly-neglected genre. The conference *Writing the Composer Monograph: Issues and Approaches; In Celebration of Karel Husa's 90th Birthday* (Bajgarová 2013) served as a similarly beneficial topic. In the last decade, she has been interested in multinational aspects of music in the Czech lands, particulary to German musicians, and to South Slavic students at Prague music colleges. Her bilingual proceedings *Between Bridges and Ditches* (Bajgarová –

Wehrmeyer 2014) seems to be a culmination of these efforts. It is clear that Bajgarová will soon add more contributions to these topics, which has been long absent from Czech music historiography. Bajgarová also contributed with her entries to the monograph *Musical Theatre in Bohemia*. *Personalities of the 19th century* (Praha: Divadelní ústav 2006).

Pavel Kordík's research focus is based in 20th century music, especially Czech music. One of his interests is in the relationships between music and word (lyrics), and between music and human voice. He is also connected with two significant figures of Czech modern music, Miloslav Kabeláč and Vítězslav Novák. Miloslav Kabeláč one of the most important music figures of the Czech composition after 1945. Pavel Kordík is recently responsible for the annual inventory of musicological production in the Czech Republic. This annual is published in the 4th issue of the journal *Hudební věda* (Musicology) yearly. Up to now he is in long-term cooperation with bibliographical project *RILM: Répertoire International de Littérature Musicale*, which is the most complex source of musicological publication activities from 1966, and serves for orientation in the Czech as well as international research also relates to this activity. DMH significantly supported Kabeláč: *The Creative Profile of the Composer* (2010).

Emeritus professor Ivan Vojtěch is an eminent fellow of the DMH, a longterm member of the International Editorial Board, and publisher of works of Arnold Schönberg (*Arnold Schönberg-Gesamtausgabe*; Vojtěch et al. 2007, 2009). Without any doubt, some of his recent significant works are the Czech translation of Schönberg's treatise *Stil und Gedanke* (*Styl a idea*, 2004), one of the most important documents on the thinking and sensibility of a 20th century artist, and also an edition of texts of the musicologist František Hrabal (Vojtěch 2006). For his lifelong musicological research, Ivan Vojtěch was awarded by the Academy of Sciences with the *Medal of František Palacký for Merit in the Historical Sciences* in 2008.

abia. Viole Anini Pats

The aria of Sandrina "Noi donne poverine" in the Strahov fragment of Mozart's opera La finta giardiniera (The music collection of the Premonstratensian monastery of Strahov in Prague, Sign. XLVII A 77).



Janáček's manuscript – the dance "pilky" (saws dance) from the village Kozlovice, accompanied by composer's sketches of arrangements (Institut of Ethnology, CAS – branch Brno).

0:8 riles Olors. 171020 211 rine 211 0 thirs inta Uligre agitat Haufitt. they Megroagitato Clarine HiB 5 100 Jacob O hr torning 200 $-\infty$ Corni MIV. Irombis romboli bass. 4 mpani F.A. Pialli tob 1 10 van tambie Illegro ag fato Dass 2 0 e Illegnoage fato +== icimo liola Dasiodlett 2

Antonín Dvořák's first opera Alfred, autograph, page 1 (National Museum – Czech Museum of Music – Antonín Dvořák Museum in Prague, inv. no. S 76/1371/1).



Example of the autograph of six lullabies on the folk lyrics (alto solo, small female choir and chamber orchestra) by Miloslav Kabeláč. The opening part of the third lullaby Hajé, hajé, hajinké; autograph, page 11 (National Museum – Czech Museum of Music, item ...).

Libraries and Documentary Collections of the Institute of Ethnology CAS

Barbora Gergelová, Vendula Škrabalová, Jana Vozková, Andrea Zobačová

Library of the Institute of Ethnology of the CAS – Na Florenci 3, Praha

In the Department of Scientific Information of the Institute of Ethnology in Prague, large book and documentary collections and archival materials are stored making it one of the most important sources for the study of the history of ethnology in the Czech Republic.

A priority in the past ten years has been the maximum accessibility of all the collections using new information technologies. The main objective has been to enable an online search in the book and documentary collections on the website of our institution. So far, we have been most successful in the accessibility of the library of the Institute of Ethnology. Originally, there were two card catalogues for book retrieval: a catalogue of monographs and one of periodicals. Both had been continuously replenished until 2014. As early as in 1998, the library joined the Linca Project of the Library of the Czech Academy of Sciences (CAS); the project objective was to create a Union catalogue of libraries of academic institutes. All the acquisitions since 1999 are processed electronically (originally in the Bibis system, although the Aleph system is used now). Due to the staffing (only one employee works in the library), re-cataloguing of old prints progressed very slowly. For this reason, the library entered for the VISK 5 National Programme of the Retrospective Conversion of the Catalogues of Libraries in the Czech Republic – RETROKON and received a subsidy for a part of the retro-conversion. The subsidy was successfully applied in the following years and in 2014, the retro-conversion of the entire card catalogue of monographs was finished. It is now accessible from the website of the Institute of Ethnology and also through the Union Catalogue of Libraries of Academic Institutes and the Union Catalogue of the Czech Republic. A total of 21 000 units have been processed. In addition to the ordinary library collection, the Institute of Ethnology library also continuously processes "the historical collection" that contains old prints published until

1850 (400 volumes) and small prints, mainly broadside ballads (3500 units). A collection of old prints have been processed with the support of the Targeted Research and Development Programme of the CAS in the years 2001–2006. The main outcome was a book edition of the Catalogue of Broadside Prints (Kopalová - Holubová 2008) and the restoration and cleaning of the entire collection. In 2012 followed the second part - the Catalogue of Broadside Prints II. Biblical and Christian Iconography (Holubová 2012). During the procession of the broadside print collection the need arose to digitize it and to ensure its permanent preservation. In 2007, the Department of Scientific Information applied for a subsidy within the Ministry of Culture of the Czech Republic VISK 6 Programme – National Programme for the Digital Presentation of Rare Documents "Memoriae Mundi Series Bohemica". This was a unique project in the Czech Republic as individual old prints were not digitized, but more "blocks" of broadside prints containing nearly 200 separated units at one time. This collection was placed in the MANUSCRIPTORIUM digital library <www.manuscriptorium.com> (a project coordinated by the National Library of the Czech Republic).

The book collection currently consists of 34 000 units, 1000 of which are different magazines in 10 000 volumes. The collection is replenished continuously with works from ethnology, folkloristics, social anthropology and other related branches. In the years 2009–2012, the library succeeded in receiving valuable acquisitions from the estates behind important personalities of Czech ethnology e.g. Zdeněk Mišurec, Libuše Volbrachtová, Olga Skalníková, Dagmar Klímová, and Antonín Robek.

Library of the Institute of Ethnology, CAS — Brno branch

The history of the Institute of Ethnology of the CAS dates back to 1905. In 1919 The Institute for Folk Song and in 1953, the Department for Folk Song were established. The collection of the Brno library came into being step by step as early as in this period. Books from the turn of the 19th and 20th century are among the oldest books in the collection, which corresponds to the time of the formation of the entire Institute. At that time – in the first half of the 20th century – two departments worked alongside each other – the Department of Folkloristics and the Department of Ethnography, with both departments having their own library collections. When the Institute moved from Mendlovo Square to Veveří Street in 1992, the ethnographic and the folkloristics collections merged to give the present form of the library.

The library collection of the Brno branch currently has almost 19 000 volumes and 346 different journals (the library currently subscribes to 52 different journals). Books are acquired primarily as gifts and as an exchange

with foreign and domestic partner organizations. A smaller part of the collection is purchased. The library collection is very diverse - it covers disciplines such as European ethnology, ethnography, folkloristics, social and cultural anthropology, literary science etc. The collection also contains rare assemblages, such as complete volumes of Vlastivěda Moravská, historical maps, books from the library of the Institut für Volkskunde der Deutschen des östlichen Europa (formerly Johannes-Künzig-Institut für ostdeutsche Volkskunde) in Freiburg im Breisgau, the Czech National Bibliography, valuable and unique foreign documents and books from estates behind prominent personalities of ethnology, in particular Oldřich Sirovátka, Vladimir Úlehla, Karel Vetterl, as well as from smaller estates and personal collections (Lucie Bakešová, Hynek Bim, Jaromír Gelnar, Josef Hofer, Bohuslav Indra, Bohuslav Beneš, Olga Hrabalová or František Petrů). The most valuable library units are kept in the institution's vaults and we can find books with personal dedications from significant personalities or very old and valuable books dating back to the 18th century there. In addition to books and periodicals, the library also includes collections of dictionaries, lexicons, offprints, bibliographies, xeroprints, old maps and CD and DVD media.

A priority in recent years has been maximum accessibility of the library collection using information technology. Until 1998, the Brno branch of the library collection was processed using a card catalogue (comprising approximately 13 000 cards). In 1998, the library joined the *Linca project* of the Library of the CAS, whose objective was to create a Union catalogue of libraries of academic institutes. Since 1998, the collection has been processed using electronic systems, first the BIBIS system and now the Aleph system. The simultaneous transmission of records to the Union Catalogue of the Czech Republic is a matter of course. Currently, a conversion of the register of periodicals from card into electronic form is also being prepared.

Vendula Škrabalová, the current librarian of the library of the Institute of Ethnology of the CAS in Brno, is not only in charge of the library and related activities (professional procession of the collections and assemblages, their accessibility and presentation, acquisition, cataloguing, interlibrary loan service, provision of compulsory copies, registration and inventory of small prints, etc.), but she also handles publishing activities of Brno research fellowsand their results (ASEP and RIV). In 2014, there was also a subtask to work on the repository of scientific works of the Academy of Sciences for the needs of the institute assessment in 2015.

In 2014, the library signed up to the VISK 5 Programme – the National Programme of the Retrospective Conversion of the Catalogues of Libraries in the Czech Republic – RETROKON. The aim is to retro-convert the card catalogue of the library into electronic form and thus make the collection accessible

to the general public, not only through the catalogue of the Academy of Sciences, but also through the Union Catalogue of the Czech Republic. The request was granted at the beginning of the year 2015 and the completion of the work and a complete transcript of the catalogue cards of the Brno branch library are expected in 2017.

In the last two years, the library has taken advantage of the possibility of involving trainees from universities and secondary library schools in running the work. Due to the staffing of the library with only one professional librarian, the help of the trainees is useful in increasingly larger tasks. In 2015, thanks to this kind of help from a high school, the library and journal collections of the Brno branch were able to be reviewed.

The Scientific Library of the Brno branch of the Institute of Ethnology primarily serves researchers. Frequent visitors, however, are also students of the Department of European Ethnology of the Faculty of Arts at Masaryk University, amateur users, researchers and other visitors.

Library of the Department of Music History

The Library of Musicology, which is now a part of the Department of Music History, was established in 1962, at the same time as the Institute of Musicology (Poledňák 1994). During more than fifty years of activity, the library has moved twice (from its original location in the Wallenstein Palace to the Albatros building at Perštýn and lastly to Pushkin Square in Prague – Bubeneč). Many librarians and musicologists have worked in it, and the library has gradually modulated the content and methods of its work. After more than fifty years of existence it works as a public library with a specialized collection and provides, in addition to the regular library service, several associated agendas (Vozková 2007). In 2003, it was – together with the entire academic musicological institution – affiliated to the Institute of Ethnology of the CAS. For most of its existence, the library was headed up by musicologists who had the use of high-school librarians and externs, mostly students.

From the long-term perspective, we can say that the library was run by a relatively permanent, small staff in the first half of its existence. In the following twenty-five years, the management has changed more often and the position of the second librarian, cancelled in 2003, was substituted by contract or short-time workers. This places great demands on coordination and the continuity of larger projects is less sustainable.

From the beginning of its activities, the library has collected books, magazines, and music and sound recordings. Digital media – in particular CD-ROMs – were available to a lesser extent in the library from the early years of the 21st century.

Chart of acquisitions to the library collection



K – books and serial publications, N – sheet music, G – sound carriers, E – electronic documents

(Chart captures only the additions, not depreciations.)

Beside the publications issued after the library came into existence, the library has subsequently added older publications, retrospectively (in particular for music periodicals) back to the 19th century.

For the entire period of the library's existence, the acquisition goes on, in addition to purchases, also through donations and in particular through the exchanges with institutions and private individuals. In the case of music periodicals, an exchange for the institutional journal *Hudební věda* [*Music Studies*] is practised. Thanks to this, even in the period of totalitarian regime, under socialism, the library could be provided with a quantity of high-quality literature that was unavailable elsewhere in Czechoslovakia. After 1989, the possibilities to be in contact with foreign institutions expanded, but on the other hand, some long-time partners cancelled the cooperation. As a result of political events in the 1990s, the library interrupted its contact mainly with the Balkan countries. Donations and exchange became a less reliable way to expand the collection, although this is gradually improving now.

The collection, originally catalogued in the traditional way for the nominal and the subject catalogue, began to be processed electronically in 2002 – first in the *Bibis* programme, later in the *Aleph* programme. Since then, the number of electronically catalogued records has reached approximately 17 000.
The period of the last ten years, on which this text is focused, coincides with the time Jana Vozková, the current librarian, has held her position. In 2006, when she started working in the library, she carried out in particular the revision of the collections, followed by the delimitation of some non-library units, such as tape recordings and standard sound discs from the liquidated sound lab. Mostly these materials were forwarded to the Czech Museum of Music.

In the following year, the Department began to deal with its spatial problems, since the capacity of storage and work rooms was completely inadequate. In the following year, the librarian wrote a project for the reconstruction of the library, which brought in subsidies of 6 million CZK for the Academy of Sciences. Then in the following two years, the librarian coordinated the reconstruction in two periods: in 2008 the reconstruction of the study and the work room of librarians, and in the next year the reconstruction of the storeroom, including its equipment with movable racks (Vozková 2009).

All the civil work was done to disturb the ordinary operation of the library to the lowest possible extent. This included - apart from the borrowing agenda and common acquisitions – in particular processing the publications which remained unprocessed from the past. These unprocessed publications came mainly from several large estates. The estate from musicologist and theatrologist Jaromír Paclt (1927-1994) was transported to the library after his death in the late-1990s. It was moved several times and cannot be used without proper processing. This started with the support of the Czech Music Foundation and the Association for Central European Studies in 2007, although, it has not been (by 2015) fully completed yet (Princ 2012). The second great estate, which has been stored in the library since 2003, was the library of Karel Mlejnek (1930-1999). Its extent and diversity corresponded to the Renaissance personality of this active musician, composer and editor of Czech Radio. Since 2006, the library has been processing another large estate purchased from the family of the musicologist Miroslav Nový (1924-2005). In the following years, smaller estates and donations of tens of units came from several sources (František Mišurec, Mirko Novák, David Freeman, and Václav Smetáček).



Chart of acquisitions and catalogued records

After the biggest debts in the process of cataloguing were paid, the library also started re-cataloguing the older collection in 2010. This project is financially supported by the Ministry of Culture VISK 5 Programme annually – and there is a real prospect that the re-cataloguing of books and periodicals will be finished this year.

After the reconstruction and after having a substantial part of its collection catalogued electronically, the library has opened up more to the professional public. An electronic library catalogue is available through the Uniform Information Gateway (<www.jib.cz>), or through the specialized gateway Musica (<http://mus.jib.cz>) as well as on the webpage updated by the library itself (<http://imus.cz/index.php/cs/knihovna).

One of the most important supplementary activities traditionally associated with the library is the completion of records to an Automated System of the Publication Activity of the Employees of the CAS (ASEP).³⁵ In the second decade of the 21st century, this activity – in operation since 1993 – includes annual editing of about several hundred records, continual monitoring, repairs, preparation of records for transfer to the database of the Information Register of R&D results (RIV)³⁶ and preparation of documents for evaluation.

³⁵ See <http://www.lib.cas.cz/asep/>, or <http://www.lib.cas.cz/aa/publikace/asep/uef-s>. The database has been developed since 1993.

³⁶ Index of information about the results led by The Research, Development and Innovation, http://www.vyzkum.cz>.

Another agenda which was assigned to the library in the last two decades includes the distribution of publications issued by the Department, including care and distribution of the copyright deposit, cash on delivery mail, direct sales in the library, consignments to the exchange partners, sales at conferences and similar events, and updating the relevant parts of the Department's website.

During the reconstruction in the years 2008–2009, a reading room in the form of a multi-functional hall was built as a part of the library, so the amount of the librarian's work increased due to the organisation of the professional and cultural events that take place in the study room of the library.

Since 2012, the library has offered internships for students from the Institute of Musicology of the Faculty of Arts at Charles University in Prague. The internship includes very short-term work experience (52 hrs/student) which unfortunately does not allow the interns to understand more complex themes. Anyhow, this work experience allows the students to get acquainted with the daily work of the branch and to acquire better knowledge about the specialized literature. For the library, this means assistance in resolving simple administration and dispatch tasks; however, this is obtained at the cost of the time invested into training, coordination and checking on the work of the short-term workers.

The Department of Music History library with its collection of over 33 000 library items is one of the central Czech libraries for musicology. It serves the professional public much more than only the staff of the home institution. After half a century of its existence the library finally hassuitable space and facilities. The question of staffing remains more problematic – just one single worker and a very diverse agenda will probably be insufficient in the long term.

Documentary Collections of the Institute of the Ethnology, CAS – Na Florenci 3, Praha

The varied collections include photo documentation, sound records, drawings and as-built drawings of folk buildings, manuscripts, important scientists' personal collections, collections of musical and dance folklore, etc.

The **documentary collections** stored in the Department of Scientific Information at 3, Na Florenci contain written materials originating in the activity of the previous institutions – The Czech Committee for Folk Song in Austria (in Czech: Český výbor pro lidovou píseň v Rakousku – founded in 1905), The State Institute for Folk Song (in Czech: Státní ústav pro lidovou píseň – 1919), The Department for Ethnography (Kabinet pro národopis – 1952), The Department for Folk Song (Kabinet pro lidovou píseň – 1953), The Institute for Ethnography and Folkloristics CSAS (Ústav pro etnografii a folkloristiku ČSAV 1954–1999), The Czech-Slavic Ethnographic Society (Národopisná společnost českoslovanská – founded 1891) and other Czech and German ethnographical institutions with their seat in Bohemia. The oldest artefacts in the collections come from the mid-18th century. The increasing quantity of researchers' questions and visits illustrates how this source basis is important and historically valuable for ethnology in the Czech Republic. It is the value of the collections that was an impetus to apply for the inscription of the collections on the National Archive Heritage (hereinafter referred to as NAD) list in 2007. The NAD, maintained by the National Archive of the Czech Republic, collects data about archive collections from the entire Czech Republic to make them accessible to the general public through the database <https://digi.nacr.cz/>. In 2013, the Department of Scientific Information did a general stocktaking of the NAD, including all the collections of paper documents and photographs.

The collections are continuously processed in accordance with the rules for archive keeping, i.e. there are compilations of inventories, inventory lists, catalogues and registers. Simultaneously, databases are made to catalogue the collections of the Survey by the Czech Academy of Sciences and Arts of documentation of vernacular architecture, the photo-documentary collections and the catalogue of broadside sheets and old prints. The cooperation on the Programme Blanc (BLAN), NT09 534559, Formalisme esthétique en Europe centrale/FORMESTH 2009-2012, Paris-IV Sorbonne, was a significant event in the realm of presentation and digitalization. This programme allowed Otakar Hostinský's personal collection to be digitized and processed. Xavier Galmiche (Université Paris-IV Sorbonne), a lecturer in Czech studies, took part in the programme on the French side. In cooperation with him, the hitherto unpublished materials from Hostinský's personal collection were selected and presented under the title A Selection of Documents from Otakar Hostinský's Personal Collection (in Czech: Výběr dokumentů z osobního fondu Otakara Hostinského) 1847-1910 on the homepage of the Institute of Ethnology -<http://eu.avcr.cz/>.

Three documentary collections processed recently include valuable and hitherto unknown materials for researchers and the general public. Scientific arrangement and opening of the collections Ethno-Botany I and Ethno-Botany II considerably extended the research basis in ethno-medicine and ethnobotany. The source, hitherto unknown to the public, provides researchers with completely new information. The merit of the collection Ethno-Botany I is that it includes an unusual quantity of recorded data which are classified by its authors, Josef Dostál and Václav Jirásek. It was the closing of Czech universities on November 17th, 1939 that gave a direct impetus to making this collection as neither of the authors was allowed to continue their scientific and educational activities. The collection is divided according to plant genera, each of which was given one folder. The folders contain mainly excerpts from ethnological and botanical books and periodicals. The merit of the collection consists especially in the quality of data intended for the study of alternative medicine, historical ethnography as well as for linguists. It contains information about botanic folk terms no longer used today, of particular plants as well as about their use in the branch of alternative medicine and folk magic. Records and references to folk literature are also found there; these give a picture of flora in the folk culture of Bohemia and Moravia.

The collection Ethno-Botany II comes from the fragmentary estates of Josef Oldřich/Oldra Novotný (1885-1964), which have been discovered only recently. This is de facto a conception for the Dictionary of Plant Names which is being prepared now. The author worked on this Dictionary for almost the whole of his life. The collection contains mainly recherché and valuable materials collected using oral techniques, annotations and bibliographical excerpts from about the mid-20th century, but it also includes information data from about the 16th century, valuable observations for the ethno-botanical and linguistic studies, and documents explaining the use of plants in practice. The section with folk names of plants and folk tradition about plants is the most valuable one as it contains data collected in the field which has probably already disappeared today. The manuscript was bought by the Czechoslovak Academy of Science upon the recommendation of Vladimír Šmilauer. Unfortunately, it has never been published.

The personal collection of Libuše Volbrachtová, a former research fellow at the Institute of Ethnography and Folkloristics CSAS, must be mentioned as the last example of valuable accessions to the documentary collections in the Department of Scientific Information. In a certain respect, the collection is extraordinary - it is large and very diverse. All the types of documents, including the documents on electronic and audio carriers (recording tapes) have been digitized. With its volume, it is one of the largest archive units in the documentary collections of the Institute of Ethnology. L. Volbrachtová's personal collection gives a wide overview of book production, including the bibliographies from the 1980s and 1990s which relate to the themes of emigration, identity, cultural memory, historiography, oral history and gender studies. The section of L. Volbrachtová's research work that draws on field research is crucial and inspiring. Although a significant part of theresults of the author's activities was published in a number of studies, articles and contributions, it is possible to study the collection with a focus on certain specific or, on the contrary, common features of utterances given by the

respondents or autobiographic data. As to the type, the collection features recherché and authentic written documentation, transcribed from recording tapes. The representation of foreign expatriates' printed works is inspiring as well, giving room to compare the mentioned expatriates' production with the field research.

The photo-documentary collection in the Department of Scientific Information includes 160 000 inventory units and is one of the most voluminous documentary collections. It is divided into six independent files which are registered separately. At the beginning of the 1990s, the collections were not processed in accordance with their importance and abundance of materials, and they could not be used by scientists. The collections were equipped with original inventory books only which offered just basic data. In attempting to make the rich photo-documentary collections available to a larger extent and using modern methods, the employees of the Department of Scientific Information of the Institute of Ethnology wrote a project on the database procession of collections and the digitalization of photographs. With respect to the volume of the material it was necessary to implement the project in several stages. The first stage comprises the Research into the Registers of the Czechoslovak Ethnographic Society (hereinafter referred to as NSČ) within a grant project of the Czech Science Foundation (hereinafter referred to as GA CAS) titled The Computer Procession of the Documentary Collections of the Institute of Ethnography and Folkloristics of the CAS. For this purpose, a specialized company made a database temporarily termed NSCARCH in the Visual Basic 4.0 programme, 16-bite version, using ACCESS 2.0. In the following period (between 2000 and 2009), this original database was updated and adapted to process other photo-documentary collections (Representative Catalogue of NSČ, Survey by the Czech Academy of Sciences and Arts of documentation of vernacular architecture). The project also became a starting platform for more grant tasks implemented by the Department of Scientific Information of the Institute of Ethnology. These included three CD-ROMs: Vernacular Architecture in Bohemia, Moravia and Silesia (2001), Interior of the Rural House and its Transformations in Bohemia, Moravia and Silesia (2006), Traditional Czech Handicraft and Farm Works in Bohemia, Moravia and Silesia (2011). The CD-ROMs were made as GA CAS projects.

The CD-R thematic series presents voluminous photographic collections of the Institute of Ethnology and continues with the long-term conception of the Institute in research into and preservation of traditional tangible and spiritual culture and its transformation in the 20th century. The project was implemented on the basis of all photographic collections stored in the Department of Scientific Information. The CD-Rs contain professional descriptions of particular photographs with localisation, time classification and a reference to the map and list of entries with regional or professional expressions, a bibliography and a summary in English. The whole set is accompanied by a specialized study and a list of recommended literature. The CD-R "Interior of the Rural House" is supplemented by materials comparing the folk interior in Poland and Austria.

Etnofolk <www. etnofolk.eu>, made as a part of the Central European project Preservation and Enhancement of Folk Culture Heritage in Central *Europe*, made good use of the thematic diversity in the photo-documentary collections. This project ran between 2011 and 2014 with the participation of the employees of the Department of Scientific Information of the Institute of Ethnology and the Department of Historical Ethnology. The international project implementing the Etnofolk portal was outlined as a rich source of useful information about the folk culture heritage in four Central-European countries (the institutes of the Academy of Science in Slovenia, Hungary and Slovakia are partners in the project). The portal offers thousands of archive and pictorial documents, audio and video records, maps and scientific texts on folk culture. The Database of Knowledge divided into 15 themes (traditional architecture, folk art, music, dance and word) is a centrepiece of the portal; the database contains 121 377 records. The events Section informs about public events relating to folk culture in all partner countries; specialized information about the particular aspects of folk culture can be found in the section Articles and Videos. The portal is published in the partners' national languages and in English. Etnofolk is continuously replenished by particular project partners and is open to publishing materials about folk culture delivered by individuals or organizations. The portal is intended for researchers, teachers, students, museum employees, tourists and the general public.

The gradual conversion into databases including photo-documentary collections allows for better orientation in the collections and an increase in the service quality for the visitors to the Centre of Scientific Information of the Institute of Ethnology. In the coming period, the work in the Department will focus mainly on the digitalization of photographic and paper collections as well as that of the endangered part of the library in the framework of the research programme Digital Humanities – Strategy AV21. This programme is aimed at making the database and sources of information; it is to interconnect the digitized collections between particular institutes of the Academy of Science of the Czech Republic. The programme's focus on the applied results opens new opportunities to present our collections in inter-disciplinary settings.

Documentarycollections of the Institute of Ethnology, CAS – Brno branch

The branch is in possession of a documentary collection which is based on documentation collected by the Working Committee for the Czech National Song in Moravia and Silesia (founded in 1905). It was Leoš Janáček who was considerably instrumental in founding this Committee. The documentary collections contain unique text, sound and pictorial records, predominantly from Moravia and Silesia. The documentary collection is continuously replenished. From the scientific and cultural point of view, the graphic, audio and audio-visual documents constitute a collection unique in Europe. These materials serve for researchers as well as the wide professional public; they are systematically published in reviewed and readers' editions, as well in cooperation with other entities. The gradual digitalization of the materials enables copies to be made of valuable documents and materials used to present the branch.

Personal Collections

Personal collections and small estates stored under signatures R 1–23 comprise an important part of the Brno branch's documentary collections. The materials left by researchers Dagmar Klímová, Oldřich Sirovátka, Vladimír Úlehla and Karel Vetterle are among the most important ones. Since 2005, when the branch stored sixteen estates, another six personal collections have been registered. Some of the inventories that have been or are being made of most of the collections also have electronic access.

Notes on the work with some collections: O. Sirovátka (R 9) – inventory, a part of CD-R (2004), was updated and printed for the needs of the branch (December 2014). The personal collection was introduced in the anthology *Od pohádky k fámě* [From a Fairy Tale to a Rumour] (2005); it was also used as a source for a treatise on Sirovátka's regional research (2005) and his share in the modern development of Slovak folkloristics (2008). D. Klímová (R 20) – continuous compilation of the inventory. The inventory was printed for the needs of the branch (162 items; situation as of December 2014). Digitalization of materials acquired by D. Klímová during her research into the Slovakian minority in Hungary (1957, 1959); V. Úlehla (R 14) – inventorying and partial digitalization of the photographic material taken in connection with shooting of the film *Mizející svět* [Disappearing World]. A. Šulová (R 13) – digitalization of 228 records of folk literature. Z. Jelínková (R 19) – photographs from the ethnographic areas of Horňácko and Brněnsko – partial inventorying and digitalization.

Photo-Documentation

The photographic collection of the Brno branch of the Institute of Ethnology is based on documentation collected by the Working Committee for the Czech National Song in Moravia and Silesia (founded in 1905). It was Leoš Janáček who was considerably instrumental in founding this Committee. These photos are a part of the so-called folkloristic collection that was replenished with other photographs with a similar theme (focus on music, dance and singing); since 1988, the collection has not been replenished. In the 1950s, an ethnographic series was established in which solely photographs from the area of tangible culture were registered; however, after the folkloristics collection stopped being extended, all photographic materials have been registered in this series. The items were recorded in inventory books (which are still used) and in a subject and a location catalogue.

After 2000, new acquisitions started being registered by an electronic database (1643 records; situation as of January 2015); the subject and the location catalogue have not been completed yet. In 2006, the entire filing of the subject catalogue was revised (altogether 19 drawers) and completed with the hitherto not filed cards. The data on the cards are particularized continuously as preparation for computer processing. In 2013, a large revision and new storage of the so-called folkloristic positive images was finished. The new acquisitions as well as the existing materials are continuously digitized (approximately 1 000 photos have been digitized to date; situation as of January 2015). The photos taken by Karel Fojtík during his research into working classes' habitation in Brno and Luhačovické Zálesí were used in publications. Selected digital photos taken at the present are stored at the server of the Institute.

Collection of Songs

The collection of songs at the Brno branch includes nearly 80 thousand hand-written records of songs, recorded during the last 110 years. It also contains a large collection of folk dances. The copies of records from the Gubernial event in 1819 are the oldest ones. The collection of Slovakian folklore (records of legends, fairy tales, riddles, jokes, recollections, children's folklore and other genres) was completed by a new sign that includes digitized records and transcriptions of biographical interviews recorded using the method of oral history in the last ten years. The collection is a result of organized collection and research- random collections and estates bought from collectors.

Collection of Sound Records and Films

The collection of sound records was established in the 1950s. However, the oldest sound recordings of singing are on wax cylinders from the beginning of the 20th century, when Leoš Janáček worked at the institution. On the tapes, there are recorded songs and spoken texts. The Institute's collection contains a plethora of valuable sound and film recordings from the 1960s and 1970s when the already deceased performers of traditional folk music, singers, narrators and dancers as well as different every-day and ceremonial occasions were recorded. The records made as results of recent institutional and grant research are continuously collected and processed as well.

The collection of films was videotaped and the originals are stored at the National Film Archive. The collection of films is followed by the collection of videotapes created since the outset of the 1990s. Between 2005 and 2015, a research fellow / ethnologist focused on visual carriers – mini-DV and DVD. Field video-recordings taken by an analogue video-camera in previous years were digitized gradually. Original video-recordings taken by digital video-camera during the field research have been edited to be used for presentation at specialized lectures and as video-documents presented at shows of documentaries.



Manual production of bricks. Střítež nad Bečvou, Eastern Moravia. Photo J. Vařeka 1952.



Documentary photos from the field research by Jarmila Šťastná. Hronov, Eastern Bohemia. Photo J. Brodská 1970.



Broadside ballad from the mid-19th century from the collection of the Institute of Ethnology, CAS.



The interior of a windmill. Drawing. Choltice/Litultovice, District of Opava, Silesia. Photo J. Scheybal 1965.



A farmhouse in Hejtmánkovice (former Hauptmannsdorf), Nord-eastern Bohemia. Drawing. Collection of the former German areas, 1897.



Fiddlers from Popov in Southern Wallachia. Jan Kulíšek on the left-hand side, first violinist Jiří Košelka in the middle, František Kulíšek playing the double--bass. Photo Alois Gregor 1913.

References

- Adler, G. 1885. Umfang, Methode und Ziel der Musikwissenschaft 1. Vierteljahrsschrift für Musikwissenschaft: 5–20.
- Altman, K. 2003. *Úvod do studia dějin národopisu na Moravě* [Introduction to the history of ethnography in Moravia]. Brno: Masarykova univerzita.
- Altman, K. 2005. *Podíl národopisu na rozvoji české národní společnosti na Moravě (1800–1918)* [The part of ethnology in the development of the Czech national society in Moravia (1800–1918)]. Brno: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Altman, K. 2006. František Bartoš, občan šťouralovský [František Bartoš, a citizen of Šťouralov]. In: Plánka, I.: František Bartoš – jazykovědec, pedagog, etnograf. Konference k 100. výročí úmrtí. Zlín: Muzeum jihovýchodní Moravy: 116–121.
- Altman, K. 2008. Nad dopisy Mořice Remeše Čeňku Zíbrtovi z dvacátých let minulého století [Above the letters from Maurice Reims to Čeněk Zíbrt from the twenties of the last century]. *Folia ethnographica* 48: 179–184.
- Altman, K. 2009. Brněnské kavárny za cisaře pána [Brno's café s during the reign of Franz Josef 1]. In: Dvořák, T. – Státníková, P: *Historica Pragensia: historický sborník Muzea hlavního města Prahy*. Praha: Muzeum hlavního města Prahy v nakl. Milan Čermák: 55–70.
- Altman, K. 2010a. Ethnic Sstereotypes in nineteenth-century Czech caricature. In: Demski, D. – Baraniecka-Olszewska, K. *Images of the Other in Ethnic Caricatures of Central and Eastern Europe*. Warsaw: Institute of Archaeology and Ethnology Polish Academy of Sciences: 234–249.
- Altman, K. 2010b. Kralice výspa turistů a trampů [Kralice the outpost of tourism and tramping]. In: *Kralice nad Oslavou*. Kralice nad Oslavou: Obec Kralice nad Oslavou: 433–450.
- Altman, K. Filip, V. 2012a. *Brno zájezdní hostince a hotely* [Brno Inns and hotels]. Brno: Josef Filip.
- Altman, K. 2012b. Hostinské podniky všední i sváteční [Public houses in an everyday life and in afeast]. *Folia ethnographica* 46, 1: 3–11.
- Altman, K. 2013. *Úvod do studia dějin národopisu na Moravě* [Introduction to the history of ethnography in Moravia] Brno: Masarykova univerzita.
- Altman, K. 2014a. Hudba a zpěv jako činitelé integrace trampského hnutí [Music and singing as agents of integration tramping movement]. *Folia ethnographica* 48, 2: 31–46.

- Altman, K. 2014b. *Periodický tisk jako zdroj etnologického poznání* [Periodicals as a source of ethnological knowledge]. Brno: Etnologický ústav AV ČR, Praha pracoviště Brno.
- Altman, K. 2015. Praha u piva [Prague with a beer]. Praha: Vyšehrad.
- Assmann, D. 1979. Die bedeutendsten Wallfahrtsorte Österreichs und Südtirols. In: *Österreichischer Volkskundeatlas*, 6. *Lieferung*, 2. *Teil*. Wien: Verlag der Österreichischen Akademie der Wissenschaften: 1–36.
- Atlas der Deutschen Volkskunde. 1937–1945. Leipzig: Hirzel.
- Atlas der Deutschen Volkskunde. Neue Folge. 1958-1985. Marburg: Elwert.
- Atlas över Svensk Folkkultur: Materiell och social kultur. 1957. Uddevalla: Bokförlaget Niloé.
- Bahenský, F. Woitsch, J. 2003. Analýza hlavních národopisných periodik v letech 1970–1975 s přihlédnutím k období 1964–1969 [An analysis of main ethnological periodicals in the years 1970–1975 taking into account period 1964–1969]. In: Kostlán, A. (ed.) Věda v Československu v období normalizace (1970–1975). Praha: Výzkumné centrum pro dějiny vědy: 555–569.
- Bahenský, F. 2005. Výzkum mimoevropských etnik v Etnologickém ústavu AV ČR. [The research of non European population at the Institute of ethnology of the Czech Academy of Sciences]. In: Sedová, T. (ed.) Sociálne vedy a humanistika očami mladých. Zborník zo stretnutia v Třešti 14.–16. 3. 2005. Bratislava: Veda: 155–161.
- Bahenský, F. 2006. Ústav pro etnografii a folkloristiku ČSAV ve světle své časopisecké produkce v letech 1953–1962 [The Institute of ethnography and folklore of the Czechoslovak Academy of Sciences in the light of their journals production in the years 1953–1963]. In: Pospíšilová, J. Nosková, J. (eds.) Od lidové písně k evropské etnologii. 100 let Etnologického ústavu Akademie věd České republiky. Brno: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Bahenský, F. Adajev, V. Novikova, N. Charitonova, V. Funk, D. Boukal, T. – Batorová, D. – Retka, T. 2010. *Národnostní politika na teritoriu bývalého SSSR* [National question on the territory of former USSR] Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Bahenský, F. 2010a. Etnicita v historické perspektivě. Prolegomena ke vzniku, vývoji a proměně etnické kolektivní identity [Ethnicity in historical perspective. Prolegomenary to formation development and transformation of ethnic collective identity]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.

- Bahenský, F. 2010b. *Národnostní politika v SSSR v letech 1922–1953* [National question in the USSR in years 1922–1953]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Bahenský, F. Holubová, M. Kafka, L. Maur, E. Navrátilová, A. Otčenášek, J. Petráňová, L. Stavělová, D. Tyllner, L. Woitsch, J. (eds.).
 2014. Velké dějiny zemí Koruny české. Tematická řada, Lidová kultura [History of the lands of the Bohemian Crown. Serie of themes, Folk culture].
 Praha: Paseka.
- Bajgarová, J. (ed.). 2007. Vojenská hudba v kultuře a historii českých zemí. [Military music in the culture and history of the Czech lands]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Bajgarová, J. (ed.). 2013. K otázkám monografického pojetí skladatelské osobnosti a výkladu jejího díla. K 90. narozeninám skladatele a dirigenta Karla Husy.
 [Writing the composer monograph: Issues and approaches. In celebration of Karel Husa's 90th birthday]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Bajgarová, J. Wehrmeyer, A. (eds.). 2014. Mosty a propasti. Česko-německé hudební vztahy v meziválečném Československu – Zwischen Brücken und Gräben. Deutsch-tschechische Musikbeziehungen in der ČSR der Zwischenkriegszeit. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Barša, P. 2005. *Přistěhovalectví a neoliberální stát* [Immigration and neoliberal state]. Brno: Masarykova univerzita.
- Bender, B. 2002. Time and landscape. Current Anthropology 43: 103–112.
- Brednich, R. W. 1994. Grundriss der Volkskunde. Einführung in die Forschungsfelder Europäischen Ethnologie. Berlin: Dietrich Reimer.
- Brouček, S. 1979. *Národopisné hnutí na konci 19. století* [Ethnographical movement at the end of the 19th century]. Praha: Academia.
- Brouček, S. 1988. Etnicita, etnikum, etnosociální organismus [Ethnicity, ethnic group and ethno-social organism]. *Český lid* 75: 43–50.
- Brouček, S. (et al.). 1991. Základní pojmy etnické teorie [Basic terms in ethnic theory]. *Český lid* 78: 237–257.
- Brouček, S. Uherek, Z. Valášková, N. 1995. Adaptace přesídlenců v české společnosti [Adaptation of immigrants in Czech society]. Český lid 82, 1: 1–17.
- Brouček, S. (ed.) 1996. Č*eši v cizině* [Czechs abroad]. Praha: Ústav pro etnografii a folkloristiku AV ČR.

- Brouček, S. Jeřábek, R. (eds.). 2007. *Lidová kultura: Národopisná encyklopedie Čech, Moravy a Slezska* [Folk culture. The ethnographic encyclopaedia of Bohemia, Moravia and Silesia]. Praha: Mladá fronta.
- Brouček, S. Grulich, Tomáš (eds.). 2014. Nová emigrace z České republiky po roce 1989 a návratová politika [New emigration from the Czech Republic after 1989 and return policy]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR – Senát PČR – Mezinárodní organizace pro migraci.
- Brož, L. Münster, D. (eds.). 2015. *Suicide and Agency Anthropological Perspectives on Self-Destruction, Personhood, and Power*. Farnham: Ashgate.
- Buckland, T. Gore, G. 1998. Dance, Style, Youth, Identities. Proceedings of the 19th Symposium of the International Council for Traditional Music Study Group on Ethnochoreology. Strážnice.
- Burke, P. 2005. *Lidová kultura v raně novověké Evropě* [Folk Culture in the Early Modern Europe]. Praha: Argo.
- Cílová, Z. Woitsch, J. 2012. Potash a key raw material of glass batch for Bohemian glasses from the 14th to the 17th centuries? *Journal of Archaeological Science* 39: 371–380.
- Císaríková, K. Bimková, M. (eds.). 2008. *Lidové tance z kyjovského Dolňácka* [Folk dances from kyjovské Dolňácko]. Kyjov: Město Kyjov; Brno: Etnologický ústav AV ČR Praha – pracoviště Brno.
- Císaríková, K. Marada, R. (eds.). 2011. *Písně ze Svatobořic-Mistřína* [The songs from Svatobořice-Mistřín]. Brno Svatobořice-Mistřín: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Cosgrove, D. Daniels, S. (eds.). 1988. *The Iconography of Landscape*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Čapo, J. 2015. Ethnology and Anthropology in Europe: Towards a Trans-National Discipline. *Cultural Analysis* 13: 51–76.
- Červinková, H. 2014. *Jesteśmy sobie potrzebni* [We Need Each Other]. Wrocław: Wydawnictwo Naukowe Dolnośląskiej Szkoły Wyższej.
- Červinková, H. Buchowski, M. Uherek, Z. 2015. *Rethinking Ethnography in Central Europe*. London New York: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Daniel, U. 2001. *Kompendium Kulturgeschichte. Theorien, Praxis, Schlüsselwörter.* Frankfurt am Main: Suhrkamp Verlag.
- Dohnal, M. 2006. *Vesnická sídla a kulturní krajina na Táborsku v 15.–19. století* [Villages and cultural landscapes in the region of Tábor from the 15th to the 19th century]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.

- Dohnal, M. 2009. Regulace vesnického osídlení a krajiny ve středověké a novověké severní Evropě [Village and landscape arrangement in Medieval and Early Modern Northern Europe]. *Český lid* 96: 279–308.
- Dohnal, M. 2011. Středověké plužiny Velké Británie a jejich význam pro poznání zemědělského vývoje v českých zemích [Medieval fields of Great Britain and their significance for Bohemian agricultural development research]. Český lid 98: 337–357.
- Dohnal, M. 2012. Koncept polyfokálních sídel na příkladu vývoje obce Opařany na Táborsku [Polyfocal settlement concept ilustrated on an example of the village of Opařany (region of Tábor)]. *Historická geografie* 38: 271–298.
- Dohnal, M. 2013. Svědectví písemných pramenů k otázce vyměřování velkých návsí na Rakovnicku [Archival evidence for origin of large green villages in the region of Rakovník]. *Historická geografie* 39: 213–235.
- Dohnal, M. Škabrada, J. 2015. Utváření vesnických normových půdorysů na Olomoucku ve středověku a novověku [Formation of village standard ground plans in the region of Olomouc in the Middle Ages and in the Modern Era]. Český lid 102: 199–232.
- Dokumentační sbírky a fondy [Documentary collections]. 2005: In: Tyllner, L. Suchomelová, M. (eds.): *Etnologický ústav Akademie věd České republiky*. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Drbohlav, D. 2011. Imigrace a integrace cizinců v Česku: několik zastavení na cestě země v její migrační proměně z Davida na téměř Goliáše [Immigration and integration of foreigners in the Czech Republic: several stops on the way the country's migration transformation from David to Goliath]. *Geografie* 116, 4: 401–421.
- Dressel, G. 1996. *Historische Anthropologie. Eine Einführung.* Wien Köln Weimar: Böhlau.
- Dülmen, R. van. 2002. *Historická antropologie. Vývoj, Problémy, úkoly* [Historical Anthropology. Development, problems, challenges]. Praha: Dokořán.
- Dunin, E. I. Stavělová, D. Gremlicová, D. (eds.). 2012. Dance, Gender, and Meanings. Contemporising Traditional Dance. Proceedings of the 26th Symposium of the ICTM Study Group on Ethnochoreology 2010 Třešť, Czech Republic. Academy of Performing Arts in Prague, Institute of Ethnology of the Czech Academy of Sciences: Prague.
- Dvořák, A. 2006. *Humoreska Ges dur op. 101, 7* [Dvořák. Humoresque in G flat major op. 101, 7]. P. Kvasničková, M. Štědronská (eds.)., Praha: Bärenreiter.

- Dvořák, A. 2014a. *Tragická ouvertura* [Tragic overture]. L. Šmídová (ed.). Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Dvořák, A. 2014b. Alfred. Heroická opera o třech dějstvích, klavírní výtah
 O. Kvěch [Alfred. Heroic opera in three acts, piano vocal score O. Kvěch].
 J. Gabrielová, M. Kratochvílová (eds.). Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR
 Český rozhlas.
- Ebelová, I. Řezníček, M. Woitschová, K. Woitsch, J. Bahenský, F. (eds.). 2007a. Židovské obyvatelstvo v Čechách v letech 1792–1794 [Jewish population in Bohemia in the years 1792 to 1794]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Ebelová, I. Řezníček, M. Woitschová, K. Woitsch, J. 2007b. *Etnografický atlas Čech, Moravy a Slezska V. Židovské obyvatelstvo v Čechách v letech 1792–1794* [Ethnographic atlas of Bohemia, Moravia and Silesia V. Jewish population in Bohemia in the years 1792 to 1794]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR. *Ethnologia Europaea* 40: 103–115.
- *Etnografický atlas Slovenska* [Ethnographic atlas of Slovakia]. 1990. Bratislava: Veda, vydavateľstvo Slovenskej akadémie vied.
- Fajkus, B. 1997. *Současná filosofie a metodologie vědy* [Contemporary philosophy and methodology of science]. Praha: Filosofia.
- Freemanová, M. 2006. Johann Gottlieb Naumann and the Náměšť collection. In: Johann Gottlieb Naumann und die europäische Musikkultur des ausgehenden 18. Jahrhunderts. Hildesheim: 353–364.
- Freemanová, M. 2010a. Oratorios performed in the Jesuite Colleges in the Bohemian Lands. In: *Bohemia Jesuitica 1556–2006*. Praha: Karolinum: 1011–1018.
- Freemanová, M. 2010b. Heinrich Wilhelm von Haugwitz: "Uibersetzer der Iphigenia in Aulis" in process of translation and arrangement of Handels works. *Händel-Jahrbuch* (Jahrbuch : 375), 375–393.
- Freemanová, M. 2011. In the shadow of the Conservatoire: the Prague Organists College (1830–1889/1890). *Hudební věda* 48, 4 : 369–392.
- Freemanová, M. 2012a. Johann Adolf Hasse's oratorios in Bohemian Lands. In *Musiker-Migration und Musik-Transfer zwischen Böhmen und Sachsen im 18. Jahrhundert*, Dresden: 28–38.
- Freemanová, M. 2012b. The Bohemian Dussek sources. Jan Ladislav Dussek (1760–1812) A Bohemian composer "en voyages" through Europe. *Quaderni clementiani* 4: 3–23.

- Freemanová, M. 2013a. Fratrum misericordiae artis musicae collectiones in Bohemia et Moravia reservatae [Bohemian and Moravian music collections of the Brothers Hospitallers]. Praha: Národní knihovna ČR.
- Freemanová, M. 2013b. Between Prague, Zagreb and Lwów: Franjo Ksaver Kuhač and his Czech fellow-supporters. In: Franjo Ksaver Kuhač (1834–1911). Glasbena historiografija i identitet. Musical historiography and identity, ed. S. Tuksar. Zagreb: 139–150.
- Freemanová, M. Stockigt, J. B. 2014. Jan Dismas Zelenka and a Prague performance of San't Elena al Calvario by Leonardo Leo (1734): An hypothesis. *Hudební věda* 51, 1–2: 149–160.
- Freidingerová, T. 2014. *Vietnamci v Česku a ve světě: migrační a adaptační tendence* [Vietnamese in the Czech Republic and in the world: migration and adaptation tendencies]. Praha: SLON.
- Frolcová, V. Večerková, E. 2010a. Das Sacrum in der Kultur der traditionellen Feste zu Anfang des 21. Jahrhunderts. *Ethnologia Slovaca et Slavica* 33: 17–33.
- Frolcová, V. 2012a. Legenda o putování Panny Marie, zázračném uzdravení dítěte a kajícím kováři v obřadním zpěvu 19.–21. století jako fenomén středoevropského kulturního společenství [The legend about the journey of the Virgin Mary, the miracle child and repentant blacksmiths in ceremonial singing from the 19th to the 21st century as a phenomenon of the Central European cultural community]. *Národopisná revue* 22: 163–175.
- Frolcová, V. 2012b. Příspěvky ke studiu česko-slovensko-polských vztahů v koledách a možnosti tektonické komparační metody [The contributions to the study of Czech-Slovak-Polish relations in carols and tectonic possibilities of comparative methods]. In: Radenković, L. (ed.): Zajedničko u slovenskom folkloru. Beograd: Balkanološki institut SANU: 129–142.
- Frolcová, V. 2013a. Etnomuzikologie, slavistika a mezioborová hymnologie. K možnostem integrovaného bádání o lidové písni z české a středoevropské perspektivy [Ethnomusicology, Slavic studies and interdisciplinary hymnology. The possibilities of integrated research on folk songs of Czech and Central European perspective]. Acta Ethnologica Danubiana 15: 149–160.
- Frolcová, V. 2013b. Koleda jako folklorní žánr křesťanského Západu a Východu: k biblickým a apokryfním námětům v západoslovanském folkloru [Carol as a folkloric genre of the Christian East and West: the biblical and apocryphal themes in the West Slavic folklore]. *Slavia. Časopis pro slovanskou filologii* 82: 112–124.

- Frolcová, V. 2014. Píseň k patronům Moravy v rukopisu z roku 1906. Ke studiu české cyrilometodějské tradice v lidovém duchovním zpěvu a ke vztahu kontrafakt mezi ústní tradicí a písemnictvím [The patron saints of Moravia in the manuscript from 1906. The study of the Czech Cyril and Methodius tradition in folk songs and spiritual relationship of contrafacts between oral tradition and literature]. *Český lid* 101: 129–148.
- Gabrielová, J. Kachlík, J. (eds.). 2007a. *The Work of Antonín Dvořák (1841–1904). Aspects of composition Problems of editing Reception.* Praha: EÚ AV ČR.
- Gabrielová, J. 2007b. Smetana. Polky pro klavír. Předmluva. [Smetana. Polkas for piano. Preface]. In: *Smetana. Polky pro klavír*. Praha: Bärenreiter-Verlag Kassel – Editio Bärenreiter Praha: V–VIII.
- Gabrielová, J. 2007c. Smetana. České tance pro klavír. Předmluva. [Smetana. Czech Dances for piano. Praface]. In: *Smetana. České tance pro klavír.* Praha: Bärenreiter-Verlag Kassel – Editio Bärenreiter Praha: III-VII.
- Gabrielová, J. 2007d. Carl Maria von Webers Freischütz in Prag. [Carl Maria von Weber's "Freischütz" in Prague]. In: *Musikkulturelle Wechselbeziehungen zwischen Böhmen und Sachsen*, eds. J. Hiekel, E. Werner. Saarbrücken: 91–98.
- Gabrielová, J. 2009a. Zur Martinů-Rezeption in Böhmen. [On Martinů's reception in Bohemia]. *Musik-Konzepte* 11, Sonderband (2009): 127–149.
- Gabrielová, J. 2009b. Dvořáks und Kvapils Rusalka und das Lebensgefühl des "fin de siècle" [Dvořák's and Kvapil's Rusalka and "fin de siècle" sensitivity]. *Martinů-Studien* 2, 2: 67–86.
- Gabrielová, J. 2009c. Bedřich Smetana. Lístky do památníku pro klavír. Album Leaves for Piano. Stammbuchblätter für Klavier. Předmluva. Preface. Vorwort. In: *Smetana. Lístky do památníku pro klavír*. Praha: Editio Bärenreiter: V–X.
- Gabrielová, J. 2010. Josef Bohuslav Foerster: Liebeslieder des Rabindranath Tagore op. 96 [Josef Bohuslav Foerster: Love Songs of Rabindranath Tagore op. 96]. *Music and Society in Eastern Europe* 4: 65–76.
- Gabrielová, J. 2013. Parsifal-Rezeption in Prag und die Parsifal-Inszenierung des Prager Nationaltheaters im Jahre 2011. ["Parsifal" reception in Prague and the "Parsifal" production of the National Theatre in Prague in 2011]. In: *Richard Wagner. Persönlichkeit, Werk und Wirkung*. Leipzig: 353–359.
- Gabrielová, J. Kratochvílová, M. Kvěch, O. 2014. *Antonín Dvořák: Alfred. Klavírní výtah* [Antonín Dvořák: Alfred. Piano-Vocal Score]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR – Český rozhlas.

- Gansohr Meinel, H. 1993. "Fragen an das Volk". Der Atlas der deutschen Volkskunde 1928–1945. Ein Beitrag zur Geschichte einer Institution. Würzburg: Königshausen & Neumann.
- Gaži, M. Holubová, M. Hrdina, J. Prokopová, Z. 2010. Die tschechische Wallfahrtsforschung. Ein Überblick vom Ende des 19. Jahrhunderts bis zum Beginn des 21. Jahrhunderts. Mit einer Auswahlbibliografie. Bayerisches Jahrbuch für Volkskunde: 75–103.
- Gergelová, B. Novotný, J. Otčenášek, J. 2001. *Lidová architektura v Čechách, na Moravě a ve Slezsku* (kritická edice CD-Rom) [Folk architecture in Bohemia, Moravia and Silesia]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Gergelová, B. 2006a. Interiér vesnického domu a jeho proměny v Čechách, na Moravě a ve Slezsku (vědecká kritická edice CD-Rom) [The interior of a country house and its changes in Bohemia, Moravia and Silesia]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Gergelová, B. 2006b. Vývoj zpracování fotodokumentačních fondů Etnologického ústavu AV ČR v období 1954–2005 [Development in processing the photo-documenttion collections of the Institute of Ethnology, CAS, in the period 1954–2005]. In: Pospíšilová, J. – Nosková, J. (ed.). Od lidové písně k evropské etnologii. 100 let Etnologického ústavu Akademie věd České republiky. Brno: Etnologický ústav AV ČR : 228–231.
- Gergelová, B. Otčenášek, J. 2011. Tradiční řemeslná výroba a zemědělské práce v Čechách, na Moravě a ve Slezsku (vědecká kritická edice CD-Rom) [Traditional crafts and agricultural work in Bohemia, Moravia and Silesia]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Gerholm, T. 1995. Sweden: Central ethnology, peripherial anthropology. In: Vermeulen, H. – Roldan, A. A. (eds.). *Fieldwork and Footnotes*. London: Routledge: 159–170.
- Giurchescu, A. Torp, L. 1991. Theory and Method in Dance Research: A European Approach to the Holistic Study of Dance. *Yearbook for Traditional Music*: 1–10.
- Günzel, S. (ed.). 2010. *Raum. Ein interdisziplinäres Handbuch*. Stuttgart Weimar: J. B. Metzler'sche Verlagsbuchhandlung und Carl Ernst Poeschel Verlag.
- Guy, W. Uherek, Z. Weinerová, R. (eds.). 2004. *Roma Migration in Europe: Case Studies*. Münster: LIT Verlag; Praha: Institute of Ethnology of the Czech Academy of Sciences.

- Hafstein, V. T. Margry, P. J. 2015. What's in a Discipline? *Cultural Analysis* 13: 1–9.
- Haišman, T. Trombík, P. 1998. Uprchlictví v České republice [Refugees in the Czech Republic]. In: Šišková T. (et al.): *Výchova k toleranci a proti rasismu*. Praha: Portál: 43–47.
- Haydn, Johann M. 2012. Sinfonia ex D. Ed. M. Freemanová. Wien: Doblinger.
- Helfert, V. 1916. *Hudební barok na českých zámcích. Jaroměřice za hraběte Jana Adama z Questenberku († 1752)* [Baroque music at Czech castles. Jaroměřice Count during Jan Adam of Questenberk]. Praha.
- Helfert, V. 1924. *Hudba na Jaroměřickém zámku. František Míča 1696–1745.* [Music at the castle of Jaroměřice] Praha.
- Hengartner, T. Kokot, W. Wildner, K. 2000. Das Forschungsfeld Stadt in Ethnologie und Volkskunde. In: Kokot, W. (Hrsg.): *Kutlurwissenschaftliche Stadtforschung. Eine Bestandsaufnahme*. Berlin: Reimer: 3–18.
- Heroldová, I. 1971. *Život a kultura českých exulantů z 18. století* [Life and culture of Czech exiles from the 18th century]. Praha: Ústav pro etnografii a folkloristiku.
- Heroldová, I. 1985. Etnografický výzkum novoosídleneckého pohraničí k otázkám metodologie a metodiky [Ethnographic research into re-settled border sreas – on issues of methodology]. Národopisný věstník československý 2, (44): 7–18.
- Heroldová, I. 1987. Etnická specifika v terminologii etnických procesů [Ethnic specifics in terminology of ethnic processes]. *Zpravodaj KSVI* 9: 51–57.
- Heroldová, I. 1989. Etnicita českých menšin [Ethnicity of Czech minorities]. *Zpravodaj KSVI* 3: 80–91.
- Hirsch, E. O'Hanlon, M. 1995. *The Anthropology of Landscape: Perspectives on Place and Space*. Oxford New York: Clarendon Press, Oxford University Press.
- Holubová, M. 2004. Staré tisky [Old Prints]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Holubová, M. Fechtnerová, A. 2006. Catalogus personarum et officiorum residentii ad S. Montem (1647–1773). Biografický slovník členů Tovaryšstva Ježíšova působících na Svaté Hoře u Příbrami v letech 1647–1773 [Catalogus personarum et officiorum residentii ad S. Montem (1647–1773). Biographical directory of members of the Jesuit Order who were active at Svatá Hora near Příbram from 1647–1773]. Příbram: Státní okresní archiv Příbram

 Hornické muzeum Příbram; Praha: Státní oblastní archiv v Praze – Etnologický ústav AV ČR.

- Holubová, M. Ryšavá, E. Běhalová, Š. Mazalová, L. Staškivová, K. Hrdá, J. – Kafka, L. – Slavický, T. – Frolcová, V. 2008. *Obrazy ženy v kramářské produkci* [Pictures of women in broadside prints]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Holubová, M. 2009a. *Etnografický atlas Čech, Moravy a Slezska VI. Okruhy kultů poutních madon jezuitského řádu* [Ethnogprahic atlas of Bohemia, Moravia and Silesia VI. Cult radius of Virgin Mary Jesuit pilgrimage sites]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Holubová, M. 2009b. *Biografický slovník hudebních prefektů jezuitského řádu působících v Čechách, na Moravě a ve Slezsku v letech 1556–1773* [Biographical dictionary of musical prefects of the Jesuitorder active in Bohemia, Moravia and Silesia in the years 1556–1773]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Holubová, M. Bahenský, F. Woitsch, J. (eds.). 2009c. *Okruhy kultů poutních madon jezuitského řádu* [Cult radius of Virgin Mary Jesuit pilgrimage sites]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Holubová, M. 2011a. Jezuité a významná mariánská poutní místa v českých zemích [The Jesuits and important Marian pilgrimage sites in the Czech lands]. In: Mihola, J. (ed.): *Na cestě do nebeského Jeruzaléma. Poutnictví v českých zemích v evropském kontextu*. Brno: Moravské zemské muzeum: 99–116.
- Holubová, M. 2011b. Svět mužů a žen z pohledu kramářské produkce 18. a 19. století [The world of men and women from a point of view of broadside ballads in the 18th and 19th centuries]. In: Habartová, R. Holubová, M. (eds.): Svět mužů a žen: Muž a žena ve svědectvích lidových tradic. Uherské Hradiště: Slovácké muzeum v Uherském Hradišti: 167–176.
- Holubová, M. 2012a. *Katalog kramářských tisků II. Biblická a křesťanská bibliografie* [Catalogue of broadside prints II. Biblical and Christian bibliographies]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Holubová, M. 2012b. Barokní cesty českých poutníků do hornouherského Šaštína [Baroque journeys of Czech pilgrims to the Upper Hungarian Town Šaštín]. *Sborník prací Pedagogické fakulty Masarykovy univerzity* 26: 37–44.
- Holubová, M. 2012c. *Katalog kramářských tisků II. Biblická a křesťanská ikonografie* [Catalogue of "chapbooks II. Biblical iconography and Christian themes]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.

- Holubová, M. 2013. Kariérní dráhy členů jezuitského řádu působících v letech 1647–1773 v rezidenci na Svaté Hoře u Příbrami [The careers of the members of the Jesuit Order in the residence of Svatá Hora by Příbram in 1647–1773]. *Historická demografie* 37: 101–120.
- Holubová, M. 2014a. Le residenze gesuitiche in Boemia alla luce delle fonti presenti nell' Archivum Romanum Societatis Iesu [Jesuit residences in Bohemia in light of resources in the Archivum Romanum Societatis Iesu]. *Bollettino dell'Istituto storico ceco di Roma* 9: 147–164.
- Holubová, M. 2015: Panna Marie Svatohorská. Příspěvek k barokním vazbám jezuitské rezidence a poutního místa. [Virgin Mary of Svatá Hora. A contribution to baroque bonds of Jesuit residence and place of pilgrimage]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Holubová, M. Suchomelová, M. (eds.). 2014b. *Salve regina: Mariánská úcta ve středních Čechách* [Salve regina: Veneration of Virgin Mary in Central Bohemia]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR Praha: Státní oblastní archiv v Praze.
- Horák, J. 1933. Národopis československý. Přehledný nástin [Czechoslovak ethnology. An overview]. In: Československá vlastivěda II. Člověk. Praha: Sfinx: 305–472.
- Horský, J. 2014. Čas [Time]. In: Storchová, L. (ed.): *Koncepty a dějiny. Proměny pojmů v současné historické vědě*. Praha: Scriptorium: 32–35.
- Hrabalová, O. 1959. K dětskému folklóru a jeho třídění [Children's folklore and its sorting]. Český lid 46: 97–103.
- Hrabalová, O. (ed.). 1983. *Průvodce písňovými rukopisnými sbírkami Ústavu pro etnografii a folkloristiku ČSAV, pracoviště v Brně* [A guide to collections of manuscripts for songs at the Institute for Ethnography and Folkloristics, CAS, Brno branch]. Brno: Krajské kulturní středisko. 2 svazky.
- Hutter, J. 2006. *Hudební myšlení. Od pravýkřiku k vícehlasu II* [Musical thinking. From first noises to the polyphony II]. J. Gabrielová (ed.). Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Chapin, M. Threlkeld, B. 2001. *Indigenous landscapes: A study in ethnocartography*. Arlington: Center for the Support of Native Lands.
- Chartier, R. 2002. New Cultural History. In: Eibach, J. Lottes, G. (eds.): *Kompass der Geschichtswissenschaft*: Göttingen: Vandenhoeck & Ruprecht: 193–205.

- Iggers, G. G. 2002. *Dějepisectví ve 20. století*. *Od vědecké objektivity k postmoderní výzvě* [Historiography in the 20th century. From the scientific objectivity to the postmodern challenge]. Praha: Lidové noviny.
- Ingold, T. 2000. *The Perception of the Environment: Essays on Livelihood, Dwelling and Skill.* London – New York: Routledge.
- Janáček, L. 2005. *Národní tance na Moravě a další úpravy lidových tanců pro klavír (zpěv), a taneční soubor (1890–1912)* [Folk dances in Moravia and other arrangements of folk dances for pianoforte, (voice) and dance ensemble (1890–1912)]. Souborné kritické vydání díla Leoše Janáčka, řada G, sv. 2. J. Procházková J. Matuzsková (eds.). Brno: Editio Janáček.
- Janáček, L. 2009. *Folkloristické dílo 1* [Folklore Studies 1]. Souborné kritické vydání díla Leoše Janáčka, řada I, sv. 3–1. Procházková, J. Toncrová, M. Vysloužil, J. (eds.). Brno: Editio Janáček.
- Janáček, L. 2010. *Capriccio pro klavír levou rukou a soubor dechových nástrojů*. [Leoš Janáček: Capriccio for piano with the left hand and ensemble of wind instruments.]. Eds. L. Faltus, J. Procházková. Praha: Bärenreiter.
- Janáček, L. 2011. *Suita op. 3*, Souborné kritické vydání díla Leoše Janáčka, řada D, sv. 2. [Suite op. 3, Complete critical edition works by Leoš Janáček, Series D, Vol. 2]. Faltus, L. Procházková, J. (eds.). Brno: Editio Janáček.
- Jeřábek, R. Maur, E. Štika, J. Vařeka, J. 2004. Etnografický atlas Čech, Moravy a Slezska IV. Etnografický a etnický obraz Čech, Moravy a Slezska (1500–1900): Národopisné oblasti, kulturní areály, etnické a etnografické skupiny [Ethnographic atlas of Bohemia, Moravia and Silesia IV. Ethnographical and ethnic image of Bohemia, Moravia and Silesia (1500– 1900). Ethnographical regions, cultural areals, ethnic and ethnographical groups]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Jonášová, M. 2006a. Mozartovský výzkum není ani zdaleka u konce [Mozart's research is far from over]. *Akademický bulletin* 10: 4–6.
- Jonášová, M. 2006b. Mozarts La finta giardiniera 1796 in Prag und ein unbekanntes Fragment zur italienischen Version der Oper [Mozart's La finta giardiniera in Prague 1796 and an unknown fragment of the Italian version]. In: *Mozart-Jahrbuch* 2005, Kassel: 3–53.
- Jonášová, M. 2008. Italienische Opernarien im Dom zu St. Veit in Prag [Italian opera arias in the cathedral of St. Vitus in Prague]. In: *Italian Opera in Central Europe 1614–1780. Volume 2: Italianità: Image and Practice*, hrsg. von C. Herr, H. Seifert, A. Sommer-Mathis und R. Strohm, Berlin: 163–206.

- Jonášová, M. 2009. Semiramide riconosciuta. Eine Oper zur Prager Krönung Maria Theresias 1743 [Semiramide riconosciuta: The opera for the Prague coronation of Marie Theresa 1743]. In: *Studien zur Musikwissenschaft* 56, Wien: 53–122.
- Jonášová, M. 2010. Idomeneo: Ilias Arie »Zeffiretti lusinghieri«. Eine Prager Einfügung im Idomeneo-Autograph [Aria of Ilia "Zeffiretti lusinghieri". Prague insertion in autograph of Idomeneo]. In: *Mozart Studien* 19, Tutzing: 195–224.
- Jonášová, M. 2011a. Das Orakel aus Mozarts »Idomeneo« in der Münchner Uraufführungspartitur und die frühen Prager Quellen [Oracle's pronouncement in Mozart's "Idomeneo" in Munich performance score and early Prague copies]. In: *Mozart Studien 20*, Tutzing: 73–134.
- Jonášová, M. 2011b. Das Testament und die Verlassenschaftsabhandlung von Josepha Duschek [The will and the estate inventory of Josepha Duschek].
 In: Böhmische Aspekte des Lebens und des Werkes von W. A. Mozart, eds. M. Jonášová, T. Volek, Prag: 39–124.
- Jonášová, M. 2011c. Eine Aufführung der g-moll-Sinfonie KV 550 bei Baron van Swieten im Beisein Mozarts [A performance of Symphony in G minor KV 550 at Baron van Swieten in the presence of Mozart]. In: *Mozart Studien* 20, Tutzing: 253–268.
- Jonášová, M. 2012a. A Performance of the G Minor Symphony K. 550 at Baron van Swieten's Rooms in Mozart's Presence. In: *Newsletter of the Mozart Society of America* 16, Number 1, 27. January 2012: 1–4, 17.
- Jonášová, M. 2012b. "Mozart selbst schenkte ihm seinen Beifall" Der Prager Kontrabassist und Musikalienverleger Anton Grams, sein Salzburger Gesuch und die Wiener Verlassenschaftabhandlung ["Mozart himself gave him his approval" – The Prague double bass player and music publisher Anton Grams in Salzburg and Vienna]. In: *Mozart Studien* 21, Tutzing: 337–368.
- Julia, D. 2000. Pour une géographie européenne du pèlerinage à l'époque moderne et contemporaine. In: *Pèlerins et pèlerinages dans l'Europe moderne. Collection de l'école française de Rome* 262: 3-126.
- Kaeppler, A. L. 1991. American Approaches to the Study of Dance. *Yearbook for Traditional Music:* 11–21.
- Kaeppler, A. L. Dunin, E. I. 2007. Dance Structures. In: *Perspectives on the Analysis of Human Movement*. Budapest: Akadémiai Kiadó.

- Kafka, L. 2005. *Malované na skle: Lidové podmalby* [Painted on glass: Folk reverse glass paintings]. Praha: Lika klub.
- Kafka, L. 2007a. *Auf Glas gemalt. Volkstümliche Hintarglasbilder aus Böhmen, Mähren und Schlesien* [Painted on glass. Folk pictures on glass from Bohemia, Moravia and Silesia]. München: Wolfgang Steiner.
- Kafka, L. 2007b. *Auf Glas gemalt. Volkstümliche Hintarglasbilder aus Böhmen, Mähren und Schlesien.* München: Wolfgang Steiner.
- Kafka, L. Petráň, T. 2008. *Lidová řemesla. Nositelé tradic 1* [Folk crafts. Bearers of tradition 1]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Kafka, L. Kalinová, A. Petráňová, L. 2009a. *Dárek z pouti. Poutní a pouťové umění* [Pilgrimage gifts. Art from pilgrimages and fairs]. Praha: Lika klub Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Kafka, L. Petráň, T. 2009b. *Betlemáři. Kapitoly z historie a současnostií tvorby betlémů* [Nativity-scene makers. Chapters from the history and present state of the production of nativity scenes]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Kafka, L. Petráň, T. 2010a. *Lidová řemesla 2. Nositelé tradic* [Folk crafts 2. Bearers of tradition] Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Kafka, L. Petráň, T. 2010b. *Od Popelce do Provody. Nositelé tradic* [From Ash Wednesday to Easter Monday. Bearers of tradition]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Kafka, L. 2011. Dárek z pouti. Na okraj poutní kultury [Gift from pilgrimage. On margin of pilgrimage culture]. *Středočeský vlastivědný sborník* 29: 8–29.
- Kachlík, J. Srnka, M. (eds.). 2004. Antonín Dvořák: Stabat Mater, op. 58, klavírní výtah podle původní Dvořákovy klavírní verze [A vocal score based on Dvořák's original piano version]. Kassel etc.: Bärenreiter.
- Kachlík, J. 2007. "Titel und leider auch die Texte sind bloß böhmisch." Die "Klänge aus Mähren" [Moravské dvojzpěvy] im Wandel ihrer ersten Druckausgaben. [The title and unfortunately also the texts are only in Czech: Moravian Duets in transformations of their first prints]. In: Gabrielová, J. Kachlík, J. (eds.). 2007. *The Work of Antonín Dvořák (1841–1904)*. Aspects of composition Problems of editing Reception. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR: 265–276.
- Kachlík, J. 2009. *Hledání autenticity. Dvořákovy Moravské dvojzpěvy a historie jejich vydávání* [Search for authenticity. Dvořák's Moravian Duets and the history of their publication]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.

- Kachlík, J. 2010. A Missing Fibich Autograph Found in Vienna. In: Musicologica Olomucensia 12: Zdeněk Fibich, středoevropský skladatel konce 19. století / Zdeněk Fibich as a Central European composer at the end of the nineteenth century, Olomouc: Universitas Palackiana Olomucensis: 119–128.
- Kachlík, J. 2011a. "It isn't at all ruinous [..], but to me it is very awkward." The new complete edition of the works of Dvořák stimulates new research. *Czech Music Quarterly* 2: 33–43.
- Kachlík, J. 2011b. Ze které Sušilovy sbírky čerpal Dvořák texty k Moravským dvojzpěvům? [From which Sušil's collection Dvořák drew texts for his Moravian Duets?]. In: Petöczová, J. (ed.). Ad honorem Richard Rybarič. Zborník z muzikologickej konferencie Musicologica historica I, venovanej nedožitým 80. narodeninám Richarda Rybariča (1930–1989). Bratislava: Ústav hudobnej vedy SAV: 149–158.
- Kachlík, J. 2012. The complete Smetana correspondence edition finally on the horizon. *Czech Music Quarterly* 1: 21–25.
- Kachlík, J. 2014. Keller revidiert Dvořák: Zum "Herstellungsprozess" in der frühen Zusammenarbeit des Komponisten mit dem Verlag N. Simrock [Keller revises Dvořák: Regarding the publishing process in the early collaboration of the composer with the publisher N. Simrock]. *Hudební* věda 3–4: 353–364.
- Kapsa, V. 2009. Missing music. The baroque concerto in Bohemia. *Czech Music* 3: 30–41.
- Kapsa, V. 2010. Hudebníci hraběte Morzina. Příspěvek k dějinám šlechtických kapel v Čechách v době baroka. S tematickými katalogy instrumentální tvorby Antonína Reichenauera, Christiana Gottlieba Postela a Františka Jiránka [Count Morzin's musicians. A contribution to the history of Kapellen in Baroque Bohemia. With thematic catalogues of instrumental works by Antonín Reichenauer, Christian Gottlieb Postel and František Jiránek]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Kapsa, V. 2012. Account books, names and music: Count Wenzel von Morzin's Virtuosissima Orchestra. *Early music* 40, 4: 605–620.
- Kapsa, V. 2014a. Die Musik in der St. Nikolauskirche auf der Prager Kleinseite in der ersten Hälfte des 18. Jahrhunderts [Music in St. Nicholas church in the Lesser Town of Prague during the first half of the 18th century]. *Musicologica Brunensia* 49, 1: 189–209.

- Kapsa, V. 2014b. The Violin Concerto in D Major RV Anh. 8 and several other issues concerning František Jiránek (1698–1778). *Studi Vivaldiani* 14: 15–43.
- Kaschuba, W. 2003. Einführung in die Europäische Ethnologie. München: Beck.
- Klímová, D. Otčenášek, J. 2012. *Česká pohádka v 19. století* [Czech tale in the 19th century]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Kolátorová, P. 2007. Antonín Dvořák: Dumka a furiant op. 12/1, 2. Studie k ediční problematice Dvořákových klavírních děl [The 2nd study on editions of Dvořák 's works for piano]. *Hudební věda* 44, 1: 61–74.
- Kopalová, L. Holubová, M. 2008. *Katalog kramářských tisků* [Catalogue of broadside prints]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Kordík, P. 2007. Vítězslav Novák a symbolismus. Údolí nového království, op. 31, 1903 [Vítězslav Novák and symbolism. Valley of the New Kingdom, op. 31, 1903]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Kordík, P. 2009a. Prostá píseň umění kompozice. Miloslava Kabeláče Šest ukolébavek (1956) [The simple song - an art of composition. Six Lullabies by Miloslav Kabeláč]. *Hudební věda* 46, 3: 277–308.
- Kordík P. 2009b. Ukolébavka v prostoru prostor v ukolébavce. Miloslava Kabeláče Šest ukolébavek (1956) [The lullaby in space – space in the lullaby. Six Lullabies by Miloslav Kabeláč]. *Hudební věda* 46, 4: 393–417.
- Kormaník, O. 2013. Nedourčenost vědeckých teorií, holismus a bayesovské mechanismy výběru [Underdetermination of scientific theories, holism and Bayesian selection mechanisms]. In: Škabraha, M. (et al.), *Limity vědeckého poznání*. Ostrava: Filozofická fakulta Ostravské univerzity: 95–105.
- Kosek, P. Slavický, T. Škarpová, M. (eds.). 2012. *Fridrich Bridelius, Jesličky, staré nové písničky* [Frederick Bridelius, Crib, old new songs]. Brno: Host – Masarykova univerzita.
- Koselleck, R. 2000. Raum und Geschichte. In: Koselleck, R. (ed.): Zeitschichten. Studien zur Historik. Frankfurt am Main: Suhrkamp Verlag: 78–96.
- Kosíková, J. 1999. *Lidové tance a dětské hry ve filmotéce Etnologického ústavu AV ČR. Filmografie* [Folk dances and children's games in the filmography of the Institute of Ethnology of the CAS]. Brno: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Kosíková, J. 2000. Videodokumentace na brněnském pracovišti Etnologického ústavu AV ČR [Video documentation department at the Brno Institute of Ethnology of the CAS]. Český lid 87: 249–261.

- Köstlin, K. Nikitsch, H. Niedermüller, P. (eds.). 2002. *Die Wende als Wende: Orientierungen Europäischer Ethnologien nach 1989.* Wien: Universität Wien.
- Koubská, L. Pacner, K. Speváková, Š. 2002. Příběhy české vědy [Czech science stories]. Praha: Academia. Příslušná stať Libuše Koubské Přímý přenos z první poloviny 19. století na s. 183–190.
- Kovačevičová, S. Frolec, V. Vařeka, J. 1975. *Etnografický atlas ČSSR. Návrh projektu* [Ethnographic atlas of Czechoslovakia. A research project]. (rukopis/manuscript). Bratislava Brno Praha.
- Kramařík, J. 1978. Problém regionální diferenciace starších forem české lidové kultury ve světle dosavadních výsledků etnokartografických snah [A problem of spatial differentiation of older forms of the Czech folk culture in the light of previous ethnocartographical studies]. In: *Etnografický atlas 1.* Praha: Ústav pro etnografii a folkloristiku ČSAV: 39–125.
- Kratochvíl, M. Tyllner, L. 2007. *Masopustní koleda na Doudlebsku* [Carnival carol in the Doudlebsko region]. Publikace a CD. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Kratochvíl, M. 2009. Lidová hudba v Československu 1929–1937. Nahrávky fonografické komise České akademie věd a umění [Folk music in Czechoslovakia from 1929 to 1937. Phonographic recordings Committee of the Czech Academy of Sciences and Arts]. Praha.
- Kratochvíl, M. 2014. Etnomuzikolog z Marsu v Čechách. Soudobá vážná hudba a její místo v české společnosti po roce 1989 [An ethnomusicologist from Mars in the Czech lands . Contemporary classical music and its place in Czech society after 1989]. *Muzikologické fórum* 3, 1–2: 278–281.
- Kratochvílová, M. 2014. Alfred: Dvořák's first opera and its fate. *Czech Music Quarterly* 3: 7–11.
- Kratochvílová, M. Kroupa, J. 2014. *Otakar Ostrčil. A Catalogue of the works*. Praha: Koniasch Latin Press.
- Kuna, M. (et al.). 1987–2004. Antonín Dvořák. Korespondence a dokumenty / Korrespondenz und Dokumente / Correspondence and documents. Vol. 1–10. Praha.
- Kunst, J. 1950. *Musicologica: A Study of the Nature of Ethnomusicology, Its Problems, Methods, and Representative Personalities.* Amsterdam: Indisch Instituut.

- Kušniráková, T. Čižinský, P. 2011. Dvacet let české migrační politiky: liberální, restriktivní nebo ještě jiná? [Twenty years of Czech migration policy: liberal, restrictive or even other?]. *Geografie* 116, 4: 497–517.
- Landová, L. 2002. Etnologický ústav AV ČR a jeho fondy [The Institute of Ethnology of the CAS and its collections]. In: Holubová, M. – Petráňová, L. – Woitsch, Jiří (ed.): Česká etnologie 2000. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR: 45–50.
- Lozoviuk, P. 2008. Interethnik im Wissenschaftsprozess. Deutschsprachige Volkskunde in Böhmen und ihre gesellschaftlichen Auswirkungen. Leipzig: Leipziger Universitätsverlag.
- Mácha, P. 2010. Krajiny antropologie a antropologie krajiny [Landscapes of anthropology and anthropology of landscape]. *Český lid* 97: 225–246.
- Markl, Jaroslav. 1987. *Nejstarší sbírky českých lidových písní* [The oldest collections of Czech folk songs]. Praha: Supraphon.
- Martínek, Z. 2000. Etnografický atlas Čech, Moravy a Slezska III. Řemeslná, domácká a manufakturní výroba a obchod v Čechách v letech 1752–1756 [Ethnographic atlas of Bohemia, Moravia and Silesia III. Crafts, cottage industry and manufacture production as well as trade in Bohemia 1752–1756]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Matějčková, H. 2012. Augener & Co., London neznámý Dvořákův nakladatel [Augener & Co., London – an unknown Dvořák publisher]. *Hudební věda* 49, 3: 247–266.
- Medick, H. 1984. "Missionare in Ruderboot?" Ethnologische erkenntnisweisen als Herausforderung an die Sozialgeschichte. *Geschichte und Gesellschaft* 10: 295–319.
- Medick, H. 1997. Weben und Überleben in Laichingen 1650–1900. Lokalgeschichte als Allgemeine Geschichte. Göttingen: Vandenhoeck and Ruprecht.
- Melzer, M. 2014. Anežka Šulová. Obrazy ze života na vesnicích severozápadní Moravy ve druhé polovině 19. století [Anežka Šulová. Images of life in the villages in northwest of Moravia in the second half of the 19th century]. Štíty: Pavel Ševčík – Veduta.
- Merriam, A. P. 1964. *The Anthropology of Music*. Evanston: Northwestern University Press.
- Merriam, A. P. 1974. Antropology of the Dance. In: Comstock, T. (ed.): New Dimensions in Dance Research: Antropology and dance The American
Indian. The Proceedings of the Third Conference on research in Dance. New York: CORD: 47–84.

- Munk, A. K. Jensen, T. E. 2014. Revisiting the Histories of Mapping: Is there a Future for a Cartographic Ethnology? *Ethnologia Europaea* 44: 31–47.
- Navrátilová, A. 2007. K reflexi genderových rolí v pozicích hlavních svatebních obřadníků tradiční lidové svatby [A reflection on gender roles in the positions of the main wedding priests and traditional folk wedding]. *Folia ethnographica* 41: 119–145.
- Navrátilová, A. 2012. *Namlouvání, láska a svatba v české lidové kultuře* [Courtship, love and marriage in the Czech folk culture]. Praha: nakladatelství Vyšehrad.
- Navrátilová, A. 2015. Revenantství v české lidové tradici jako obraz cizího, nepřátelského světa ["Revenantství" in Czech folk tradition as an image of foreign, hostile world]. *Studia mythologica slavica* 8: 115–136.
- Nosková, J. 2006a. Biografická metoda a vyprávění v praxi poznámky k terénnímu výzkumu [Biographical and narrative technique in practice – notes on field research]. In: Krekovičová, E. – Pospíšilová, J. (ed.): *Od folklórneho textu ku kontextu. Venované pamiatke PhDr. Márie Kosovej, CSc* [From the folk text to context. Dedicated to the memory of Mária Kosová]. Bratislava: Ústav etnológie SAV; Brno: Etnologický ústav AV ČR: 84–100.
- Nosková, J. 2006b. Brněnský disent a jeho každodennost [Brno dissent and its everyday life]. In: Vaněk, M. (ed.): *Mocní a bezmocní? Politické elity a disent v období tzv. normalizace. Interpretační studie životopisných interview* [Powerful and the Powerless? Political elites and dissidents during the period called normalization. An interpretive study of biographical interviews]. Praha: Prostor: 105–140.
- Nosková, J. 2007. Soutěž "Vzpomínky na život v Brně a okolí" ve sbírkách brněnského pracoviště Etnologického ústavu AV ČR, v. v. i [The contest "Memories of life in and around Brno" in the collections of the Brno Branch of the Institute of Ethnology, CAS]. In: *Museum vivum. Sborník Valašského muzea v přírodě v Rožnově pod Radhoštěm. Suplementum.* Rožnov pod Radhoštěm: Valašské muzeum v přírodě: 213–225.
- Nosková, J. Kubíčková, J. 2008a. Oslavy císařského jubilea v prosinci 1908 v Brně [Imperial jubilee celebrations in December 1908 in Brno]. In: *Brno v minulosti a dnes* 21: 553–586.
- Nosková, J. Kubíčková, J. 2008b. "Řeže v Brně". Pouliční demonstrace během oslav 60. výročí jubilea Františka Josefa ["Fights in Brno". Street

demonstrations during the celebration of the 60th jubilee of Franz Joseph]. In: Fasora, L. – Hanuš, J. – Malíř, J. (ed.): *Brno Vídni, Vídeň Brnu. Zemské metropole a centrum říše v 19. století*. Brno: Matice Moravská: 383–411.

- Nosková, J. Pospíšilová, J. 2008c. Zwischen Arbeit und Feier: eine "Brigade der sozialistischen Arbeit" an der Akademie der Wissenschaften. In: Roth, K. (Hg.): *Feste, Feiern, Rituale im östlichen Europa. Studien zur sozialistischen und postsozialistischen Festkultur.* Wien – Berlin: Lit Verlag: 101–122.
- Nosková, J. 2009a. Alltagsleben im Sozialismus. Zum ambivalenten Charakter des "Dissidenten-Ghettos". In: Obertreis, J. – Stephan, A. (Hg.): Erinnerungen nach der Wende. Oral History und (post)sozialistische Gesellschaften. Remembering after the Fall of Communism. Oral history and (Post-)Socialist Societies. Essen: Klartext: 371–387.
- Nosková, J. 2009b. "Punkte sammeln" oder "Es hat mich nicht gestört". Öffentliches und politisches Engagement als Bestandteil des Alltagslebens in der sozialistischen Tschechoslowakei. *Jahrbuch für Europäische Ethnologie* 4: 81–98.
- Nosková, J. 2009c. "Každý se musel nějak společensky uplatňovat". Veřejná angažovanost dělníků a příslušníků inteligence v Československu v období tzv. normalizace ["Everyone had to play a societal role". Public exposure of workers and intellectuals in Czechoslovakia during the so-called normalization]. In: Vaněk, M. (ed.): *Obyčejní lidé…?! Pohled do života tzv. mlčící většiny. Životopisná vyprávění příslušníků dělnických profesí a inteligence*. Praha: Academia: 212–250.
- Nosková, J. 2009d. Brněnský štatl. Mezi mýtem, subkulturou, zdrojem identity a "obchodní značkou"? [Brno "Štatl". Between myth, subculture, a source of identity and "brand name"?]. Český lid 96: 359–379.
- Nosková, J. 2009e. Životní příběhy výzkumy na pomezí mezi etnologií a historií [Life Stories Research on the border between ethnology and history]. *Národopisný věstník* 26, (68): 157–170.
- Nosková, J. 2010a. Obraz(y) Brna a života jeho obyvatel v Brünner Heimatbote 1948–1950 [Picture(s) of Brno and the life of its inhabitants in Brünner Heimatbote 1948–1950]. *Sociální studia* 7, 3: 15–33. In: Ferenčuhová, S. – Galčanová, L. – Vacková, B. (eds.): *Československé město*. Brno: FSS MU.
- Nosková, J. 2010b. "Brin ist nit hin!" Bilder der "Heimat" in der Publizistik der vertriebenen Brünner Deutschen Ende der 1940er und in den 1950er Jahren. *Jahrbuch für deutsche und osteuropäische Volkskunde* 51: 7–43.

- Nosková, J. 2011a. "A Laboratorium" of Complex Social Processes Shaping a New Society and a New Way of Life". On the Ethnographical Research of the Newly-Settled Border Region of the Czech Lands in the 1970s and 1980s. In: Brunnbauer, U. – Kraft, C. – Schulze Wessel, M. (Hrsg.): Sociology and Ethnography in East-Central and South-East Europe: Scientific Self-Description in State Socialist Countries. München: Oldenbourg: 213–233.
- Nosková, J. 2011b. Das tschechoslowakische Grenzgebiet nach der Vertreibung der sudetendeutschen Bevölkerung als ethnographisches Forschungsfeld. In: Meinke, M. A. (Hg.): *Die tschechisch-bayerische Grenze im Kalten Krieg in vergleichender Perspektive. Politische, ökonomische und soziokulturelle Dimensionen.* Regensburg: Stadtarchiv Regensburg: 35–46.
- Nosková, J. 2013a. Der Krautmarkt in Brünn. Ein regionaler Erinnerungsort im 20. und 21. Jahrhundert. In: Řezník, M. – Rosenbaum, K. – Stübner, J. (Hrsg.): *Regionale Erinnerungsorte. Böhmische Länder und Mitteldeutschland im europäischen Kontext*. Leipzig – Berlin: Kirchhof & Franke: 233–252.
- Nosková, J. Čermáková, J. 2013b. "Měla jsem moc krásné dětství". Vzpomínky německých obyvatel Brna na dětství a mládí ve 20.–40. letech 20. století / "Ich hatte eine sehr schöne Kindheit." Erinnerungen von Brünner Deutschen an ihre Kindheit und Jugend in den 1920er–1940er Jahren ["I had a wonderful childhood". Memories of German inhabitants of Brno about their childhood and youth in the 1920th–1940th]. Brno: Etnologický ústav AV ČR – pracoviště Brno a Statutární město Brno – Archiv města Brna.
- Nosková, J. 2014. Biografická metoda a metoda orální historie: Na příkladu výzkumu každodenního života v socialismu [Biographical method and oral history method: on an example of the research into everyday life in socialism]. Brno: Etnologický ústav AV ČR, Praha pracoviště Brno.
- Nouza, Z. 2010. *Miloslav Kabeláč. Tvůrčí profil skladatele* [Miloslav Kabeláč. A creative profile of the composer]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Novotný, J. Secká, M. Sedlická, K. Woitsch, J. 2008. Český lid. Etnologický časopis 1946–2000. Bibliografie [Český lid. Ethnological Journal 1946–200. Bibliography]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Oddy, D. J. Petráňová, L. (eds.). 2005. *The diffusion of food culture in Europe from the late eighteenth century to the present day*. Praha: Academia.
- Otčenášek, J. 2005. Čeští Němci po roce 1945: Proměny žitého prostoru a princip etnické rezignace [Germans in Bohemia after 1945. Changes in lived space and principles of ethnic resignation]. *Český lid* 92: 409–422.

- Otčenášek, J. 2006a. *Němci v Čechách po roce 1945. Na příkladu západního Podještědí* [Germans in Bohemia after 1945. An example of the Western Podještědí region.]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR Praha: Scriptorium.
- Otčenášek, J. Kindlerová, A. 2006b. *Ateš Periša, ohnivý muž. Legendy, pohádky a humorky z Bosny a Hercegoviny* [Ateš Periša, a fiery man. Legends, fairy tales and jokes from Bosnia and Herzegovina]. Praha: Argo.
- Otčenášek, J. 2007. Česká lidová slovesnost a internet: Humor v e-mailech [Czech oral folklore and the Internet: Humor and Email]. Český lid 94: 363–375.
- Otčenášek, J. 2011a. On a knife's edge. Czech Ethnology and Czech/Sudeten Germans in the Years 1953 to 1989. In: Brunnbauer, U. – Kraft, C. – Schulze Wessel, M. (eds.): Sociology and Ethnography in East-Central and South-East Europe: Scientific Self-Description in State Socialist Countries. München: Oldenbourg: 235–242.
- Otčenášek, J. 2011b. Pausaniova "Cesta po Řecku" jako folkloristický pramen [Pausanias' "Description of Greece" as a folkloristic source]. *Český lid* 98: 53–72.
- Otčenášek, J. 2012a. Antropologie narativity problematika české pohádky [Anthropology of Narrative – problems of the Czech tales]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Otčenášek, J. 2012b. ETNOFOLK, webový portál o tradicích a lidové kultuře, oslovuje své budoucí uživatele a přispěvatele [ETNOFOLK, a web project on traditions and folk culture]. *Národopisná revue* 22: 159.
- Otčenášek, J. 2012c. Pohádky a pověsti Boženy Němcové adaptace lidových podání [Božena Němcová's tales and legends the adaptation of folk Stories]. Český lid 99: 299–306.
- Otčenášek, J. 2013a. *Jak uvařit etnofolk. Partneři projektu* [How to cook ethnofolk. Partners of Project]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Otčenášek, J. Baeva, V. Georgieva, A. Dimitrova, C. Dobreva, D. Grigorov, G. Ch. – Koceva, J. – Borisova, M. – Elčinova, M. – Ivanova, M. – Vukov, N. – Petkova, S. – Ganeva-Rajčeva, V. – Penčev, V. 2013b. Slovník termínů slovesného folkloru – Bulharsko / Rečnik na terminite ot slovesnija folklor – Bălgarija [Dictionary of terms of oral folklore. Bulgaria]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR; Sofie: Institut za etnologija i folkloristika s Etnografski muzej BAN.

- Pavlásek, M. 2010. Případ Svatá Helena. (Re)interpretace náboženských dějin české obce v Rumunsku [The case of Saint Helena. (Re)interpretation of religious history of the Czech village in Romania]. Český lid 97: 363–382.
- Pavlásek, M. Nosková, J. 2013a. Když výzkum, tak kvalitativní. Serpentinami bádání v terénu [When research, then qualitative. Through the serpentines of the research in the field]. Brno: Masarykova univerzita, Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Pavlásek, M. 2013b. Clopodia česky zvaná Klopotín. Zapomenutá moravská kolonizace Banátu v multilokálním etnografickém bádání [Clopodia, in Czech Klopotín. The forgotten Moravian colonization of Banat in multi-sited ethnographic research]. Český lid 100: 149–172.
- Pavlásek, M. 2015. S motykou a Pánem Bohem: Po stopách českých evangelíků ve Vojvodině [With a "hoe and the Lord God: In the footsteps of Czech Protestants in Voivodina]. Brno: Etnologický ústav AV ČR, Praha pracoviště Brno.
- Pegg, C. 1986. An Ethnomusicological Approach to Traditional Music in East Suffolk. In: Ian, R. (ed.): *Singer, Song and Scholar*. Sheffield: 55–72.
- Petráň, J. Petráňová, L. 2011. *Dějiny českého venkova v příběhu Ouběnic* [History of Czech countryside on the example of Ouběnice]. Praha: Nakladatelství Lidové noviny.
- Petráň, J. Petráňová, L. 2015. Filozofové dělají revoluci. Filozofická fakulta Univerzity Karlovy během komunistického experimentu (1948–1968–1989)
 [Philosophers are making the revolution. The Faculty of Arts of Charles University Charles University during the communist experiment (1948– 1968–1989)]. Praha: Karolinum.
- Petráňová, L. 2000. Lid, národ a český národopis v letech 1953–1963 [People, nation and Czech ethnography in 1953–1963]. In: Barvíková, H. Ďurčanský, P. Kodera, P. (eds.): Věda v Československu 1953–1963. Praha: výzkumné centrum pro dějiny vědy: 305–322.
- Petráňová, L. 2007. Družbové na Podblanicku tradice stále živá [Groomsmen in Podblanicko a tradition still alive]. *Sborník vlastivědných prací z Podblanicka* 47: 329–360.
- Petráňová, L. 2008. *Domovní znamení staré Prahy* [House signs of old Prague]. Praha: Academia.
- Petráňová, L. 2009a. Friedrich Julius Rottmann, Popis svatebních obyčejů u známých národů. Rituale nupturientium: Bremen 1715 [Friedrich Julius

Rottmann, Description of the wedding customs of well-known nations, Rituale nupturientium: Bremen 1715]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.

- Petráňová, L. 2009b. Kam s nimi? Hesla a nápisy v ulicích z listopadu 1989 [Where to put them? Slogans and street graffiti of November 1989]. Český *lid* 96: 421–444.
- Petráňová, L. 2010. Marie Kovářová a výzkum tradičních svateb na Podblanicku [Marie Kovářová and the investigation of traditional weddings in the Podblanicko region]. *Sborník vlastivědných prací z Podblanicka* 50: 271–284.
- Petráňová, L. 2012. Nevěsta a ženich koupili si kožich. České země a okolí [The bride and groom bought a fur coat. Czech lands and surroundings]. In: Jiroušková, J. (ed.): Svatební rituály u nás a ve světě. Praha: Nakladatelství Lidové noviny: 13–45.
- Poledňák, I. Kuna. M. (et al.). 1994. Ústav pro hudební vědu Akademie věd České republiky 1962–1994 [The Institute for Musicology of the Czech Academy of Sciences 1962–1994]. Praha: Ústav pro hudební vědu AV ČR.
- Pospíšilová, J. (ed.). 2003. *Rajče na útěku. Kapitoly o kultuře a folkloru dnešních dětí a mládeže s ukázkami* [A tomato on the run. Chapters about the culture and folklore of today's children and young people]. Brno: Etnologický ústav AV ČR Brno.
- Pospíšilová, J. Nosková, J. (eds.). 2006. Od lidové písně k evropské etnologii. 100 let Etnologického ústavu Akademie věd České republiky [From folk songs to European ethnology. 100 years of the Institute of Ethnology of the Czech Academy of Sciences]. Brno: Etnologický ústav AV ČR Praha – pracoviště Brno.
- Pospíšilová, J. Toncrová, M. 2008. Současný stav a vývojové tendence v české folkloristice [Current conditions and trends Czech folklore studies]. In: *Slovenski folklor i folkloristika na razmedi dva milenijuma*. Beograd: Balkanološki institut SANU: 121–137.
- Pospíšilová, J. 2010. Das Leben der Wiener Tschechen im Spiegel von Zeitzeuggnissen. [The life of Viennese Czechs as reflected in the accounts of contemporary witnesses]. In: Wonisch, R. (ed.): *Tschechen in Wien. Zwischen nationaler Selbstbehauptung and Assimilation*. Wien: Erhard Löcker: 187–205.
- Pospíšilová, J. Mair, J. 2011a. Tenure Change and Sociability: Transformation of Neighbourly Relations. In: *Residential change and demographic challenge: the inner city of East Central Europe in the 21st century*. Surrey: Ashgate Publishing Limited: 277–297.

- Pospíšilová, J. Uhlíková, L. 2011b. Dětská folklorní komunikace v rýmech možnosti interdisciplinárního přístupu [Children's folklore communication in rhymes: possibilities of an interdisciplinary approach]. *Slovenský národopis* 59, 1: 29–46.
- Pospíšilová, J. 2012. Šale i strašilice najživli delovi usmene kniževnosti današne dece? [Jokes and horror stories – the liveliest oral literature of today's children?]. In: Karanović, Z. – Blécourt, W. (eds.): *Belief Narrative Gendres*. Novi Sad: Filozofski fakultet: 229–238.
- Pospíšilová, J. Uhlíková, L. 2014. Folklor dětí a jeho etnologický výzkum [Folklore of children and its ethnological research]. Brno: Etnologický ústav AV ČR, Praha – pracoviště Brno.
- Pospíšilová, J. 2014. *To sem čula na vlastní oči…: Tradiční vyprávění na nedašovském Závrší* [I have heard it with my own eyes…: Traditional storytelling at Nedašovské Závrší]. Brno: Etnologický ústav AV ČR, Praha pracoviště Brno; Valašské Klobouky: Muzejní společnost ve Valašských Kloboukách.
- Pospíšilová, J. Altman, K. (eds.). 2015. *Děti v Brně. Kapitoly o dětství ve městě pod Špilberkem* [Children in Brno. Chapters on childhood in the city under Špilberk]. Brno: Etnologický ústav AV ČR Brno; Doplněk.
- Pospíšilová, J. Brožovičová, K. 2015. Dělnický dům a proměny sociálně vyloučené oblasti. Případová studie lokality Brno-Cejl [Workers' House and the transformation of socially excluded areas. Case study of Brno-Cejl locality]. *Journal of urban ethnology* 13: 157–176.
- Princ, B. 2012. Zpráva o výsledcích zpracování pozůstalosti Jaromíra Paclta [Report on the results of the processing of the estate of Jaromir Paclt]. *Hudební věda* 47, 2–3: 321.
- Procházková, J. 2006. *Janáčkovy záznamy hudebního a tanečního folkloru. I. Komentáře* [Janáček records of music and dance folklore. I. Comments]. Brno: Etnologický ústav AV ČR Praha – pracoviště Brno, oddělení hudební historie v nakladatelství DOPLNĚK.
- Procházková, J. 2007. Návrh zásad kritického vydání Janáčkových záznamů hudebního a tanečního folkloru. [The proposed principles for the critical edition of the Janáček recordings of musical and dance folklore.] *Hudební věda* 44, 2: 200–224.
- Procházková, J. 2009. *Janáčkovy Luhačovice. Genius loci et genius musicae.* [Janáček's Luhačovice.] Luhačovice.

- Procházková, J. 2010. Nápěvky mluvy společné téma Antonína Václavíka a Leoše Janáčka [Speech melodies – common topic for Antonín Václavík and Leoš Janáček]. In: Antonín Václavík (1891–1959) a evropská etnologie. Kontexty doby a díla, ed. D. Drápala. Brno: Masarykova univerzita: 45–52.
- Procházková, J. 2011a. Kritická edice folklorních záznamů Leoše Janáčka
 [Critical edition of folklore recordings by Leoš Janáček]. In: L. Uhlíková
 (et al.): Hudební a taneční folklor v ediční praxi, Edice Kultura společnost
 tradice IV. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR: 243–260.
- Procházková, J. 2011b. Janáčkovy srbské foklorní inspirace: Zpěvy lidu srbského. [Janáček's Serbian folklore inspirations: Songs of the Serbian People.] *Hudební věda* 48, 4: 393–402.
- Procházková, J. 2011c. Janáček's regionalism in the light of new findings and current knowledge. In: *LEOS JANACEK. Création et culture européenne*. Eds. B. Banoun, L. Stranska, J. Velly. Paris: l'Harmattan: 37–48.
- Procházková, J. (et al.) 2012. As recorded by the phonograph. Slovak and Moravian songs recorded by Hynek Bím, Leoš Janáček and Františka Kyselková in 1909–1912. Praha – Brno: Etnologický ústav AV ČR
- Procházková, J. 2013a. Od živé tradice k teorii: poznámky k původu Janáčkova odborného termínu "zhušťování". [From a living tradition to the theory: Comments on the origin of the term 'Zhušťování' in Janáček's terminology]. In: Od folkloru k world music: Co patří do encyklopedie, eds. L. Uhlíková, M. Pavlicová, Náměšť nad Oslavou: Městské kulturní středisko: 22–30.
- Procházková, J. 2013b. Franjo Ksaver Kuhač and Moravia. In: *Franjo Ksaver Kuhač (1834–1911). Glazbena historiografija i identitet*. Ed. S. Tuksar. Zagreb: Croatian musicological society: 151–157.
- Procházková, J. 2013c. Leoš Janáček a brněnské paměťové instituce. [Leoš Janáček and memory institutions in Brno]. *Hudební věda* 50, 3–4: 335–350.
- Rooijakkers, G. W. J. Meurkens P. 2000. Struggling with the European Atlas: Voskuil's Portrait of European Ethnology. *Ethnologia Europaea* 30: 75–95.
- Schama S. 2007. Krajina a paměť [Landscape and memory]. Praha: Argo.
- Scheufler, V. 1991. *Etnografický atlas 2* [Ethnographic atlas 2]. Praha: Ústav pro etnografii a folkloristiku ČSAV.
- Schlumbohm, J. 1994. Lebensläufe, Familien, Höfe: Die Bauern und Heuerleute des Osnabrückischen Kirchspiels Belm in proto-industrieller Zeit, 1650–1860. Göttingen: Vandenhoeck and Ruprecht.

- Schmitt, T. 2008. Das Schaffen Antonín Dvořáks aus der Perspektive der heutigen Musikphilologie – Werk, Aufführung, Überlieferung, Internationales Symposium, Mainz, 26.–28. 6. 2008. Hudební věda 45, 3–4: 394–396.
- Simon, M. 2003. "Volksmedizin" im frühen 20. Jahrhundert. Zum Quellenwert des Atlas der Deutschen Volkkunde. *Volkskunde in Rheinland-Pfalz* 18: 141–154.
- Simon, M. 2005. Der Atlas der Deutschen Volskunde Kapitel oder Kapital des Faches? In: Schmitt, Ch. (Hrsg.): *Volkkundliche Grossprojekte. Ihre geschichte und Zukunft.* Münster: Waxmann Verlag: 51–62.
- Sirovátka, O. 1978. Dík a přání [Thanks and wishes]. *Národopisné aktuality* 15: 172.
- Sirovátka, O. (et al.). 1993: *Město pod Špilberkem*. O lidové kultuře, tradicích a životě lidí v Brně a okolí [The City under the Špilberk Castle. The folk culture, traditions and life of the people in and around Brno]. Brno: Doplněk.
- Skaloš, J. Novotný, M. Woitsch, J. Zacharová, J. Berchová, K. Svoboda, M. – Křováková, K. – Romportl, D. – Keken, Z. 2015. What are the transitions of woodlands at the landscape level? Change trajectories of forest, nonforest and reclamation woody vegetation elements in a mining landscape in north-western Czech Republic. *Applied Geography* 58: 206–216.
- Slavický, T. 2008. Kramářský tisk jako hymnografický pramen několik poznámek k repertoáru mariánských poutních písní v 19. století [Broadside prints as a hymnographic source – some remarks to the repertory of Marian pilgrimage songs of the 19th century]. In: Holubová, Markéta a kol.: Obraz ženy v kramářské produkci, Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR: 169–188.
- Slavický, T. 2012a. Die Weihnachtslieder im Gesangbuch Jesličky (1658) zwischen deutscher Hymnographie und übernationalem Repertoire. *Hudební věda* 49, 4: 399–415.
- Slavický, T. 2012b. Die Weihnachtslieder von Fridrich Bridelius und ihre Rezeption in 17.–19. Jahrhundert. In: *Musicologica Brunensia* 47: 65–78.
- Slavický, T. 2014a. Das Requiem Solemne von Johann Zach. Ein Werk und seine Rezeptionsgeschichte. *Wissenschaftliches Jahrbuch der Tiroler Landesmuseen*. Innsbruck: StudienVerlag: 89–101.
- Slavický, T. 2014b. Ritus romanus slavonico idiomate. Cyrilometodějská tradice v konceptu Josefa Vajse a obnova staroslověnské liturgie v českých zemích na počátku 20. století [Ritus romanus slavonico idiomate. The Cyrillo-

Methodian tradition in the conception of Josef Vajs and the Old-Slavonic liturgy in the Czech lands at the beginning of the 20th century]. *Slavica Litteraria* 17, 1: 41–59.

- Soja, E. W. 1989. Postmodern Geographies: The Reassertion of Space in Critical Social Theory. New York: Verso.
- Spurný, T. 2000. Nordböhmische Volkslieder aus der Sammlung von Adolf König. Notenaufzeichnungen und Dokumente eines Reichenberger Volksliedsammlers aus den Jahren 1904–1934. Passau: Lehrstuhl für Volkskunde der Universität Passau.
- Stavělová, D. 1996. *Lidové tance v guberniálním sběru z r. 1819* [Folk dances in the Gubernatorial collection of 1819]. Praha: ARTAMA.
- Stavělová, D. 2006. Polka jako český národní symbol [Polka dance as the Czech national symbol]. Č*eský lid* 93, 1: 3–26.
- Stavělová, D. 2008. Červená růžičko, proč se nerozvíjíš. Doudlebská masopustní koleda: tanec, identita, status a integrace [Red rose, why not blooming. Doudlebská carnival carol: dance, identity, status and integration]. Multimediální studie, DVD a textová část. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Stavělová, D. 2012. Tanec v literární tvorbě Boženy Němcové: fikce nebo fakta? [Dance in literary work of Božena Němcová: fiction or facts?]. Český lid 99, 3: 259–280.
- Stavělová, D. 2014a. Tanec v pamětech, denících a memoárové literatuře: Interpretační dilema [Dance in memoirs, diaries, memoir literature: Interpretation dilemma]. *Národopisná revue* 1: 91–100.
- Stavělová, D. 2014b. The oldest records of Czech traditional dances: Rethinking dancescape. In: Fiskvik, A. Fiskvik, M. Stranden, M. (eds.): (*Re*)Searching the Field. Festschrift in Honour of Egil Bakka. Trondheim: Fagbokforlaget.
- Stavělová, D. Traxler, J. Vejvoda, Z. (eds.). 2004. Tanec: záznam, analýza, pojmy [Dance: recording, analysis, concepts]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Stavělová, D. Traxler, J. Vejvoda, Z. (eds.). 2008. Prostředí tance. Hranice identity a jejich překračování [Environment dance. Boundaries of identity and crossing]. Praha: NIPOS a Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Stobart, H. (ed.). 2008. *The New (Ethno)musicologies*. Lanham Maryland: The Scarecrow Press.

- Svejkovský, J. 2007. *Pastýřské vytrubování na Podbrdsku* [Shepherd's trumpets play in the Podbrdsko region]. K vydání připravil Lubomír Tyllner. Publikace a CD. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Svobodová, M. 1967. Fonoarchív ÚEF Brno [Phonoarchive at ÚEF Brno]. Národopisné aktuality 4, 2: 39–42.
- Šikulová, A. 2013. Vývoj porodnosti ve farnosti Libčany v "dlouhém" 19. století (1785–1914) [The development of natality in the parish of Libčany throughout the "long" nineteenth century (1785–1914)]. *Historická demografie* 37: 23–49.
- Škarpová, M. Slavický, T. 2008. Prolegomena zu einer neuen, noch nicht angefertigten Edition der Jesličky von F. Bridelius. In: Kačic, L. – Zavarský, S. (eds.): Aurora Musas nutrit. Die Jesuiten und die Kultur Mitteleuropas im 16.–18. Jahrhundert. Bratislava: 291–301.
- Škarpová, M. Slavický, T. Kosek, P. 2012. Sem, sem, Děťátko kritická edice české barokní písně. [Sem, sem, Děťátko – a critical edition of the Czech Baroque hymn.] In: *Listy filologické* 1–2: 155–175.
- Šmídová, L. (ed.) 2014. *Dvořák. Tragická ouvertura*. [Tragic overture]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Špelda, D. 2009. *Proměny historiografie vědy* [Transformations of the historiography of science]. Praha: Filosofia.
- Šrámková, M. 2008. Česká prozaická folkloristika v letech 1945–2000: přehled, vývoj, témata, bibliografie [Czech prosaic folklore in the years 1945–2000: overview, development, themes, bibliography]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Tangherlini, T. R. 2010. Legendary Performances: Folklore, Repertoire and Mapping. *Ethnologia Europaea* 40, 2: 103.
- Thořová, V. (ed.). 1995. *Lidové písně z Chodska ze sbírky Ludvíka Kuby* [Folk songs from the Chodsko region the collection by Ludvík Kuba]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Thořová, V. 1997. České písně z ukrajinské Volyně ze sběru Jana Pospíšila a Vjačeslavy Lohvinové [Czech songs from Ukrainian Volhynia from the collections by Jan Pospíšil and Vjačeslava Lohvinova]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Thořová, V. (ed.). 2002. *Lidové písně z Úpicka ze sbírky Boženy Čapkové a Karla Kořízka* [Folk songs from the Úpicko region from the collection by Božena Čapková and Karel Kořízek]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.

- Thořová, V. 2005. *Velikonoční a předvelikonoční koledy* [Easter and pre-Easter carols]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Thořová, V. 2009. *Lidové písně z Havlíčkobrodska* [Czech folk songs from the Havlíčkobrodsko region]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Thořová, V. Traxler, J. Vejvoda, Z. 2011, 2013a. *Lidové písně z Prahy ve sbírce Františka Homolky. Studie / kritická edice I, II* [Prague folk songs in collections by František Homolka I, II]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Thořová, V. Vejvoda, Z. 2013b. *V Prachaticích za bránou* [In Prachatice behind the gate]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Toncrová, M. 2006a. Život s písní. K nedožitým 90. narozeninám zpěváka Jožky Severina [Life with a song. In honour of what would have been the 90th birthday of the singer Jožka Severin.]. *Slovácko* 48: 103–108.
- Toncrová, M. 2006b. Lidové písně a nejmladší generace [The folk songs and the joungest generation]. *Národopisná revue* 16, 2: 99–103.
- Toncrová, M. 2006c. Reflexe Cikána v lidových písních českých zemí [Reflection of a Gypsy in folk songs in the Czech lands]. *Český lid* 93: 225–242.
- Toncrová, M. 2009a. Transformace hudebních folklorních projevů v procesu tradování (se zřetelem k situaci na přelomu tisíciletí) [The transformation of musical-folklore manifestations in a tradition process (taking into account the situation at the turn of the millennium)]. *Etnologické rozpravy* 16, 1–2: 95–103.
- Toncrová, M. 2009b. Gesang und Musik in der gegenwärtigen ethnokulturellen Tradition. [Singing and music in ... in the contemporary ethnocultural tradition]. *Jahrbuch für Europäische Ethnologie* 3, 4: 121–128.
- Toncrová, M. Uhlíková, L. (eds.). 2010a. *Písně z Kopanic ze zápisů Josefa* Černíka [Songs from Kopanice from the records by Josef Černík]. Brno: Etnologický ústav AV ČR, v. v. i, pracoviště Brno.
- Toncrová, M. 2010b. Proměny lidové písně [Transformations of folk song]. Národopisná revue 20, 2: 126–131.
- Toncrová, M. Smutná, S. (eds.). 2011a. *Lidové písně z Podhorácka I. Velkobítešsko a Náměšťsko* [Folk songs from Podhorácko I. Velkobítešsko and Náměšťsko]. Třebíč: Muzeum Vysočiny Třebíč; Brno: Etnologický ústav AV ČR, Praha – pracoviště Brno.
- Toncrová, M. Uhlíková, L. 2011b. Edice lidových písní a čistota dialektu [Folk song edition and the purity of a dialect]. In: Uhlíková, L. (et al.): *Hudební a taneční folklor v ediční praxi*. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR: 41–58.

- Toncrová, M. Smutná, S. (eds.). 2013a. Lidové písně z Podhorácka II. Třebíčsko, Moravskobudějovicko, Hrotovicko a Jemnicko [Folk songs from Podhorácko II. Třebíčsko, Moravské Budějovice area, Hrotovicko and Jemnicko]. Třebíč: Muzeum Vysočiny Třebíč; Brno: Etnologický ústav AV ČR, Praha – pracoviště Brno.
- Toncrová, M. 2013b. Od variability k tvorbě: ke vzniku nových lidových písní na Moravě a ve Slezsku ve druhé polovině 20. století [From "variability to creativity: on the emergence of new folk songs in Moravia and Silesia in the second half of the 20th century]. In: Přibylová, I. – Uhlíková, L. (eds.): *Od folkloru k world music: Co patří do encyklopedie*. Náměšť nad Oslavou: Městské kulturní středisko: 31–42.
- Toncrová, M. Uhlíková, L. 2014. *Terénní výzkum etnokulturních tradic* [Field research into ethno-cultural traditions]. Brno: Etnologický ústav AV ČR, Praha pracoviště Brno.
- Toncrová, M. Smutná, S. (eds.). 2015. *Lidové písně z Podhorácka III. Tišnovsko a Bystřicko* [Folk songs from Podhorácko III. Tišnovsko and Bystřicko]. Třebíč: Muzeum Vysočiny Třebíč; Brno: Etnologický ústav AV ČR, Praha pracoviště Brno.
- Toncrová, Š. 2014. Praktická příručka k terénnímu výzkumu obecních a školních kronik. [A practical guide for field research into the municipal and school chronicles]. Brno: Etnologický ústav AV ČR, Praha – pracoviště Brno.
- Traxler, J. 1999. *Písně krátké Jana Jeníka rytíře z Bratřic I* [Short songs by Jan Jeník of Bratřice I]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Traxler, J. 2010. *Písně krátké Jana Jeníka rytíře z Bratřic II* [Short songs by Jan Jeník of Bratřice II]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Tuček, F. (et al.). 2013. Česká imigrační politika: stát se vyhledávanou čílovou zemí? [Czech immigration policy: to become a popular destination country?]. Background paper. Praha: Pracovní skupina Sociální a migrační politiku. http://www.evropskehodnoty.cz/wp-content/uploads/2013/03/Background-paper_Imigrace-1.pdf>. Accessed on 28 June 2015.
- Tureček, D. Tyllner, L. 2010. *Těžko temu kameni. Anna Kománková, zpěvačka z Javorníka na Horňácku* [Hard for the rock. Anna Kománková, a singer from Javorník in Horňácko region]. Publikace a CD. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Tyllner, L. 1968. *Úvod do studia lidové písně* [Introduction to the study of folk songs]. České Budějovice: Pedagogická fakulta.

- Tyllner, L. (ed.). 1995. *Thomas Anton Kunz Böhmische Nationalgesänge und Tänze*. I. Faksimile, II. Texty. Praha: Ústav pro etnografii a folkloristiku AV ČR.
- Tyllner, L. 1998. Frýdlantský rukopis z roku 1819 [Manuscript from Frýdlant city from 1819]. *Národopisná revue* 8: 211–212.
- Tyllner, L. 2001. *Dudy a dudácká muzika 1909* [Bagpipes and bagpipe music 1909]. Publikace (s Tomášem Spurným) a CD. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Tyllner, L. 2009. *Hab Sonne im Herzen. Erich Peukert poslední německý citerista v Jizerských horách* [Erich Peukert the last German zitherist in the Jizera Mountains]. Publikace a DVD. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Tyllner, L. 2010. *Tradiční hudba. Hledání kořenů* [Traditional music. Searching for the roots]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Tyllner, L. 2012. Jihočeské Vánoce vánoční písně, koledy, obyčeje a betlémy z jižních Čech, Vysočiny a Pošumaví [South-Bohemia Christmas. Songs, Christmas carols, customs and nativity scenes from the South Bohemia, the Highlands and the Bohemian Forest region]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR ve spolupráci s Novou tiskárnou Pelhřimov.
- Tyllner, L. (ed.). 2014a. *Velké dějiny zemí Koruny české. Tematická řada, Lidová kultura* [The Large history of the lands of the Bohemian Crown. Serie of themes, Folk culture] Praha: Paseka.
- Tyllner, L. 2012, 2014b. *Jihočeské Vánoce* [Christmas in Southern Bohemia region]. Publikace a CD. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Tyllner, L. Traxler, J. Thořová, V. 2015. *Průvodce po pramenech lidových písní, hudby a tanců v Čechách* [A guide to sources of folk songs, music and dances in the Czech lands]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Uherek, Z. Valášková, N. Brouček, S. 1997. Češi z Běloruska [Czechs from Belarus]. Český lid 84, 3: 177–190.
- Uherek, Z. (et al.). 2003a. Výzkumné zprávy a studie vytvořené na pracovištích Akademie věd České republiky na základě usnesení vlády České republiky č. 1266/2000 a 1260/2001 [Research reports and studies produced in the Czech Academy of Sciences on the basis of Resolution of the Government of the Czech Republic No. 1266/2000 and 1260/2001]. Praha: Akademie věd České republiky.
- Uherek, Z. Valášková, N. Kužel, S. Dymeš, P. 2003b. Češi z Kazachstánu a jejich přesídlení do České republiky [Czechs from Kazakhstan and their resettlement in the Czech Republic]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.

- Uherek, Z. 2004. Use of social science research on migration policy in the Czech Republic. *International Social Science Journal* 179: 101–113.
- Uherek, Z. (et al.). 2005 Integrace azylantů a efektivita Státního integračního programu. Výzkumná zpráva pro Ministerstvo vnitra České republiky, Odbor azylové a migrační politiky [Adjustment of the recognized refugees and efficiency of the state integration programme]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Uherek, Z. (et al.). 2006a. *Kultura, společnost, tradice II* [Culture, society, tradition II]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Uherek, Z. Valášková, N. 2006b. Řízené migrace po roce 1989 [Managed migration after 1989]. In: Uherek, Z. (ed.): *Kultura společnost, tradice II*. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR: 169–202.
- Uherek, Z. (et al.). 2008a. *Cizinecké komunity z antropologické perspektivy* [Foreign communities from an anthropological perspective]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Uherek, Z. Korecká, Z. Pojarová, T. (et al.). 2008b. *Cizinecké komunity z antropologické perspektivy: vybrané případy významných imigračních skupin v České republice* [Communities of foreigners from the anthropological perspective: Selected cases of the significant immigration groups to the Czech Republic]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Uherek, Z. 2010. Migration in the Czech Republic: A Source of Social Diversity and Formation of New Social Networks in the Urban Environment. In: Jansens, M. (et al.): *The Sustainability of Cultural Diversity. Nations, Cities and Organizations*. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar: 245–257.
- Uherek, Z. 2011a. Češi v Bosně a Hercegovině. Antropologické pohledy na společenský život české menšiny v zahraničí [Czechs in Bosnia and Herzegovina. Anthropological views of the social life of the Czech minority abroad]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Uherek, Z. (et al.). 2011b. *Migration, diversity and their management*. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Uherek, Z. Beranská, V. Honusková, V. Jiráková, A. Šolcová, L. 2012 Analýza státního integračního programu pro azylanty [Analysis of the national integration program for refugees]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Uherek, Z. Beranská, V. (et al.). 2014. Analýza uživatelů a užívání městského veřejného prostoru hl. m. Prahy [Analysis of users and use of urban public

space in the capital city Prague]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR, a Otevřená společnost o.p.s.

- Uhlíková, L. 2006a. Dětské folklorní muziky na Moravě podmínky a charakter jejich vývoje. [Children folk music groups in Moravia – conditions and character of their development]. In: *Uhlíková, L. – Ondrušová, V. (eds.): Na pomoc dětským folklorním souborům a muzikám (1)*. Strážnice: Národní ústav lidové kultury: 36–43.
- Uhlíková, L. 2006b. Obraz Žida ve folkloru problém metody a prezentace [An image of Jews in folklore: The problem of method and presentation.]. In: Krekovičová, E. – Pospíšilová, J. (eds.): *Od folklórneho textu ku kontextu*. Bratislava: Ústav etnológie SAV; Brno: Etnologický ústav AV ČR – pracoviště Brno: 70–75.
- Uhlíková, L. 2009a. Když se řekne tradice... Poznámky k vývoji instrumentální interpretace moravského hudebního folkloru ve 20. století [When one says tradition... Notes on the development of instrumental interpretation of Moravian music folklore in the 20th century]. In: Lukáčová, A. (ed.): *Folklorizmus a jeho fenomény včera a dnes. Zborník príspevkov z vedeckej konferencie*. Banská Bystrica: Stredoslovenském múzeum – Múzeum ľudového tanca: 68–75.
- Uhlíková, L. 2009b. Smutné počtení obraz žida v moravském folkloru [Such a sad read: An image of Jews in Moravian folklore]. In: Přibylová, I. – Uhlíková, L. (eds.): *Smích a pláč*. Náměšť nad Oslavou: Městské kulturní středisko: 15–24.
- Uhlíková, L. Pavlicová, M. 2011a. *Lidové písně a tance z Ratíškovic* [Folk songs and dances from Ratíškovice]. Ratíškovice: Obecní úřad; Brno: Etnologický ústav AV ČR, Praha pracoviště Brno.
- Uhlíková, L. Pavlicová, M. 2011b. Romantický obraz lidové kultury jako základ novodobého folklorismu [Romantic picture of folk culture as the basis for modern folklorism]. *Folia ethnographica* 45, 1: 3–16.
- Uhlíková, L. (et al.). 2011c. *Hudební a taneční folklor v ediční praxi. (Kultura společnost tradice IV)* [Music and dance folklore in editorial practice. (Culture society traditions IV)]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Uhlíková, L. 2012. Pravé perly písňové: edice českých lidových písní a rakouská cenzura [True song pearls: Editions of Czech folk songs and Austrian censorship]. In: Přibylová, I. Uhlíková, L. (eds): *Od folkloru k world music: Hudba a bariéry*. Náměšť nad Oslavou: Městské kulturní středisko: 18–27.

- Uhlíková, L. Pavlicová, M. 2013. Folklor jako součást nehmotného kulturního dědictví: kam s ním? [Folklore as a part of intangibleculturalheritage: Where to placeit?]. In: Přibylová, I. Uhlíková, L. (eds.): Od folkloru k world music: Co patří do encyklopedie. Náměšť nad Oslavou: Městské kulturní středisko: 9–21.
- Uhlíková, L. Pavlicová, M. 2014. Folklore Traditions in Contemporary Everyday Life: Between Continuity and (Re)construction (based on two examples from the Czech Republic). *Slovenský národopis* 62, 2: 163–181.
- Uhlíková, L. 2015a. Duch a povaha národa v písni. Idealizovaný obraz lidové písně v tištěných sbírkách první poloviny 19. století [The spirit and character of the nation in songs. An idealized image of folk songs in the printed collections of the early 19th century]. In: *V obecném zájmu: Cenzura a sociální regulace literatury v moderní české kultuře 1749–2014*. Praha: Academia: 333–344.
- Uhlíková, L. 2015b. Mužské folklorní sbory na Slovácku a nová písňová tvorba (příspěvek k výzkumu proměn tradice v současnosti) [Male folk choirs in Moravian Slovakia and the new song composition (contribution to research changes the tradition now)]. *Folia ethnographica* 49, 2: 37–53.
- Vachulová, K. (ed.). 2001. Zpráva o zahraniční politice České republiky za období od ledna 2000 do prosince 2000 [Report on foreign policy of the Czech Republic for the period from January 2000 to December 2000]. Praha: Ministerstvo zahraničních věcí.
- Valášková, N. Uherek, Z. Brouček, S. 1997. Aliens or one's own people: Czech immigrants from Ukraine in the Czech Republic. Praha: Institute of Ethnology of the Czech Academy of Sciences.
- Válka, M. 2006. Almanach k 60. výročí Ústavu evropské etnologie Filozofické fakulty Masarykovy univerzity [Almanac at the occasion of the 60th anniversary of the Institute of European Ethnology, Faculty of Arts, Masaryk University]. Brno: Masarykova univerzita.
- Vařeka, J. 1978. Etnografický atlas jeho úkoly a cíle [Ethnographic atlas its tasks and goals]. In: *Etnografický atlas 1*. Praha: Ústav pro etnografii a folkloristiku ČSAV: 13–38.
- Vařeka, J. 1991. Etnokartografické studium v českých zemích a otázka realizace národopisného atlasu [Ethnocartography in the Czech lands and the question of realisation of an ethnographic atlas]. *Český lid* 78: 123–125.

- Vařeka, J. 1996. Etnokartografická východiska k začlenění české lidové kultury do středoevropského prostoru [Ethnocartographical basis for the inclusion of Czech folk culture into the Central-European area]. Český lid 83: 265–274.
- Vařeka, J. 2005. *Anglicko-česká / česko-anglická terminologie lidové architektury* [Terms used in the vernacular architecture of England with some Welsh and Scotch]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Vařeka, J. 2007a. Recenze jedné recenze [A review of a review] *Ethnologia Europae Centralis* 8: 135–137.
- Vařeka, J. Frolec, V. 2007b. *Lidová Architektura. Encyklopedie* [Vernacular architecture. Encyclopedia] Praha: Grada Publishing.
- Večerková, E. Frolcová, V. 2010. *Evropské vánoce v tradicích lidové kultury*. [European Christmas in the traditions of folk culture] Praha: Vyšehrad.
- Vejvoda, Z. 2004. Nápěvy písní k tanci "do kolečka" analýza a hudební typ [Tunes of songs to dance "in circles" – an analysis of a musical type]. Český *lid* 91: 153–203.
- Vejvoda, Z. 2008. Staropacký kantor Jiří Hartl (1781–1849) [Schoolmaster Jiří Hartl from Stará Paka (1781–1849)]. In: *Miscellanea z výročních konferencí* České společnosti pro hudební vědu 2006 a 2007. Praha: Agora: 194–202.
- Vejvoda, Z. 2011a. Plzeňsko v lidové písni. Antologie historických zápisů hudebního folkloru 19. a 20. století [The Pilsen region in folk songs. An Anthology of historical records of musical folklore from the 19th and 20th centuries]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR ; Folklorní sdružení ČR.
- Vejvoda, Z. Ulrychová, M. Traxler, J. 2011b, 2015. *Plzeňsko v lidové písni I, II* [The Pilsen region in folk songs I, II]. Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Vlček, A. 1992. Významné doplňky ke guberniální sběratelské akci v Čechách roku 1819 [Significant additions to the Gubernatorial collecting event in the Czech Republic in 1819]. *Acta musealia* 2, 2/A: 1–6.
- Vojtěch, I. (ed.). 2006. František Hrabal. V kontextu tvorby [František Hrabal. In the context of the creation]. In: Vojtěch, I. Morazzoni, A. M. Schönberg, N. N. (eds.): Arnold Schönber: Stille herrschen, Gedanken siegen. Ausgewählte Schriften. Mainz: Schott.
- Vojtěch, I. Morazzoni, A. M. Schönberg, N. N. (eds.) 2007. *Arnold Schönber: Stille herrschen, Gedanken siegen.* Ausgewählte Schriften. Mainz: Schott.
- Vojtěch, I. Stephan, R. Kwasny, R. Krämer, U. (eds.). 2009. *Arnold Schönberg: Orchesterfragmente*. Mainz: Schott; Wien: Universal Edition.

- Volek, T. 1997. České zámecké kapely 18. století a evropský hudební kontext [Czech chateau music ensembles of the 18th century in European context]. *Hudební věda* 34: 404–410.
- Vozková, J. 2007. Knihovna Kabinetu hudební historie Etnologického ústavu Akademie věd České republiky. *Knihovna plus [online]* 3, 1–2, nestr. Dostupné z: <http://knihovna.nkp.cz/knihovnaplus71/vozkova.htm>, přístup 18-05-2015.
- Vozková, J. 2009. Knihovna Kabinetu hudební historie se opět otevřela veřejnosti [Library of the Department of Music History once again opened to the public]. *Akademický bulletin* 17, 6: 10–11.
- Woitsch, J. Kučerová, K. 2005. Soupis židovských rodin v Čechách z roku 1793. Možnosti a limity etnokartografické analýzy [The 1793 Bohemian census of Jewish families: Possibilities and limits of an ethno-cartographical analysis]. Český lid 92: 155–173.
- Woitsch, J. 2008. Kulturní dědictví tradiční vesnice [Cultural heritage of traditional village]. In: Foltýn, D. (ed.): Prameny paměti. Sedm kapitol o kulturním dědictví pro potřeby výchovné praxe. Praha: Pedagogická fakulta UK: 135–189.
- Woitsch, J. 2009. Charcoal Makers in Bohemia: From Privileged Craftsmen to Strange Forest Dwellers. In: Saratsi, E. – Bürgi, M. – Johann, E. – Kirby, K. – Watkins, C. (eds.): Woodland Cultures in Time and Space tales from the past, messages for the future. Athens: Embryo Publications: 80–88.
- Woitsch, J. 2010a. Dějiny lesa a lesnictví variabilita přístupů a současné hlavní badatelské směry [Forest history and history of forestry variability of approaches and main contemporary research trends]. *Hospodářské dějiny Economic History* 25: 199–226.
- Woitsch, J. 2010b. Lesní řemesla v raném novověku: koncept [Forest crafts and industries in the early Modern period: a concept]. Český lid 97: 337–360.
- Woitsch, J. 2011. Lesní řemesla a vývoj technologie chemického zpracování dřeva v raném novověku [Forest crafts and the development of chemical wood processing technology in the early modern period]. *Dějiny věd a techniky* 44: 165–181.
- Woitsch, J. 2012a. Ethnographic atlas of Bohemia, Moravia and Silesia in the new millennium: Using historical sources and GIS. *Acta Ethnographica Hungarica* 57: 41–53.

- Woitsch, J. 2012b. Etnografický atlas Čech, Moravy a Slezska: Stav a perspektivy výzkumu [Ethnographic atlas of Bohemia, Moravia and Silesia: State and perspectives of research]. *Český lid* 99: 67–83.
- Woitsch, J. 2012c. Kam zmizela etnografie dělnictva/Wohin verschwand die Ethnographie der Arbeiterschaft? [Where did the ethnography of working classes disappear?]. Český časopis historický 110: 692–727.
- Woitsch, J. 2013a. Český lid a příbuzné vědecké časopisy v 19.–21. století [Český lid and related scientific journals from the 19th to the 21st century]. *Český lid* 100: 121–127.
- Woitsch, J. 2013b. Sto ročníků Českého lidu v osobách a poselstvích vedoucích redaktorů [One hundred volumes of the Český Lid Journal in personalities and visions of its editors-in-chief]. *Český lid* 100: 63–98.
- Zender, M. 1980. Forschungen zum ethnologischen Atlas Europas und seiner Nachbarländer. Bd. I: Die Termine der Jahresfeuer in Europa. Göttingen: Schwanz.
- Zobačová, A. (ed.). 2004. *Počítačové zpracování osobního fondu a knihovny prof. Oldřicha Sirovátky, DrSc.* [Computer processing of the personal collection and library of Prof Oldřich Sirovátka]. Brno [CD ROM 1,5 MB].
- Zobačová, A. 2005a. Regionální výzkumy Oldřicha Sirovátky [Regional surveys by Oldřich Sirovátka]. *Národopisný věstník* 22 (64): 187–198.
- Zobačová, A. 2005b. Sirovátkova pozůstalost pohledem archivářky [Sirovátka estate through the eyes of an Archivist]. In: Pospíšilová, J. – Krekovičová, E.: *Od pohádky k fámě: sborník příspěvků Hledání cest české slovesné folkloristiky II.* Praha: Etnologický ústav AV ČR; Bratislava: Ústav etnológie SAV: 126–129.
- Zobačová, A. 2008. Oldřich Sirovátka a slovenská folkloristika v 70. a 80. letech 20. století [Oldřich Sirovátka and Slovak folklore in the 1970s and 1980s.]. *Etnologické rozpravy* 15, 2: 90–109.
- Zobačová, A. 2009a. Josef a Vladimír Úlehlovi mezi pedagogikou, biologií a národopisem [Josef and Vladimír Úlehla – between pedagogy, biology and ethnography]. *Národopisný věstník* 26, (68), 1: 135–157.
- Zobačová, A. 2009b. S Karlem Fojtíkem po stopách dělnického bydlení v Brně (věnováno dvěma výročím významného etnografa) [With Karel Fojtík in the footsteps of workers' housing in Brno (devoted to two significant anniversaries of the famous ethnographer)]. *Brno v minulosti a dnes 22:* 321–339.

Zobačová, A. 2010. Luhačovické Zálesí objektivem Karla Fojtíka [Luhačovice Backwoods through the lens of Karel Fojtík]. In: *Antonín Václavík (1891– 1959) a evropská etnologie. Kontexty doby a díla*. Brno: 103–112; 199.

Films

- Kosíková, J. 2007. *Daj bože što je dobro* [God give us what is good]. Brno: Etnologický ústav AV ČR pracoviště Brno.
- Kosíková, J. 2008. Češko Selo [Czech Selo]. Brno: Etnologický ústav AV ČR pracoviště Brno.
- Kosíková, J. 2010. *Moje války. Věra Fialová (*1918)* [My wars. Věra Fialová (*1918)]. Brno: Etnologický ústav AV ČR pracoviště Brno.
- Pavlásek, M. Kosíková, J. 2012. Pod tíhou hroznů čas se sklání. Češi a Němci v srbském Banátu [Time bows beneath the burden of the grapes. Czechs and Germans in the Serbian Banat]. Brno: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.
- Kosíková, J. 2013a. *Stoleté vzpomínky. Jan Nitka (*1906)* [A hundred years of memories. Jan Nitka (*1906)]. Brno: Etnologický ústav AV ČR pracoviště Brno.
- Kosíková, J. 2013b. Stoleté vzpomínky. Anežka Zatloukalová (*1908) [A hundred years of memories. Anežka Zatloukalová (*1908)]. Brno: Etnologický ústav AV ČR pracoviště Brno.
- Pavlásek, M. 2013c. *Druhé Vojvodovo: myslet obrazem* [Another Vojvodovo: thinking in pictures]. Brno: Etnologický ústav AV ČR.

Journals published by the Institute of Ethnology

Český lid / Etnologický časopis [Český lid / Ethnological Journal] (ISSN 0009-0794)

Journal was founded in 1891. It is a prestigious platform for different methods and themes in ethnology. Between 2005 and 2015, it reflected exactly the condition and paradigmatic evolution of ethnology and related disciplines in the Czech Republic and Europe, both in published studies and in a large review and information section. The journal covered a varied spectrum of specializations beginning with traditional ethnography, literary, music and dance folkloristics, ethnomusicology, historical ethnology, historical anthropology, archaeology and linguistics up to the studies of European ethnology and cultural/social anthropology.

In 2005, Jiří Woitsch, the new editor-in-chief, and Kateřina Sedlická, the editor in charge, took over the journal, the old editorial board was reconstructed and an International Advisory Board was established. Since that time, the journal has paid more attention to theoretical texts and European-wide themes whereby more and more researchers from neighbouring countries have published their contributions in the journal. After 2010, approx. one half of the journal content has been published in major European languages and approx. 1/3 of the authors are foreign contributors.

Český lid was included into several prestigious evaluation and full-text databases. This helped the journal to become internationally anchored and to raise its prestige, global availability and citations. Among others, the journal has been a part of the Scopus database since 2009, the ERIH and ERIH PLUS database since 2007; between 2001 and 2014 the journal was inscribed in the Web of Science database / Journal Citation Reports – Social Science Edition and had its own impact factor. Complete texts from the journal are found on the EBSCO host portals and since 2014 on the JSTOR portal as well. The journal is published four times a year in an edition of 500 copies per issue. Due to the authors' interest to publish their contributions in the journal, the volume has been increased to 512 pages in B5 format. Contributions are accepted in Czech, Slovak and major European languages with English as a preferred language. Scientific studies (Articles) always constitute the major part of the journal's

content; each issue includes reports from scientific conferences, seminars and exhibitions (News) and a review section (Reviews). Discussions and interviews appear occasionally. All studies undergo a strict review proceedings which is anonymous on both sides.

Jiří Woitsch

HISTORICKÁ DEMOGRAFIE [HISTORICAL DEMOGRAPHY] (ISSN 0323-0937)

Journal was founded in 1967; since 2009 it has been published by the Institute of Ethnology. Historical Demography publishes empirical and theoretical studies from historical demography and population studies, literature reviews and bibliographies of Czech historical demography, reports from conferences about development in population history, etc. The journal is aimed at Czech and European lands. After the journal became a part of the Institute of Ethnology portfolio, the themes of this internationally renowned periodical were extended by studies concerning paradigmatic impulses of the ethnological and anthropological study of family and kinship. The journal is published twice a year and it is managed by an international editorial board. Eduard Maur is its editor-in-chief, Ludmila Fialová and Jiří Woitsch are executive editors. Since 2011, the journal has been included into the prestigious Scopus database.

Jiří Woitsch

HUDEBNÍ VĚDA [MUSICOLOGY] (ISSN 0018-7003)

The academic quarterly Hudební věda is one of the Czech Republic's foremost musicological journals, with a good international reputation and more than fifty years of publication. The first issue of the journal was published in 1964 by the Institute of Musicology at the Czechoslovakian Academy of Sciences in Prague. Since 1993 it has been published by the Institute of Musicology at the Czech Academy of Sciences, which, as the Department of Music History, became part of the Institute of Ethnology in 2003.

The journal focuses on original studies in musicology by Czech and international scholars, especially the history and presence of music culture in Czech lands, taking international contexts into account. The review section regularly reflects Czech musicological book production, and highlights important international musicological publications in a digest. Czech and international conferences and seminars are regularly listed, and the last issue of every year includes a bibliographical list of musicological publications from the previous year. Ondřej Maňour is an editor-in-chief and Jan Pirner an executive editor of the whole journal, and Václav Kapsa an editor of its review section.

The journal's issues are multilingual. In addition to Czech, frequent languages in Hudební věda include Slovak, English, German and French. Each study contains an abstract and a resume in a foreign language. The journal is included in international indexes and databases such as the Central European Journal of Social Sciences and Humanities, European Reference Index for the Humanities, International Index to Music Periodicals, Music Index, RILM Abstracts of Music Literature, SCOPUS, Web of Science. The international and local editorial Board contributes to deepening disciplinary and interdisciplinary relationships and to maintaining the journal's high academic level.

Jan Pirner

Ethnology and Musicology at the Institute of Ethnology, CAS, v. v. i. 110 Years (1905 – 2015)

Authors:

Stanislav Brouček, Barbora Gergelová, Milada Jonášová, Jan Kachlík, Václav Kapsa, Pavel Kordík, Matěj Kratochvíl, Jan Pirner, Jana Pospíšilová, Jarmila Procházková, Tomáš Slavický, Daniela Stavělová, Vendula Škrabalová, Lubomír Tyllner, Zdeněk Uherek, Jana Vozková, Andrea Zobačová, Jiří Woitsch Edited by Zdeněk Uherek & Jana Pospíšilová

Reviewers: Prof. PhDr. Ján Botík, DrSc., Prof. PhDr. et MgA. Miloš Štědroň, CSc., doc. PhDr. Miroslav Válka, Ph.D.

Translated: Zdeňka Šafaříková, Sean Miller, Jakub Michl, Isabella Shaw Technical cooperation: Vendula Škrabalová Book cover: Studio Houf Printed: Papír a tisk, s. r. o., Brno, Čechyňská 18, 602 00 Brno Published: Institute of Ethnology, CAS Prague, v. v. i., Na Florenci 3, 110 00 Praha 1 Praha – Brno 2015

168 pages 1st edition www.eu.cas.cz

ISBN 978-80-87112-98-4 (Etnologický ústav AV ČR. Praha)

The book has been created with support for the longitudinal development of the research institution RVO: 68378076. Especially we are grateful for support from resources of the Czech Academy of Sciences.